

#### COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS EXECUTIVE OFFICE OF ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL AFFAIRS

#### DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY RESOURCES

100 CAMBRIDGE ST., 9<sup>th</sup> FLOOR BOSTON, MA 02114 Telephone: 617-626-7300

Maura T. Healey Governor

Rebecca L. Tepper Secretary

Kimberley Driscoll Lt. Governor Elizabeth Mahony Commissioner

May 2, 2023

Mark D. Marini, Secretary Department of Public Utilities One South Station, 5<sup>th</sup> Floor Boston, MA 02110

Re: <u>Long-Term Contracts for Offshore Wind Energy Generation Pursuant to Section 83C of</u> Chapter 169 of the Acts of 2008 – D.P.U. 23-42

Dear Secretary Marini:

The Massachusetts Department of Energy Resources (DOER) in coordination with Fitchburg Gas and Electric Light Company d/b/a Unitil (Unitil), Massachusetts Electric Company and Nantucket Electric Company, each d/b/a National Grid (National Grid), NSTAR Electric Company d/b/a Eversource Energy (Eversource), (collectively, Distribution Companies), jointly request the Department of Public Utilities (Department) approve the attached request for proposals (RFP) to solicit and enter into cost-effective Long-Term Contracts for Offshore Wind Energy Generation and associated Renewable Energy Certificates (RECs), pursuant to Section 83C of Chapter 169 of the Acts of 2008 et seq., as amended by the Energy Diversity Act and the Act Driving Clean Energy and Offshore Wind (Section 83C). The RFP seeks to procure at least 400 MW and up to the maximum amount remaining of the statutory requirement of 5,600 MW of offshore wind energy generation under Section 83C, subject to the provisions hereof, and taking into account offshore wind energy generation under contract at the time when proposals are due, in any event not to exceed 3,600 MW. Bidders are allowed to offer proposals of at least 200 MW, and up to 2,400 MW, of offshore wind energy generation. The DOER, in consultation with the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Long Term Contracts for Energy and RECs, and for RECs only, will include rights to all associated Environmental Attributes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> St. 2016, c. 188, s. 12 amended St. 2008, c. 169, s. 83. This section was later supplemented by St. 2018, c. 227, s. 21(a), and amended by St. 2021, c. 24, s. 69 and St. 2022, c. 179, s. 60-61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The statutory requirement is a total of 5,600 MW of Offshore Wind Energy Generation and the Distribution Companies have each entered into contracts and received final Regulatory Approval for their load-ratio share of approximately 2,000 MW of Offshore Wind Energy Generation, with another 1,200 MW of Offshore Wind Energy Generation pending resolution of an appeal.

Independent Evaluator (IE) (collectively, the Selection Team) may select any cost-effective project or portfolio of projects that meet the criteria outlined in the RFP; however, the Selection Team is not obligated to select any specific amount.

This is the fourth solicitation pursuant to Section 83C and is part of a staggered procurement schedule developed by the DOER, in coordination with the Distribution Companies, in accordance with the authority granted to DOER under Section 61 of Chapter 179 of the Acts of 2022 to require the Distribution Companies to jointly and competitively conduct offshore wind generation solicitations and procurements to ensure that the Distribution Companies jointly solicit and enter into cost-effective contracts for offshore wind energy generation equal to approximately 5,600 MW of aggregate nameplate capacity no later than June 30, 2027.

In furtherance of the requirements of Section 83C, the DOER, in coordination with the Distribution Companies, and in consultation with the Massachusetts Attorney General's Office (AGO) and IE, have developed this new RFP, a copy of which is submitted herewith as Attachment A. The RFP encompasses the timetable and method for solicitation of offshore wind energy generation in accordance with Section 83C. The RFP satisfies the requirements of Section 83C and will assist the Commonwealth with meeting its Global Warming Solution Act (GWSA) limits and sublimits. Section 83C requires: (1) the Distribution Companies, in coordination with DOER, to solicit proposals for offshore wind energy generation; and (2) provided that reasonable proposals have been received, the Distribution Companies shall enter into cost-effective long-term contracts for offshore wind energy generation. The standards and criteria set forth in this RFP are designed so that the proposals selected for contract negotiations will serve the interests of Section 83C by facilitating financing and being cost-effective to the Commonwealth's ratepayers over the terms of the contracts.

An evaluation team consisting of the DOER, the Distribution Companies, the Executive Office of Housing and Economic Development (EOHED) and the IE (the Evaluation Team) will evaluate proposals received from this solicitation. Specifically, proposals received will be subject to review by DOER and EOHED in consultation with the IE, and the Distribution Companies shall offer technical advice. The Distribution Companies may jointly negotiate contracts, and the DOER will have the opportunity to monitor contract negotiations between the Distribution Companies and selected bidder(s).<sup>5</sup> Further, each Distribution Company intends to enter into a contract with the winning bidder(s) for its apportioned share of the energy and/or RECs being purchased from the bidder's project. The Distribution Companies may request approval from the Department of their respective contracts jointly or individually.

The expectation of the DOER and the Distribution Companies is that the Department's approval of the RFP will promote the transparency, consistency, and objectivity of the solicitation process. This will, in turn, greatly facilitate the Department's review of any subsequent individual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In addition, on February 10, 2023, the DOER issued a request for stakeholder comment regarding development of the RFP. All comments provided in response to DOER's request were posted publicly and may be accessed at: <a href="https://macleanenergy.com/83c-iv/">https://macleanenergy.com/83c-iv/</a>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> A pro-forma contract will be posted to the <a href="https://macleanenergy.com/83c-iv">https://macleanenergy.com/83c-iv</a> website for review by stakeholders following the submission of this filing to the Department. It is not being submitted to the Department for formal approval, consistent with the Department's orders in D.P.U. 09-77, at 23-24, and D.P.U. 17-32, at 42.

contracts with the selected bidder(s) so that those contracts may be approved in an efficient and timely manner in furtherance of the objectives of Section 83C.

#### <u>Independent Evaluator</u>

As required by Section 83C, the DOER and the AGO have jointly selected, and the DOER has contracted with, an IE to monitor and report on the solicitation and bid selection process. The IE will do so to assist the DOER in determining whether a proposal is reasonable, and to assist the Department in its consideration of the Long-Term Contracts filed for approval.

In an effort to ensure an open, fair and transparent solicitation and bid selection process that is not unduly influenced by an affiliated company, Section 83C requires the IE:

- (1) To issue a report to the Department analyzing the timetable and method of solicitation and the solicitation process implemented by the Distribution Companies and the DOER, and include recommendations, if any, for improving the process; and
- (2) Upon the Department's review of a proposed long-term contract, to file a report with the Department summarizing and analyzing the solicitation and bid selection process, and providing the IE's assessment of whether all bids were evaluated in a fair and non-discriminatory manner.

To perform this role, the IE will have access to all information and data related to the solicitation and bid selection process, including any confidential information provided by bidders. The Department has the discretion to consider the IE's findings and may adopt its recommendations as a condition for approval. However, if the IE concludes in its findings that the solicitation and bid selection of a contract was not fair and objective, and that the process was substantially prejudiced as a result, the Department shall reject the contract per Section 83C.<sup>6</sup>

#### Overview of the Procurement Process

The Evaluation Team, with the assistance of an Evaluation Team Consultant, will receive the proposals, including confidential materials, and conduct an evaluation of the proposals.

Eversource and National Grid have executed Standards of Conduct documents attached to the RFP as Appendix F-1 and F-2. Under these Standards of Conduct, discussion of this RFP and any bid proposed in response thereto between personnel participating on the Distribution

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> DOER, at its discretion, may request the IE to monitor contract negotiations between the Distribution Companies and the winning bidder(s).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Non-refundable bid fees are used to offset the costs related to the evaluation of proposals and oversight of the Independent Evaluator. D.P.U. 19-45, at 58 (2019). For Round 4, the DOER and the EDCs have developed a bid fee remittance protocol for funding such costs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Unitil does not have an affiliate that may bid in response to the RFP and therefore has not executed a Standard of Conduct. If there becomes a prospect that a Unitil affiliate will be a bidder, Unitil will execute a Standard of Conduct.

Company's Evaluation Team and personnel involved in the preparation of a proposal in response to this RFP on behalf of a Distribution Company affiliate is prohibited, other than as part of the discussions that are conducted as part of the RFP process (*e.g.*, bidder conferences or formal bidder Q&A), in accordance with the Standards of Conduct.

The Evaluation Team will consider the evaluation results and project rankings to determine projects to be considered for selection.

The Distribution Companies will be responsible for negotiation and execution of any final long-term contracts. The DOER will have the opportunity to monitor contract negotiations between the Distribution Companies and the selected bidders.

The procurement process has three stages of evaluation, as described in further detail in Section 2 of the RFP. In Stage One, proposals will be reviewed to ensure that they meet eligibility and threshold requirements. In Stage Two, proposals will be evaluated based on specified quantitative and qualitative criteria. In Stage Three, the Evaluation Team will conduct further evaluation of remaining proposals based on the Stage Two quantitative and qualitative evaluation criteria and additional factors at their discretion, to identify viable projects that provide cost-effective, reliable offshore wind energy generation with limited risk.

#### Solicitation Method

The DOER and the Distribution Companies will conduct this solicitation. Proposals received will be subject to review by the Evaluation Team. Responses to this RFP must be submitted contemporaneously to the entire Evaluation Team for joint evaluation consistent with the terms of the RFP. Proposals must be submitted in accordance with Section 1.7 of the RFP.

The Selection Team shall issue a final, binding determination of the winning bid or bids; provided, however, that the final executed contracts shall be subject to review by the Department. Following completion of Stage Three of the evaluation and prior to the Selection Team making a selection decision, the Distribution Companies shall indicate their preferences for project selection(s), including their reasoning, to the Selection Team. The Distribution Companies expect to coordinate their negotiation of the contracts and to jointly file the executed long-term contracts with the Department for approval prior to the long-term contracts becoming effective. The form Purchase Power Agreements (PPAs) may vary somewhat to accommodate the contracting requirements that are specific to each Distribution Company.

#### Solicitation Timetable

If the Department approves the method and timetable for solicitation and execution of the long-term contracts, as encompassed within the RFP, the Distribution Companies and the DOER will promptly issue the RFP to a wide range of potentially interested parties and post the RFP publicly on the <u>macleanenergy.com</u> website. As set forth in Section 3.2 of the RFP, a bidders' conference will be held approximately two weeks after the RFP is issued. Potential bidders will then have the opportunity to submit written questions regarding the RFP with responses posted to the MACleanEnergy.com website. <u>See</u> RFP, § 3.2.

Section 3.1 of the proposed RFP lists additional timeframes, as follows:

| Event  | <b>Anticipated Dates</b> |
|--|--------------------------|
| Issue RFP  | xxx <sup>9</sup> , 2023  |
| Bidders Conference   | TBD                      |
| Deadline for Submission of Questions                         | TBD                      |
| Due Date for Submission of Confidential and Public Proposals | January 31, 2024         |
| Selection of Projects/Commence Negotiations                  | June 12, 2024            |
| Execute Long Term Contracts and MOU with DOER                | August 14, 2024          |
| Submit Long Term Contracts for Department<br>Approval        | September 18, 2024       |

This schedule sets out a fair process for bidders and sufficient opportunity for: (1) bid evaluation; (2) negotiation of cost-effective contracts that satisfy the criteria under Section 83C; and (3) submission of the resulting contract(s) to the Department for approval. Once the Department issues an order approving a Distribution Company's request for approval of an executed long-term contract(s) under Section 83C, the Distribution Companies shall notify the bidder(s). Each Distribution Company shall have the opportunity to terminate the long-term contract(s) if the Department's approval contains terms or conditions that are deemed to be unsatisfactory to the Distribution Company, in its sole discretion. See RFP, § 2.7.1.

DOER and the Distribution Companies respectfully request that the Department approve the timetable and method of solicitation contained in the proposed RFP. Upon the Department's approval, the DOER expects the Distribution Companies to issue the RFP as described above. The proposed RFP is the critical next step towards the procurement of cost-effective long-term contracts for offshore wind energy generation necessary to enable the Commonwealth to satisfy the important policy directives encompassed in Section 83C and to assist in achieving its GWSA limits.

Thank you for your attention to this matter. Please contact any of the following signatories if you have any questions regarding this filing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> This date will be after the issuance by the Department of a final Order approving the RFP and will be determined at the discretion of the RFP Drafting Parties.

Filing Letter for Section 83C Request for Proposals May 2, 2023 Page 6 of 7

Respectfully submitted,

#### **DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY RESOURCES**

By its attorneys,

Robert Hoaglund, Esq.

Ch P. Could

Ben Dobbs, Esq.

Colin Carroll, Esq.

100 Cambridge Street

Boston, MA

#### **DISTRIBUTION COMPANIES:**

# MASSACHUSETTS ELECTRIC COMPANY AND NANTUCKET ELECTRIC COMPANY, each d/b/a NATIONAL GRID

By their attorneys,

John K. Halih

John K. Habib, Esq.

Michael B. Hershberg, Esq.

Tiffany Tisler, Esq.

Keegan Werlin LLP

99 High Street Suite 2900

and

Boston, MA 02110

(617) 951-1400

Laura Bickel, Esq.

Senior Counsel

170 Data Drive

Waltham, MA 02451

(781) 999-3396

Filing Letter for Section 83C Request for Proposals May 2, 2023 Page 7 of 7

## NSTAR ELECTRIC COMPANY d/b/a EVERSOURCE ENERGY

By its attorneys,

Danielle Winter, Esq.

Jessica Ralston, Esq.

Keegan Werlin LLP

99 High Street Suite 2900

Danie C. Wint

Boston, MA 02110

(617) 951-1400

#### FITCHBURG GAS AND ELECTRIC LIGHT COMPANY D/B/A UNITIL

By its attorney,

William D. Hewitt, Esq.

Hewitt & Hewitt

500 U.S. Route 1, Suite 107

Mr W. Duitt

Yarmouth, ME 04096

(207) 846-8600

#### **Enclosures**

cc: Jonathan Goldberg, Department of Public Utilities

Alice Davey, Department of Public Utilities

Matthew Saunders, Office of the Attorney General

John Dalton, Independent Evaluator

### Attachment A

# REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR

# LONG-TERM CONTRACTS FOR OFFSHORE WIND ENERGY PROJECTS

Issuance Date: TBD

### **Distribution Companies:**

Fitchburg Gas & Electric Light Company d/b/a Unitil Massachusetts Electric Company and Nantucket Electric Company, each d/b/a National Grid NSTAR Electric Company d/b/a Eversource Energy

**Massachusetts Department of Energy Resources** 

#### **Table of Contents**

| Definiti | ions  | 6  |
|----------|---|----|
| 1. Int   | roduction and Overview  | 11 |
| 1.1      | Purpose of the Request for Proposal   | 11 |
| 1.1.1    | Coordination of Solicitation with Other States  | 12 |
| 1.2      | The Framework Established Pursuant to Section 83C   | 13 |
| 1.3      | Solicitation by Distribution Companies in Coordination with the Department of Ener<br>Resources                     |    |
| 1.4      | Overview of the Procurement Process   | 14 |
| 1.5      | Independent Evaluator   | 15 |
| 1.6      | Communications Between the Evaluation Team and Bidders and Filing Protocol  | 16 |
| 1.7      | Proposal Submission Deadline/ Proposal Effectiveness  | 16 |
| 1.7      | 7.1 Confidential Proposal Submission Deadline   | 16 |
| 1.7      | 7.2. Proposal Validity  | 16 |
| 1.7      | 7.3. Submission Requirements  | 16 |
| 1.7      | 7.3.1. Public Versions of Proposals   | 17 |
| 1.7      | 7.3.2. Confidential Versions of Proposals   | 17 |
| 1.7      | 7.4. Confidential Information   | 17 |
| 1.7      | 7.4.1. Confidential Information Sharing Authorization for ISO–NE and Certain Government Other Authorities Personnel |    |
| 1.7      | 7.5. Appendices   | 19 |
| 1.8      | Bidder Certification  | 20 |
| 1.9      | Changes or Cancellations  | 21 |
| 1.10     | Non-Refundable Bid Fees   | 21 |
| 2. Bio   | d Evaluation and Selection Criteria and Process   | 21 |
| 2.1      | Introduction/Overview of the Process  | 21 |
| 2.2      | Stage One   | 22 |
| 2.2      | 2.1 Eligibility, Threshold, and Other Minimum Requirements  | 22 |
|          | 2.2.1.1 Eligible Bidder   | 22 |
|          | 2.2.1.2 Eligible Proposal Size  | 22 |

| 2.2.1.3   | Eligible Bids  | 23          |
|-----------|--|-------------|
| 2.2.1.4   | Pricing Requirements; Conforming Forms of Pricing  | 25          |
| 2.2.1.5   | Alternative Indexed Pricing Option   | 27          |
| 2.2.1.6   | Bidder Disclosure of Affiliations and Affiliate Relationships  | 27          |
| 2.2.1.7   | Contract Term  | 28          |
| 2.2.1.8   | Capacity Requirements  | 28          |
| 2.2.1.9   | Interconnection and Delivery Requirements  | 29          |
| 2.2.1.10  | Optional Bids to Known Transmission Upgrades   | 32          |
| 2.2.1.11  | Deliverability Constraint Analysis   | 32          |
| 2.2.1.12  | Proposal Completeness: Bidder Response Forms, Form PPAs, Form Commitment Agreement, and Form MOU   | 33          |
| 2.2.1.13  | Bid Fees   | 33          |
| 2.2.2 Thi | reshold Requirements   | 33          |
| 2.2.2.1   | Site Control and Related Agreements  | 33          |
| 2.2.2.2   | Technical and Logistical Viability   | 35          |
| 2.2.2.3   | Ability to Finance the Proposed Project  | 35          |
| 2.2.2.4   | Bidder Experience  | 36          |
| 2.2.2.5   | Providing Enhanced Electricity Reliability within the Commonwealth   | 36          |
| 2.2.2.6   | Contribution to Reducing Winter Electricity Price Spikes   | 36          |
| 2.2.2.7   | Avoid Line Loss and Mitigating Transmission Costs to the Extent Possible and Ensur<br>that Transmission Cost Overruns, if any, are not Borne by Ratepayers | _           |
| 2.2.2.8   | Adequately Demonstrate Project Viability in a Commercially Reasonable Timeframe  | e <b>37</b> |
| 2.2.2.9   | Contribution to Employment; Economic Development Benefits  | 37          |
| 2.2.2.10  | Utilizing an Appropriate Tracking System to Account and Enable for GWSA Go   |             |
| 2.2.2.11  | Environmental and Fisheries Mitigation Plan  | 38          |
| 2.2.2.12  | Benefits to Environmental Justice Populations and Low-Income Ratepayers in the Commonwealth  | 38          |
| 2.2.2.13  | Diversity, Equity and Inclusion  | 38          |
| 2.2.2.14  | Security Requirements  | 39          |
| 2.2.2.15  | Unreasonable Balance Sheet Impacts   | 40          |
| 2.2.2.16  | Facilitate Financing of Offshore Wind Energy Generation  | 40          |

|                              | 2.3   | Stage               | Two—Quantitative and Qualitative Analysis                | 40 |
|------------------------------|-------|---------------------|--|----|
|                              | 2.2   | 2.3 Qu              | uantitative Evaluation                                   | 41 |
|                              |       | 2.2.3.1             | Direct Contract Costs & Benefits                         | 41 |
|                              |       | 2.2.3.2             | Other Costs & Benefits to Retail Consumers               | 41 |
|                              |       | 2.2.3.3             | Quantitative Evaluation Metrics                          | 42 |
|                              | 2.2   | 2.4 Qu              | ualitative Evaluation                                    | 42 |
|                              |       | Economi             | c Development and Project Impact Criteria (15 points)    | 43 |
|                              |       | 2.2.4.1             | Economic Benefits to the Commonwealth                    | 43 |
|                              |       | 2.2.4.2             | Low Income Ratepayers in the Commonwealth                | 44 |
|                              |       | 2.2.4.3             | Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Plan                    | 44 |
|                              |       | 2.2.4.4             | Environmental and Socioeconomic Impacts from Siting      | 45 |
|                              |       | Bidder E            | experience and Project Viability Criteria (15 points)    | 45 |
|                              |       | 2.2.4.5             | Experience and Track Record of the Bidder                | 46 |
|                              |       | 2.2.4.6             | Siting, Permitting, Project Schedule, and Financing Plan | 46 |
|                              |       | 2.2.4.7             | Firm Delivery & Energy Storage Benefits                  | 47 |
|                              |       | 2.2.4.8             | Reliability Benefits                                     | 47 |
|                              |       | 2.2.4.9             | Additional Long-Term Contracts with Third Parties        | 47 |
|                              |       | 2.2.4.10            | Benefits, Costs, and Contract Risk                       | 48 |
|                              | 2.4   | Stage               | Three  | 48 |
|                              | 2.5   | Contra              | acting/Tariff Process                                    | 49 |
|                              | 2.5.1 | Contra              | acts   | 49 |
|                              | 2.5.2 | MOU                 | with DOER and MassCEC                                    | 50 |
|                              | 2.6   | Contra              | act Negotiation Process                                  | 50 |
|                              | 2.7   | Regul               | atory Approval   | 50 |
|                              | 2.7.1 | DPU I               | Regulatory Process                                       | 51 |
|                              | 2.7.2 | FERC                |  | 51 |
| 3                            | . Ins | structions          | to Bidders   | 51 |
|                              | 3.1   | Sched               | ule for the RFP Process                                  | 51 |
|                              | 3.2   | Prospe              | ective Bidders Conference; Prospective Bidder Questions  | 52 |
| 3.3 Preparation of Proposals |       | ration of Proposals | 52   |    |
| 3.4 Organi                   |       | Organ               | ization of the Proposal                                  | 53 |

| 3.6     | Modification or Cancel                    | lation of the RFP and Solicitation Process           | 54  |  |
|---------|---|--|-----|--|
| 3.7     | 3.7 Requests for Additional Information54 |  |     |  |
| 3.8     |   |  |     |  |
| APPEN:  | DIX A: BIDDERS RESPON                     | SE PACKAGE   | 56  |  |
| APPEN   | DIX B - 1                                 |  | A43 |  |
| APPEN   | DIX B – 2                                 |  | A44 |  |
|         |   | I AND AUTHORIZATION                                  |     |  |
|         |   | Γ STATUTES   |     |  |
|         |   | S GREEN COMMUNITIES ACT SECTION 83C                  |     |  |
| A DDENI |   |  |     |  |
|         |   | INFORMATION WITH RESPECT TO MASSACHUSETTS            |     |  |
| APPEN:  | DIX F-1: STANDARD O                       | F CONDUCT – NATIONAL GRID                            | F3  |  |
| APPEN   | DIX F-2: STANDARD O                       | F CONDUCT – EVERSOURCE                               | F12 |  |
| APPEN   | DIX G: COMMITMENT                         | AGREEMENT  | 24  |  |
| APPEN   | DIX H: BID SUBMITTAL II                   | NSTRUCTIONS  | H1  |  |
| Append  | ix I: Deliverability Constra              | int Analysis   | I1  |  |
|         |   | ocioeconomic Impact Criteria                         |     |  |
|         |   | ed Phasing   |     |  |
|         |   | um of Understanding (MOU) with DOER and MassCEC      |     |  |
|         |   |  |     |  |
|         | APPENDICES                                |  |     |  |
|         | Appendix A                                | Bidders Response Package                             |     |  |
|         | Appendix B-1                              | Form of Power Purchase Agreement (National Grid)     |     |  |
|         | Appendix B-2                              | Form of Power Purchase Agreement (Eversource/Unitil) |     |  |
|         | Appendix C                                | Certification  |     |  |
|         | Appendix D                                | Procurement Statutes                                 |     |  |
|         | Appendix E                                | Confidential Information                             |     |  |
|         | Appendix F-1                              | Standard of Conduct – National Grid                  |     |  |
|         | Appendix F-2                              | Standard of Conduct – Eversource                     |     |  |
|         | Appendix G                                | Commitment Agreement                                 |     |  |
|         | Appendix H                                | Bid Submittal Instructions                           |     |  |
|         | Appendix I                                | Deliverability Constraint Analysis                   |     |  |
|         | Appendix J                                | Environmental and Socioeconomic Impact Criteria      |     |  |
|         | Appendix K                                | Explanation of Allowable Phasing                     | FC  |  |
|         | Appendix L                                | Form Memorandum of Understanding with DOER and MassC | ĿС  |  |

3.5

#### **Definitions**

- "Affiliated Company" means an affiliated company as defined in Section 85 of Chapter 164 of the Massachusetts General Laws. 1
- "Clean Peak Energy Certificate" (CPEC). A credit received for each megawatt hour of energy or energy reserves at NEPOOL GIS that is adjusted by applicable Clean Peak Energy Certificate Multipliers and provided during a Seasonal Peak Period that represents a compliance mechanism as defined in the regulations.
- "Clean Peak Standard" has the meaning as outlined in 225 CMR 21.00
- "Control Area" means a geographic region in which a common generation control system is used to maintain scheduled interchange of Energy within and outside the region.
- "BOEM" means the United States Bureau of Ocean Energy Management and includes its successors.
- "Coordination Announcement" shall mean a public announcement following RFP issuance but prior to the proposal submission deadline indicating if there are other New England state procurements with which DOER plans to coordinate regarding this solicitation.
- **"Deliver"** or "Delivery" shall mean with respect to (i) Energy, to supply Energy into Buyer's ISO-NE account at the Delivery Point in accordance with the terms of the Long-Term Contract and the ISO-NE Rules, and (ii) RECs, to supply RECs in accordance with the terms of the Long-Term Contracts and the ISO-NE Rules.
- "Department of Energy Resources" or "DOER" means the Massachusetts Department of Energy Resources established by Section 1 of Chapter 25A of the Massachusetts General Laws.<sup>2</sup>
- "Distribution Company" means a distribution company as defined in Section 1 of Chapter 164 of the Massachusetts General Laws.<sup>3</sup>
- "DPU" means the Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities.
- "Energy" means electric "energy," as such term is defined in the ISO-NE Tariff, generated by the Generation Unit as measured in MWh in Eastern Prevailing Time as metered at the delivery point, which quantity will never be less than zero.
- **"Energy Diversity Act"** means chapter 188 of the Acts of 2016, *An Act to Promote Energy Diversity*.

https://malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/PartI/TitleXXII/Chapter164/Section85.

https://malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/PartI/TitleII/Chapter25A/Section1.

https://malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/PartI/TitleXXII/Chapter164/Section1.

"Energy Storage System" means a commercially available technology that is paired with the proposed Offshore Wind Energy Generation facility and is capable of absorbing energy, storing it for a period of time and thereafter dispatching the energy and which may be owned by an electric distribution company; provided, however, that an Energy Storage System shall: (i) reduce the emission of greenhouse gases; (ii) reduce demand for peak electrical generation; (iii) defer or substitute for an investment in generation, transmission or distribution assets; or (iv) improve the reliable operation of the electrical transmission or distribution grid; and provided further, that an Energy Storage System shall: (1) use mechanical, chemical or thermal processes to store energy that was generated for use at a later time; (2) store thermal energy for direct heating or cooling use at a later time in a manner that avoids the need to use electricity at that later time; (3) use mechanical, chemical or thermal processes to store energy generated from renewable resources for use at a later time; or (4) use mechanical, chemical or thermal processes to capture or harness waste electricity and to store the waste electricity generated from mechanical processes for delivery at a later time.4

"Environmental Attributes" means all present and future attributes under any and all international, federal, regional, state or other law or market, including without limitation all credits or certificates that are associated, either now or by future action, with the Offshore Wind Energy Generation, including but not limited to those provided for in 310 C.M.R. 7.75 and G.L. c. 25A, § 17.

"Environmental Justice Populations" shall have the definition established in the Massachusetts Executive Office of Energy and Environmental Affairs' Environmental Justice Policy.<sup>5</sup>

"EOHED" means the Executive Office of Housing and Economic Development.

**"Evaluation Team"** means the Department of Energy Resources, the Distribution Companies and the Executive Office of Housing and Economic Development (EOHED) in consultation with the Independent Evaluator.

**"Evaluation Team Consultant"** means an entity or entities that will contract with one or more of the Distribution Companies to assist the Evaluation Team in the evaluation process.

"FERC" means the United States Federal Energy Regulatory Commission and includes its successors.

"Firm Energy Delivery" means dispatchable non-emitting energy provided in a long-term contract with guaranteed continuous availability at rated power for 1 or more discrete multi-day periods of extreme heat and cold weather, low non-dispatchable power production, or other grid contingencies, as designated by the department of energy resources, to ensure electric reliability and security in a zero-carbon electric system; provided, however, that "firm energy delivery" may include, but shall not be limited to, energy from multiple non-emitting energy generation resources and energy storage systems managed in a coordinated manner, in addition to other market services.

"Generation Unit" means a facility that converts a fuel or an energy resource into electrical

https://malegislature.gov/Laws/GeneralLaws/PartI/TitleXXII/Chapter164/Section1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Available at: <a href="https://www.mass.gov/service-details/environmental-justice-policy">https://www.mass.gov/service-details/environmental-justice-policy</a>

energy.

"GIS" means the New England Power Pool ("NEPOOL") Generation Information System or any successor thereto, which includes a generation information database and certificate system, operated by NEPOOL, its designee or successor entity, that accounts for generation attributes of electricity generated or consumed within New England.

"Independent Evaluator" has the meaning provided in Section 1.5.

"Indexed Price Bid" shall mean an alternative price bid as outlined in Section 2.2.1.5.

"Indexing Adjustment" shall mean a price adjustment to an Indexed Price Bid as outlined in Section 2.2.1.5.

"Interconnection Agreement" means an agreement pursuant to the relevant section(s) of the ISO-NE Tariff among the facility owner, the interconnecting utility and ISO-NE, as applicable, regarding the interconnection of a Generation Unit(s) to the transmission system, as the same may be amended from time to time.

"Interconnection Customer's Interconnection Facilities" ("ICIF") means all facilities and equipment located between bidder's Offshore Wind Energy Generation facilities collector system step-up transformers and the point of change of ownership at the onshore interconnection, including any modification, addition, or upgrades to such facilities and equipment, constructed to physically and electrically interconnect the bidder's Offshore Wind Energy Generation facilities to the onshore transmission system.

**"ISO"** or **"ISO-NE"** means ISO New England Inc., the independent system operator established in accordance with the RTO arrangements for New England, or its successor.

"Long-duration energy storage system" means an energy storage system, as defined in section 1 of chapter 164 of the General Laws, that is capable of dispatching energy at its full rated capacity for a period greater than 10 hours.<sup>6</sup>

"Long-Term Contract" means a contract for a period of 15 to 20 years for Offshore Wind Energy Generation; provided, however, that a contract may include terms and conditions for renewable energy credits associated with the offshore wind energy generation that exceed the term of generation under the contract.<sup>7</sup>

"MassCEC" is the Massachusetts Clean Energy Center.

"Mid-duration energy storage system" means an energy storage system, as defined in section 1 of chapter 164 of the General Laws, that is capable of dispatching energy at its full rated

<sup>6</sup> https://malegislature.gov/Laws/SessionLaws/Acts/2022/Chapter179.

https://malegislature.gov/Laws/SessionLaws/Acts/2022/Chapter179.

capacity for a period greater than 4 hours and up to 10 hours.<sup>8</sup>

- "Network Upgrades" means all modifications and additions to the existing onshore ISO-NE Pool Transmission Facilities ("PTF") necessary to interconnect an Offshore Wind Energy Generation project that (i) satisfies all relevant requirements of the ISO-NE Network Capability Interconnection Standard ("NCIS"), (ii) satisfies all relevant requirements that are equivalent to the Capacity Capability Interconnection Standard ("CCIS"), and (iii) ensures the full delivery of the project's proposed Offshore Wind Energy Generation delivery profile.
- "New England Control Area" means New England Control Area as set forth in the ISO-NE Tariff.
- "Offshore Delivery Facilities" means transmission or interconnection facilities constructed by an Offshore Wind Developer to transport Energy from Offshore Wind Energy Generation facilities to existing onshore ISO-NE Pool Transmission Facilities ("PTF").
- "Offshore Wind Developer" means a provider of electricity developed from an offshore wind energy generation project that is located on the Outer Continental Shelf, and for which no turbine is located within 10 miles of any inhabited area.<sup>9</sup>
- "Offshore Wind Energy Generation" means offshore electric generating resources derived from wind that: (1) are Class I renewable energy generating sources, as defined in Section 11F of Chapter 25A of the General Laws; (2) have a commercial operations date on or after January 1, 2018, that has been verified by the Department of Energy Resources; and (3) operate in a designated wind energy area for which an initial federal lease was issued on a competitive basis after January 1, 2012. The quantity of Offshore Wind Energy Generation delivered shall be measured in MWh.
- "Other Authorities" means United States federal agencies, state and local agencies and authorities, one or more regional transmission organizations, balancing authorities, or utilities in other Control Areas in which a Generation Unit(s) is located or through which its Energy may pass.
- **"Prospective Bidder**" means an offshore wind leaseholder eligible to bid into the Section 83C solicitation, or a party directly involved in preparation of a bid with such a leaseholder.
- "Rate Schedule" means Rate Schedule as set forth in in 18 CFR §35.2(b).
- "Renewable Energy Certificates" or "RECs" means all of the GIS Certificates and environmental benefits associated with New Class I RPS eligible resources as further defined in the Form PPAs.

https://malegislature.gov/Laws/SessionLaws/Acts/2022/Chapter179.

https://malegislature.gov/Laws/SessionLaws/Acts/2016/Chapter188.

https://malegislature.gov/Laws/SessionLaws/Acts/2016/Chapter188.

- "Selection Team" means the Department of Energy Resources (DOER), in consultation with the Independent Evaluator.
- "Service Agreement" has the meaning provided in 18 CFR §35.2(c)(2).
- "Tariff" has the meaning provided in 18 CFR §35.2(c)(1).
- "Third-Party Offshore Wind Developer" means any entity developing offshore wind energy generation facilities.

#### 1. Introduction and Overview

#### 1.1 Purpose of the Request for Proposal

Fitchburg Gas & Electric Light Company d/b/a Unitil ("Unitil"); Massachusetts Electric Company and Nantucket Electric Company, each d/b/a National Grid ("National Grid"): and NSTAR Electric Company d/b/a Eversource Energy ("Eversource"), as investorowned electric distribution companies (collectively, "Distribution Companies" and each as "Distribution Company") serving ratepayers in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts ("Commonwealth"), in coordination with the Massachusetts Department of Energy Resources ("DOER"), are collectively seeking reasonable proposals to enter into costeffective Long-Term Contracts for Offshore Wind Energy Generation and associated RECs, 11 which must incorporate associated transmission costs, pursuant to Section 83C of Chapter 169 of the Acts of 2008 ("Section 83C") et seq., as amended by the Energy Diversity Act, and the Act Driving Clean Energy and Offshore Wind. In this Request for Proposals ("RFP"), the Distribution Companies are seeking to procure at least 400 MW and up to the maximum amount remaining of the statutory requirement under Section 83C of 5,600 MW of Offshore Wind Energy Generation, subject to the provisions hereof, and taking into account Offshore Wind Energy Generation under contract at the time when proposals are due, not in any event to exceed 3,600 MW. 12. Bidders are allowed to offer proposals of at least 200 MW up to 2,400 MW of Offshore Wind Energy Generation. The Selection Team may select any cost-effective project or portfolio of projects that meet the criteria outlined in the RFP; however, the Selection Team is not obligated to select any specific amount.

This is the fourth solicitation pursuant to Section 83C and it is part of a staggered procurement schedule developed by DOER, in coordination with the Distribution Companies, in accordance with the authority granted to DOER under Section 61 of Chapter 179 of the Acts of 2022 ("2022 Act") to require the Distribution Companies to jointly and competitively conduct offshore wind generation solicitations and procurements to ensure that the Distribution Companies jointly solicit and enter into cost-effective contracts for Offshore Wind Energy Generation equal to approximately 5,600 MW of aggregate nameplate capacity not later than June 30, 2027. The Distribution Companies and DOER will issue subsequent solicitations within 24 months of the previous solicitations as necessary, consistent with Section 83C.

The terms of any Long-Term Contracts resulting from this solicitation will be finalized between the Distribution Companies and successful bidders based on the proposals

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Long Term Contracts for Energy and RECs, and for RECs only, will include rights to all associated Environmental Attributes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The statutory requirement is a total of 5,600 MW of Offshore Wind Energy Generation and the Distribution Companies have each entered into contracts and received final Regulatory Approval for their load-ratio share of approx. 2,000 MW of Offshore Wind Energy Generation, with another 1,200 MW of Offshore Wind Energy Generation pending resolution of appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> St. 2016, c. 188, s. 12 amended St. 2008, c. 169, s. 83. This section was later supplemented by St. 2018, c. 227, s. 21(a), and amended by St. 2021, c. 24, s. 69 and St. 2022, c. 179, s. 61.

submitted and selected in accordance with the process set forth in this RFP.<sup>14</sup> This RFP includes form Power Purchase Agreements for Offshore Wind Energy Generation ("Form PPAs"), one for National Grid and another for Eversource and Unitil.

Section 83C requires the Distribution Companies, in coordination with DOER, to solicit proposals from developers of Offshore Wind Energy Generation projects in a fair and non-discriminatory fashion, and, provided that reasonable proposals have been received, enter into cost-effective Long-Term Contracts for Offshore Wind Energy Generation. The standards and criteria set forth in this RFP are designed so proposals selected for contract negotiations will serve the interests of Section 83C by furthering those projects that have a strong likelihood of being financed and constructed and that will provide a reliable and cost-effective source of long-term Offshore Wind Energy Generation to the Commonwealth.

Proposals received will be subject to review by DOER and the EOHED in consultation with an Independent Evaluator, and the Distribution Companies shall offer technical advice. This RFP outlines the process that DOER and the Distribution Companies plan to follow to satisfy their respective obligations under Section 83C and the 2022 Act, sets forth the timetable proposed by the DOER, in coordination with the Distribution Companies, regarding the solicitation process, provides information and instructions to prospective bidders, and describes the bid evaluation process that will be followed once bids are received.

#### 1.1.1 Coordination of Solicitation with Other States

The Commonwealth of Massachusetts in consultation with the Distribution Companies will consider the participation of and coordination with other states on this solicitation as a means to achieve the Commonwealth's Offshore Wind Energy Generation goals if such participation and coordination has a positive or neutral impact on Massachusetts ratepayers and would provide other benefits, including but not limited to, increasing project viability. If the Commonwealth determines that such participation and coordination provides a reasonable means to achieve its Offshore Wind Energy Generation goals cost effectively through multi-state coordination and contract execution, selected projects may be allocated, for example on a load ratio share basis, to one or more electric distribution companies in such state, subject to applicable legal requirements in the Commonwealth and the respective state.

DOER may issue a public Coordination Announcement following RFP issuance

<sup>14</sup> The actual amount of Offshore Wind Energy Generation and/or RECs to be procured by each of the Distribution Companies is determined based upon each Distribution Company's Massachusetts distribution load-share derived from the most recent full years data, which is from 2022:

National Grid 45.17 Eversource 53.66 Unitil 1.17% indicating if there are other New England state procurements with which DOER plans to coordinate regarding this solicitation. If the planned coordination with other states would have implications for bid development for this solicitation, a Coordination Announcement will be issued with sufficient time prior to the proposal submission deadline for Bidders to incorporate the planned coordination into bid development.

#### 1.2 The Framework Established Pursuant to Section 83C

The Section 83C solicitations and the enabling statutes recognize the necessity of the Commonwealth achieving the goals established pursuant to the Global Warming Solutions Act (the "GWSA"). The GWSA requires the Commonwealth to establish goals and meet targets for the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions by 2020, 2030, 2040, and 2050. The goals established by the Commonwealth specifically require achieving Net Zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050 and intermediate reductions.

Under Section 83C, a Distribution Company, after consultation with DOER, may decline to pursue a contract if its terms and conditions would require the Long-Term Contract obligation to place an unreasonable burden on the company's balance sheet; provided, however, that the Distribution Company shall take all reasonable actions to structure the contracts, pricing or administration of the products purchased under this section to prevent or mitigate an impact on the balance sheet or income statement of the Distribution Company or its parent company, subject to the approval of the DPU; and provided further, that mitigation shall not increase costs to ratepayers. All proposed Long-Term contracts are subject to the review and approval of the DPU prior to becoming effective.

As part of its review and approval process for any proposed Long-Term Contracts, Section 83C provides that the DPU must take into consideration recommendations from the Office of the Attorney General ("AGO"), which must be submitted to the DPU within forty-five (45) days following the filing of such contracts with the DPU. Section 83C further provides that the DPU shall consider both the potential costs and benefits of such contracts and shall approve a contract only upon a finding that it is in the public interest and is a cost-effective mechanism for procuring beneficial, reliable Offshore Wind Energy Generation on a long-term basis, taking into account the factors outlined in Section 83C, as further described below.<sup>16</sup>

Finally, if the DOER, in consultation with the Independent Evaluator as described in Section 1.5 below, determines that reasonable proposals were not received pursuant to this solicitation, DOER may terminate this solicitation. In addition, if a Distribution Company deems all proposals to be unreasonable, after consultation with the DOER, it shall submit a filing to the DPU supporting its decision to decline all proposals. This decision is subject

https://malegislature.gov/Laws/SessionLaws/Acts/2022/Chapter179.

https://malegislature.gov/Laws/SessionLaws/Acts/2022/Chapter179.

# 1.3 Solicitation by Distribution Companies in Coordination with the Department of Energy Resources

The Distribution Companies and DOER will conduct this solicitation. Proposals received will be subject to review by the Evaluation Team. As a result of this process, the Distribution Companies now issue this RFP, including associated bid forms, Form PPAs, and certain other documents. The purpose of this approach is to inform prospective bidders of bid submittal and evaluation requirements in order to facilitate the bidding process. Responses to this RFP must be returned to the Evaluation Team for joint evaluation consistent with the terms of this RFP. Bidders shall submit proposals contemporaneously to the entire Evaluation Team. Proposals must be submitted in accordance with Section 1.7 of this RFP.

The Selection Team shall issue a final, binding determination of the winning bid; provided, however, that the final contract executed shall be subject to review by the DPU. Following completion of Stage Three (as described below) of the evaluation and prior to the Selection Team making a selection decision, the Distribution Companies shall indicate their preferences for project selection(s), including their reasoning, to the Selection Team. The Distribution Companies expect to coordinate their negotiation of the contracts and to jointly file the executed Long-Term Contracts with the DPU for approval prior to the Long-Term Contracts becoming effective. The Form PPAs may vary somewhat to accommodate the contracting requirements that are specific to each Distribution Company.

#### 1.4 Overview of the Procurement Process

The Evaluation Team, with the assistance of the Evaluation Team Consultant, will receive the proposals, including confidential materials, and conduct an evaluation of the proposals.

Eversource and National Grid have executed the Standard of Conduct documents attached as Appendix F-1 and F-2 to this RFP. <sup>17</sup> Under these Standards of Conduct, discussion of this RFP and any bid proposed therein between personnel participating on the Distribution Company's Evaluation Team and personnel involved in the preparation of proposals in response to this RFP on behalf of a Distribution Company affiliate shall be prohibited, other than as part of discussions that are conducted as part of the RFP process (e.g., bidder conferences or formal bidder Q&A), in accordance with the Standard of Conduct.

The Evaluation Team will consider the evaluation results and project rankings to determine projects to be considered for selection.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Unitil does not have an affiliate that could potentially bid and, therefore, has not executed a Standard of Conduct. If the prospect arises of a Unitil affiliate becoming a bidder, Unitil will execute a standard of conduct.

The Distribution Companies will be responsible for negotiation and execution of any final Long-Term Contract. DOER will have the opportunity to monitor contract negotiations between the Distribution Companies and selected bidders.

The procurement process has three stages of evaluation, as described in further detail in Section 2 of this RFP. In Stage One, proposals will be reviewed to ensure that they meet eligibility and threshold requirements. In Stage Two, proposals will be evaluated based on specified quantitative and qualitative criteria. In Stage Three, the Evaluation Team will conduct further evaluation of remaining proposals based on the Stage Two quantitative and qualitative evaluation criteria and, at their discretion, additional factors, to ensure selection of viable projects that provide cost-effective, reliable Offshore Wind Energy Generation with limited risk.

#### 1.5 Independent Evaluator

DOER and the AGO, as required by Section 83C, have jointly selected, and DOER has contracted with an Independent Evaluator to consult with DOER to select the winning bidder(s), monitor and report on the solicitation and bid selection process. The Independent Evaluator will assist DOER in determining whether a proposal is reasonable and assist the DPU in its consideration of the Long-Term Contracts filed for approval.

In an effort to ensure an open, fair, and transparent solicitation and bid selection process that is not unduly influenced by an Affiliated Company, Section 83C requires the Independent Evaluator:

- (1) To issue a report to the DPU that analyzes the timetable and method of solicitation and the solicitation process implemented by the Distribution Companies and DOER; and
- (2) Upon the opening of an investigation by the DPU into a proposed Long-Term Contract, to file a report with the DPU that summarizes and analyzes the solicitation and bid selection process and provides an independent assessment of whether all proposals were evaluated in a fair and non-discriminatory manner.

To perform this role, the Independent Evaluator will have access to all information and data related to the solicitation and bid selection process, including any confidential information provided by bidders. The DPU has the discretion to consider the Independent Evaluator's findings and may adopt its recommendations as a condition for approval. However, if the Independent Evaluator concludes that the solicitation and bid selection of a contract was not fair and objective, and the process was substantially prejudiced as a result, the DPU shall reject the contract per Section 83C. <sup>18</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> DOER, at its discretion, may request the Independent Evaluator to monitor contract negotiations between the Distribution Companies and a winning bidder.

#### 1.6 Communications Between the Evaluation Team and Bidders and Filing Protocol

Except for the Prospective Bidders' Conference (see Section 3.2 below), all pre-bid contact with prospective bidders and other interested parties will be via the Distribution Companies' website at MACleanEnergy.com, and email address

MARFP83C@gmail.com. All questions must be submitted by email, and responses will be coordinated by the Evaluation Team and posted on the Distribution Companies' website.

Proposals will be submitted directly to the Evaluation Team at the electronic addresses set forth in Appendix H to this RFP. Each proposal must be submitted to the entire Evaluation Team. Following the submission of proposals, communications regarding specific proposals will be between the Evaluation Team and the bidder. Following bid submission, each bidder is responsible to keep the Evaluation Team informed on a timely basis about the status of their proposed projects throughout the evaluation process, and as applicable, the contract negotiation process, and the related DPU or other proceedings, (including, but not limited to, status updates in obtaining permits, financing, site control and interconnection), but these communications shall not include revisions to the bidder's proposals, unless directed by the Evaluation Team. Any bidder communications must be provided to the entire Evaluation Team by submission to the email address referenced above. For further information on updating proposals, please refer to Section 3.5.

#### 1.7 Proposal Submission Deadline/ Proposal Effectiveness

The timeline for the bidding process following the issuance of this RFP until the Confidential Proposal Submission Deadline, as well as the schedule for other steps in the process, including anticipated approval by the DPU, is set forth below in Section 3.1 of this RFP.

#### 1.7.1 Confidential Proposal Submission Deadline

January 31, 2024 at 12:00 (noon) EDT.

Public Proposal Submission Deadline

Bidders shall submit their Public Proposal with the Confidential Proposal. If a bidder does not elect to redact any confidential information pursuant to Section 1.7.4, then the Confidential Proposal shall be considered the public version of the proposal.

#### 1.7.2. Proposal Validity

Proposals shall be valid, without modification except as allowed in this RFP, until August 14, 2024, unless otherwise extended by mutual agreement between the bidder(s) and the Distribution Companies.

#### 1.7.3. Submission Requirements

Bidders must submit separate electronic submission of the public version of each proposal and shall also submit separate electronic submission drives of the un-redacted confidential version to the contacts in Appendix H to this RFP. The public version of the proposal may be redacted to remove only the information vital to the bidder's business that qualifies for confidential treatment pursuant to the Commonwealth's requirements described in Appendix E to this RFP. Bidders are strongly encouraged to minimize redactions to the extent possible and only redact commercially sensitive and proprietary business information. Each proposal shall contain the full name and business address of the bidder and the bidder's contact person and shall be signed by an authorized officer or duly authorized representative of the bidder. Bidders must sign the original proposal and include copies of the signature page with the proposal. The full name and business address of the bidder must be included in the public version of the proposal(s).

#### 1.7.3.1. Public Versions of Proposals

Each proposal must be submitted publicly, with only confidential material vital to the bidder's business redacted at the bidder's option, to the Evaluation Team. This public version will be posted on the public website **MACleanEnergy.com** shortly after the Proposal Submission Deadline. The electronic submission should prominently include the words "Public Version" to alert the Evaluation Team that the version will be publicly posted. The Public Proposals must be complete in all respects other than the redaction of confidential information. Complete proposals must include a properly completed Certification, Project and Pricing Data ("CPPD") Form, although at the bidder's option the CPPD submitted as part of the public version may be a PDF instead of a working Excel file, so long as the bidder submits the unredacted CPPD form as a working Excel file with the confidential version of the proposal. If there is conflicting information between the information in the CPPD and information in other forms, then the information in the CPPD will be used in the evaluation. Information elsewhere in the bid cannot be used by the bidder to modify or qualify any information in the CPPD.

The Evaluation Team will not redact the public versions of proposals. Anything submitted in the public version will be made AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC.

#### 1.7.3.2. Confidential Versions of Proposals

If a bidder elects to redact any confidential information in the public version of its proposal(s), it must also submit an unredacted, complete version of the proposal(s). The confidential version of the proposal must include the CPPD forms as a working Excel file, with all required information included. The confidential version of the proposal will be treated as confidential and sensitive information by the Evaluation Team, subject to the treatment of confidential information discussed in Section 1.7.4 of this RFP.

#### 1.7.4. Confidential Information

Bidders must clearly identify all confidential or proprietary information in their submissions, including but not limited to pricing. Only legitimate non-public proprietary or sensitive information may be considered confidential, and bidders should not designate any portions of their proposal confidential that do not merit confidential treatment. The Evaluation Team shall use commercially reasonable efforts to treat the confidential information that it receives from bidders in a confidential manner and will not use such information for any purpose other than in connection with this RFP. Additional information concerning the confidentiality of information provided to DOER is included in Appendix E to this RFP. DOER will protect any confidential information to the extent possible under applicable public records law. As part of the bid evaluation process, the Evaluation Team expects to disclose bid information to the Evaluation Team Consultant, to DOER's consultant, to ISO-NE and to personnel of one or more Other Authorities, including other relevant Massachusetts state agencies to assist DOER in its evaluation, on a need-toknow basis. The Independent Evaluator will also have access to all proposal information in performing its role. Depending upon the evaluation of proposals received, the Evaluation Team may seek permission from bidders to share proposals with other individuals or entities, subject to a confidentiality agreement.

In all such cases, the Evaluation Team will work with bidders on developing appropriate means to protect and limit disclosure of confidential information. Bidders, however, should be aware that the Distribution Companies and DOER will disclose the pricing of the contracts that are filed for approval at the DPU. If any other confidential information is sought in any regulatory or judicial inquiry or proceeding or pursuant to a request for information by a government agency with supervisory authority over any of the Distribution Companies, reasonable steps shall be taken to limit disclosure and use of said confidential information through the use of non-disclosure agreements or requests for orders seeking protective treatment, and bidders shall be informed that the confidential information is being sought. The bidder shall be responsible for filing, submitting, and/or providing to the Distribution Companies for such filing or submission, any motions or other pleadings (including associated affidavits, etc.) for protective orders or other relief to seek protection of the confidential information, but may not object to the disclosure of the pricing of the contracts that are filed for approval at the DPU.

Similarly, bidders shall use commercially reasonable efforts to treat all confidential information received from the Evaluation Team or individual entities serving on the Evaluation Team or the Evaluation Team Consultant in a confidential manner and will not, except as required by law or in a regulatory or judicial proceeding, disclose such information to any third-party or use such information for any purpose other than in connection with this RFP; provided, however that if such confidential information is sought in any regulatory or judicial proceeding, the bidders shall take reasonable steps to limit disclosure and use of said confidential information through the use of non-disclosure agreements or requests for orders seeking protective treatment, and shall inform the Evaluation Team that the confidential information is being sought.

In the event confidential information is submitted to the Evaluation Team and confidential treatment is not afforded by a governmental agency or other entity exercising

proper authority, the entities and individuals on the Evaluation Team, any consultants, and the Independent Evaluator shall not be held responsible. Each member of the Evaluation Team and the Independent Evaluator, as well as their employees, agents, and consultants, shall be held harmless for any release of confidential information as long as commercially reasonable efforts to protect the information have been followed. In any event, each member of the Evaluation Team, the Evaluation Team Consultant and the Independent Evaluator, as well as their employees, agents, and consultants, shall be held harmless for any release of confidential information made available through any public source by any other party.

## 1.7.4.1.Confidential Information Sharing Authorization for ISO-NE and Certain Government and Other Authorities Personnel

ISO-NE will, and Other Authorities (including but not limited to state economic development and environmental agencies) may, be requested to provide information to the Evaluation Team concerning proposals as part of the proposal evaluation process. Information classified as Critical Energy/Electric Infrastructure Information ("CEII") will only be shared with members of the Evaluation Team and the Independent Evaluator, who are cleared to receive CEII by ISO-NE or any applicable Other Authorities. By participating in this RFP, bidders agree that ISO-NE and the Other Authorities may release information related to the projects, which may otherwise be considered confidential under the relevant rules or policies of such organizations, to the Evaluation Team and the Independent Evaluator.

The Bidder shall provide written confirmation of its consent for the sharing of this information as part of the bidder certification form, and, if requested by the Evaluation Team, the bidder shall specifically request that ISO-NE and/or any of the Other Authorities provide this information to the Evaluation Team and shall pay any costs imposed by ISO-NE or any of the Other Authorities associated with providing that information. Failure to comply with this request will result in disqualification of the bid. The Evaluation Team will treat the information provided as confidential as described above in accordance with the Confidential Information policies and practices described in Section 1.7.4. of this RFP.

#### 1.7.5. Appendices

All bidders shall sign and submit attached Appendix C to this RFP with their proposals. A proposal will be considered incomplete unless the required Appendix C to this RFP is signed and submitted with the proposal.

| Appendix A   | Bidders Response Package                                 |
|--------------|--|
| Appendix B-1 | Form of Power Purchase Agreement (National Grid)         |
| Appendix B-2 | Form of Power Purchase Agreement (Eversource and Unitil) |
| Appendix C   | Certification  |
| Appendix D   | Procurement Statutes                                     |
| Appendix E   | Confidential Information                                 |

| Appendix F-1 | Standard of Conduct - National Grid |
|--------------|-------------------------------------|
| Appendix F-2 | Standard of Conduct – Eversource    |
| 1' 0         |                                     |

Appendix G Commitment Agreement Appendix H Bid Submittal Instructions

Appendix I Deliverability Constraint Analysis

Appendix J Environmental and Socioeconomic Impact Criteria

Appendix K Explanation of Allowable Phasing

Appendix L Form Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with DOER and

MassCEC

#### 1.8 Bidder Certification

An authorized officer or other duly authorized representative of a bidder is required to certify by the submission of its proposal that:

- 1. The bidder has reviewed this RFP, and has investigated and familiarized itself with respect to all matters pertinent to this RFP and its proposal;
- 2. The bidder's proposal is submitted in compliance with all applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations, including antitrust and anti-corruption laws;
- 3. The bidder is bidding independently and has no knowledge of non-public information associated with a proposal being submitted by another party in response to this RFP other than a proposal submitted: (a) by an affiliate of that bidder or (b) for a project in which that bidder is also a project proponent or participant, which, in each case, must be disclosed in writing to the Evaluation Team with each such bidder's or affiliated bidder's proposal;
- 4. The bidder has no knowledge of any confidential information associated with the development of this RFP;
- 5. The bidder's proposal has not been developed utilizing knowledge of any non-public information associated with the development of this RFP;
- 6. The bidder has not obtained any confidential bidding-related information directly or indirectly from any of the Distribution Companies, in preparation of its bid;
- 7. Except as disclosed by the bidder in the relevant portions of its response, the bidder is not an Affiliated Company of any Massachusetts investor-owned electric Distribution Company and no Distribution Company that is seeking proposals pursuant to this RFP has a financial or voting interest, controlling or otherwise, in the bidder or the bidder's proposed project;
- 8. The bidder accepts that confidential information about their proposal may be shared with any members of the Evaluation Team (including their respective consultants), the Evaluation Team Consultant, the Independent Evaluator, ISO-NE, or Other Authorities personnel;
- 9. The bidder shall abide by/accept all rules and protocols put in place to maintain a fair, competitive, and transparent solicitation process; and
- 10. The bidder will continue to observe these requirements throughout the RFP process.

#### 1.9 Changes or Cancellations

The terms and conditions of this RFP may, at any time, be changed, postponed, withdrawn and/or canceled, including any requirement, term or condition of this RFP, any and all of which shall be without any liability to any members of the Evaluation Team. Any changes to or cancellations of this RFP will be posted on **MACleanEnergy.com.** 

#### 1.10 Non-Refundable Bid Fees

Each project shall be required to pay a non-refundable bid fee which will be used to offset Distribution Companies' and DOER's costs for the evaluation of proposals and oversight of the process by the Independent Evaluator. The minimum bid fee will be \$600,000. This bid fee includes one pricing offer. Each additional pricing offer, including any alternative Indexed Price Bid, will require an additional non-refundable fee of \$25,000. The fee for an additional pricing offer only applies for variations in pricing for the same project. For all other cases an additional bid fee of \$50,000 is required. For clarity, if there are changes to any physical aspect of a project, including but not limited to project size, technology type(s), Energy Storage System, production/delivery profile, in-service date, or delivery location then a non-refundable bid fee of \$50,000 is required. Bid fees must be wired to Distribution Companies, allocated to each Distribution Company in accordance with the allocation percentages applicable pursuant to the instructions contained in Appendix H to this RFP. The bid fee must be wired no later than the Confidential Proposal Submission Deadline, as defined in Section 1.7.1. No applications will be reviewed without a bid fee. Before bidders submit their proposals and bid fees, they are strongly encouraged to verify that the bid submittal meets all the requirements of this RFP. The Distribution Companies will forward the portion of bid fees required to offset DOER's evaluation costs and costs for the Independent Evaluator upon verification that proper bid fees were received. Submission of bid fees does not obligate the selection of any project.

If the total amount of the bid fees collected is not adequate to cover the cost of the evaluation, the Distribution Companies may seek recovery of that shortfall through retail rates. If this RFP is terminated, uncommitted bid fees will be returned. In no other event will any portion of the bid fees be refunded, without regard to whether a bid is selected, or the stage of the evaluation at which a bid may be no longer considered.

#### 2. Bid Evaluation and Selection Criteria and Process

#### 2.1 Introduction/Overview of the Process

The review of proposals will occur in three stages. In Stage One, proposals will be reviewed to ensure that they meet eligibility and threshold requirements. In Stage Two, proposals will be evaluated based on specified quantitative and qualitative criteria. In Stage Three, the Evaluation Team will conduct further evaluation of remaining proposals based on the Stage Two quantitative and qualitative evaluation criteria and, at their discretion, additional factors, to ensure selection of viable projects that provide cost-effective, reliable Offshore Wind Energy Generation with limited risk.

The Evaluation Team reserves the right, at any stage, to disqualify and eliminate from further consideration any proposal that the Evaluation Team reasonably believes does not meet the requirements set forth below. During any stage of the process, if the Evaluation Team determines that any proposal is deficient and/or missing applicable information, the Evaluation Team may, at its discretion, notify the respective bidder, and provide that bidder a reasonable opportunity to cure the deficiency and/or supply the missing information. <sup>19</sup> However, it is the bidder's responsibility to ensure that all proposals are accurate and complete upon submission. Communication between the Evaluation Team and the bidder will be governed by Section 1.6 of this RFP.

#### 2.2 Stage One

#### 2.2.1 Eligibility, Threshold, and Other Minimum Requirements

Proposals that fail to meet one or more of the following eligibility requirements may be disqualified from further review and evaluation.

#### 2.2.1.1 Eligible Bidder

An eligible bidder is a developer of Offshore Wind Energy Generation, or an entity in possession of the development rights to Offshore Wind Energy Generation.

#### 2.2.1.2 Eligible Proposal Size

The Distribution Companies are seeking to procure at least 400 MW and up to the maximum amount remaining of the statutory requirement under Section 83C of 5,600 MW of Offshore Wind Energy Generation, subject to the provisions hereof, and taking into account Offshore Wind Energy Generation under contract at the time when proposals are due, not in any event to exceed 3,600 MW of Offshore Wind Energy Generation. This solicitation allows bidders to offer proposals from 200 MW up to 2,400 MW. The Selection Team may select any cost-effective project or portfolio of projects that meet the criteria outlined in the RFP; however, the Selection Team is not obligated to select any specific amount. There is no preferred bid size. <sup>20</sup>

Eligible bidders submitting multiple alternative proposals must specify whether any of their proposals are negatively contingent upon any of their other proposals (i.e., eligible bidders must specify whether acceptance of a certain proposal or proposals will preclude

Any opportunity to cure a deficiency and/or supply missing information offered by the Evaluation Team will be subject to a limited response period consistent with the stage of the evaluation process and overall schedule identified in Section 3.1 of this RFP. The Evaluation Team will identify applicable response deadlines in its communications to bidders.

Projects that bidders propose should be sized and designed to efficiently and cost-effectively use available lease area(s), interconnection point(s), transmission cabling, and other infrastructure required for the production and delivery of the Offshore Wind Energy Generation.

the Distribution Companies from accepting some other proposal(s) submitted by the same eligible bidder). Bidders may not submit proposals that are positively contingent on circumstances outside the acceptance of a proposal in this solicitation (e.g., proposals accepted in solicitations in other states). Bids cannot be contingent on prior approved long-term contracts.

Eligible bidders are not permitted to submit proposals that seek a commitment by the Distribution Companies to materially modify, amend, or terminate any long-term contract executed pursuant to Section 83C or make any other commitment outside this solicitation.

If a bidder proposes to construct an eligible project in phases, there will be limits to the number of phases allowed. In general, a project may not consist of more than 4 phases. Descriptions of additional phasing permutations and their allowability are discussed in Appendix K. Associated dates for commercial operation of each phase must be offered. As noted in Section 2.2.1.7 below, in recognition of the 15- to 20-year contract term, the Distribution Companies may issue multiple Long-Term Contracts for the selected projects developed in multiple phases. Bidders should specify their proposed timing of phases and proposed associated contracts.

#### 2.2.1.3 Eligible Bids

An eligible bidder proposing to sell Offshore Wind Energy Generation and/or associated RECs pursuant to a Long-Term Contract must propose a price schedule for energy deliveries that conforms to this Section 2.2.1.3 and to Section 2.2.1.4 and Section 2.2.1.5 of this RFP.

All proposals must provide for a scheduled commercial operation date before January 1, 2032.

All proposals must include a commitment to interconnect to the ISO-NE Pool Transmission Facilities ("PTF") at a level equivalent to the Capacity Capability Interconnection Standard, as defined by ISO-NE, and supporting information must accompany the proposal as described below.

The bidder must provide production/delivery profile schedules of Offshore Wind Energy Generation with each proposal. Bidders are encouraged to provide a production/delivery schedule that is as accurate as possible based on historical weather data and consistent with the expected upgrades proposed in their bids. In accordance with Section 83C, proposals must be cost effective for ratepayers over the duration of the Long-Term Contract.

Proposals may pair Offshore Wind Energy Generation with Energy Storage Systems that increase the benefits of the offshore wind project. Pairing in the context of this RFP means the inclusion of costs associated with the Energy Storage System with the

Offshore Wind Energy Generation, as described in Section 2.2.1.4, and providing an operational schedule for the proposed Energy Storage System according to the specifications described in Appendix A to this RFP. The operation of the Energy Storage System must be associated with the Offshore Wind Energy Generation and defined in the bidder's marked Form PPAs. The bidder proposing Offshore Wind Energy Generation paired with Energy Storage Systems must fill out the CPPD form such that the Offshore Wind Energy Generation profile (production/delivery profile) is provided both with and without operation of the Energy Storage System consistent with the proposed operational requirements and commitments. Bidders should propose Energy Storage operations that demonstrate the most value for Massachusetts ratepayers (e.g., by following the Commonwealth's anticipated load shape or delivering on peak). If a bidder proposes Energy Storage System pairing as an option to a bid without the Energy Storage System, this will be considered two separate bids by the Evaluation Team.

A seller of Offshore Wind Energy Generation who fails to deliver energy and/or RECs as agreed in its contract with the Distribution Company may be responsible for liquidated damages for the energy and/or associated RECs not provided, potentially in addition to other Distribution Companies' remedies in the event of a seller default. The Form PPAs included in Appendix B-1 and B-2 contain the terms and conditions for the sale of Offshore Wind Energy Generation and RECs.<sup>21</sup>

An Eligible Bidder's proposal to sell RECs or Offshore Wind Energy Generation and associated RECs pursuant to a Long-Term Contract must include the construction and operation of the Offshore Delivery Facilities, Network Upgrades, and all additional facilities required for delivery from the Offshore Wind Energy Generation facilities directly to the corresponding onshore ISO-NE PTF system facilities, and, if applicable, Energy Storage Systems.<sup>22</sup> A proposal in which there will be a single point of interconnection and delivery will be considered a single bid. Similarly, a bid in which there will be two points of interconnection and delivery, with a specified allocation of energy delivered to each point of interconnection, will also be considered a single bid for evaluation purposes. For a proposal providing an additional unique and independent point(s) of interconnection and delivery as an alternative, such additional alternative will be considered a separate bid which will require an additional bid fee pursuant to Section 1.10. Proposals must provide for payment from the Distribution Companies to the bidder through an all-in price schedule for RECs or Offshore Wind Energy Generation and associated RECs, that includes the cost of such Offshore Delivery Facilities, as well as cost of associated Network Upgrades, and, if applicable, Energy Storage Systems, incorporated into the Long-Term Contract, and which is compliant with Section 2.2.1.4 of this RFP.

The National Grid form provides for an Event of Default and possible termination of the PPA in the event that the average operability of the Offshore Wind Energy Generation facility, as measured by ISO-NE, is significantly below a specified standard over rolling two-year periods.

Bidders should describe the extent to which their proposed interconnection design and location use the available interconnection point(s) and proposed transmission infrastructure efficiently.

Each bid submitted must also include a commitment to enter into a Voluntary Agreement, (see the Commitment Agreement as provided as Appendix G to this RFP). This Commitment Agreement includes a commitment that, in the event future Third-Party Offshore Wind Developers request interconnection service on the bidder's Interconnection Customer Interconnection Facilities ("ICIF"), bidder will negotiate in good faith and use commercially reasonable best efforts to enter into a Voluntary Agreement with such Third-Party Offshore Wind Developers regarding interconnection to and expansion of such ICIF to accommodate the Third-Party Offshore Wind Developer's request. Such a Voluntary Agreement must incorporate study, interconnection, delivery service, and other provisions at least as favorable to said Third-Party Offshore Wind Developers as the provisions of ISO-NE OATT Schedules 22 and 23 are to requesters of service thereunder. <sup>23</sup>

#### 2.2.1.4 Pricing Requirements; Conforming Forms of Pricing

- i. Pricing for Offshore Wind Energy Generation and associated RECs must conform to the following pricing requirements:
  - a. Pricing must be designed to recover all costs associated with the proposal, including but not limited to the cost of Offshore Wind Energy Generation, cost of Offshore Delivery Facilities, cost of Network Upgrades, and, if applicable, Energy Storage Systems.<sup>24</sup>
  - b. A proposal to sell RECs or Offshore Wind Energy Generation and associated RECs must propose a price on a fixed \$/MWh and/or \$/REC basis, as applicable. Prices may be the same each year or change by a defined rate or amount over time. If bidders are proposing the pairing of an Energy Storage System, any applicable costs must be included in the proposal to sell RECs or Offshore Wind Energy Generation and associated RECs and must be on a \$/MWh and \$/REC basis, as applicable.

2:

As utilized in this RFP, "Voluntary Agreement" means a voluntary agreement as contemplated in FERC Order No. 807, 150 FERC ¶ 61,211 (2015), at PP 117-18 providing interconnection and/or delivery service to a Third Party Offshore Wind Developer without the need for a FERC order under Sections 210, 211, and 212 of the Federal Power Act ("FPA"). For the avoidance of uncertainty, note that the RFP does not require a bidder to waive any other rights under Order No. 807, including with respect to excess or unused capacity on its ICIF as initially constructed, such as those reserved by FERC regulations at 18 CFR §§ 35.28(d)(2)(ii)(A)-(B). Rather, the RFP requires only that a bidder pursue a voluntary agreement as discussed in FERC Order No. 807 at PP 117-118 if a third party requests studies and potential expansion of the bidder's ICIF to accommodate third party interconnection without the need for said third party to pursue its rights in the first instance via FPA Sections 210, 211, and 212. Such commitment to enter into a Voluntary Agreement (see the Commitment Agreement included as Appendix G hereto) ultimately executed by the winning bidder in favor of the Distribution Companies, as well as any future Voluntary Agreements, shall be filed with FERC for acceptance pursuant to FPA Section 205.

The CPPD Form contains the calculation comparing the Proposal price with the nominal levelized price of the contract produced from the previous procurement. The Evaluation Team will utilize this calculation to determine Proposal eligibility and will not rely on any independent bidder calculations for nominal levelized price per MWH.

- c. Payments must be calculated on a \$/MWh and/or \$/REC basis for actual products delivered. No lump sum payments, pre-payments or fees shall be paid.
- d. If a bidder is proposing a multi-phased project under multiple contracts (e.g., one for each phase), the nominal levelized price per MWh must be the same across all phases.
- e. Proposals including Offshore Wind Energy Generation and RECs must provide separate prices for such Offshore Wind Energy Generation and RECs. Pricing for RECs as a percentage of the total proposed pricing of both Offshore Wind Energy Generation and RECs must be no less than 35%, subject to a maximum of \$40/REC, for each contract year of a project proposal.
- f. Proposals for RECs only must be priced in \$/REC, and only RECs produced by the designated facility that conform to the RPS Class 1 eligibility criteria will be purchased.
- g. Proposed prices must be firm and may not be subject to increase for any reason, including the unavailability of any federal or state government tax credits, incentives or other subsidies.
- h. Bidders must address how they would consider the Distribution Companies' customers in the event of the availability or receipt of any tax credit or other government grant or subsidy not contemplated in their proposals. Bidders must state their assumptions regarding the availability of federal or state tax credits, subsidies, or grants or other incentives, including but not limited to those available under the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act of 2022, and/or the offshore wind incentives available from the MassCEC. If a bidder assumes that such credits, subsidies, grants or incentives will not be available for its Offshore Wind Energy Generation, it should state how it would propose to share the benefits of those credits, subsidies, grants or incentives with the Distribution Companies customers if they subsequently become available prior to the execution of a Long-Term Contract. For the avoidance of doubt, Bidders may propose a price decrease based on an increase in any state or federal tax credit or other government grant or subsidy, so long as that price decrease will be included in any Long-Term Contract.
- ii. Under the terms of the Long Term Contract, in the event that the Locational Marginal Pricing ("LMP") for the Offshore Wind Energy Generation at the delivery point is less than \$0.00 per MWh in any hour, then the Buyer will purchase the Delivered Energy and/or RECs at the contract rate and Seller shall credit to Buyer, on the appropriate monthly invoice, an amount equal to the product of (i) such Offshore Wind Energy Generation Delivered in each such hour; and (ii) the absolute value of the hourly LMP at such Delivery Point.

#### iii. Additional Pricing Required by National Grid

Separate from the pricing for Offshore Wind Energy Generation and/or associated RECs proposed for the 15 to 20-year contract term, the bidder shall include additional pricing for providing National Grid with entitlement to its *pro rata* share of RECs produced by the bid facilities after the 15- to 20-year contract term. If the bidder proposes to provide such RECs to National Grid at no additional cost, they may be priced at \$0/REC. The pricing of these additional RECs will be considered by National Grid in determining whether it wishes to contract for them, as allowed by the definition of "Long-term contract."<sup>25</sup>

#### 2.2.1.5 Alternative Indexed Pricing Option

Bidders may submit an alternative pricing option, an "Indexed Price Bid," which will be subject to Indexing Adjustment as described in this section. The Indexed Price Bid proposal may only include changes to the project price and cannot alter other aspects of the proposal. If a Bidder is proposing multiple projects under this RFP, each unique project may include one Indexed Price Bid alternative.

The Indexed Price Bid is a fixed \$/MWh price for energy and RECs that will allow the bidder to construct and operate the project as proposed under the Bidder's central set of assumptions about project costs. The Indexed Price Bid may be the same each year or change by a defined rate or amount over time.

An Indexing Adjustment will be applied to increase or decrease the Indexed Price Bid price by up to 15% based on the change in a set of macroeconomic and/or commodity indices (the "Composite Set of Indices"), which will be determined by the RFP Drafting Parties (the Indexing Adjustment Mechanism). The change in price due to the Indexing Adjustment will be limited to 15%, that is, it will be neither increased nor decreased more than 15%, even if a larger adjustment is indicated by the Composite Set of Indices. The Indexing Adjustment will occur one year following an Order from the DPU approving the long-term contracts resulting from this solicitation.

Following issuance of this RFP, DOER will coordinate with the Distribution Companies, AGO, and the Independent Evaluator to initiate a process to establish the Composite Set of Indices to be used for the Indexing Adjustment. An Independent Consultant will be retained to assist with the development of the Indexing Adjustment Mechanism. DOER and the Distribution Companies will make an informational filing at the DPU describing the finalized Indexing Adjustment Mechanism by August 31, 2023.

#### 2.2.1.6 Bidder Disclosure of Affiliations and Affiliate Relationships

All bidders are required to disclose any and all affiliations and affiliate relationships, joint ventures or other project teams or associations, or wholly owned subsidiaries in such detail

<sup>25</sup> St. 2022, c.179, s.60, <u>amending</u> St. 2008, c. 169, Section 83B of the "Green Communities Act."

as to allow the Evaluation Team to be able adequately determine the bidder's corporate structure as described in Appendix A to this RFP. Bidders are required to provide complete and accurate information. Any bidder failing to provide complete and adequate information will not be considered eligible under this solicitation.

In addition, bidders are required to disclose and document any and all direct and indirect affiliations and affiliate relationships, contractual, financial or otherwise, between the bidder and any of the Distribution Companies and their affiliates, including any relationship in which any of the Distribution Companies or their affiliates has a financial or voting interest (direct or indirect) in the bidder or the bidder's proposed project. These relationships would encompass, but are not be limited to:

- Corporate or other joint arrangements, joint ventures, joint operations whether control exists or not;
- Minority ownership (less than 50 percent (50%) investee);
- Joint development agreements;
- Project agreements;
- Operating segments that are consolidated as part of the financial reporting process;
- Related parties with common ownership;
- Credit, debenture, and financing arrangements, whether a convertible equity feature is present or not; and
- Wholly owned subsidiaries.

#### 2.2.1.7 Contract Term

The contract term for Long-Term Contracts is defined by Section 83C as a contract for a period of 15 to 20 years. Within these statutory parameters, bidders are encouraged to make their own determination as to the product delivery term that best fits their needs while meeting the requirements of this RFP. In recognition of the 15 to 20-year contract term specified in Section 83C, and if projects are developed in multiple phases, the Distribution Companies will consider issuance of multiple contracts (but not to exceed four for any proposal). Bidders should state their proposed number and timing of contracts and phase sizes consistent with these requirements, Section 2.2.1.2 and Appendix K.

A Long-Term Contract for Offshore Wind Energy Generation may include terms and conditions for RECs associated with the Offshore Wind Energy generation that exceed the term of the generation under contract.

#### 2.2.1.8 Capacity Requirements

a. Each proposal must include a commitment to interconnect to the ISO- NE PTF at

a Capacity Capability Interconnection Standard ("CCIS") equivalent level. Each proposal must include a commitment to complete the Forward Capacity Auction Qualification ("FCAQ") process set forth in Section III.13.1 of Market Rule 1 of ISO-NE's Transmission Markets and Services Tariff, and to meet all FCAQ requirements in order to establish its ability to interconnect at this level. Each Bidder's proposal must use the ISO-NE FCA Wind Qualification Template spreadsheet to approximate the qualified capacity associated with its proposed Offshore Wind Energy Generation project. The final amount of capacity to be requested and submitted by the bidder under the FCAQ will be determined in the ISO-NE FCA Wind Qualification Template spreadsheet, updated by the bidder with the required time series data for each of the most recent Capability Years for which there is supporting data at that time.

- Final determination of the subset of Network Upgrades required to support a b. bidder's CCIS-equivalent interconnection will be determined by the ISO-NE under the FCAQ process. However, each proposal must include a realistic and specific plan to implement any transmission system upgrades or other work anticipated to be needed to achieve CCIS-equivalent interconnection, as identified under the FCAQ process. To the extent that ISO-NE studies have not yet been conducted to ascertain the portion of Network Upgrades and the associated costs required to achieve such CCIS-equivalent interconnection at the time of bidding, a bidder may include a preliminary non-binding overlapping impact study conducted by ISO-NE to identify the potential upgrades and associated costs that would be required by ISO-NE's CCIS interconnection determination, or may identify such costs through relevant studies and analyses performed by bidders or their consultants that approximate the ISO- NE interconnection process. These studies and their supporting documentation, assumptions, and data must match closely ISO-NE study requirements for CCIS-equivalent interconnection. The Evaluation Team expects bidders to provide studies that are consistent with ISO-NE's approach and that approximate what the ISO-NE results would be.
- c. Notwithstanding a. and b. above, once a bidder has completed the FCAQ process to establish the upgrades necessary to interconnect to the PTF at the CCIS level, it need not continue to obtain a Capacity Supply Obligation ("CSO") or participate in any Forward Capacity Auction ("FCA"). Obtaining a CSO or participating in any FCA is at the discretion of the bidder. The Distribution Companies will not purchase capacity under the Long-Term Contracts, and bidders will retain any Forward Capacity Market ("FCM") revenues received from ISO-NE.

#### 2.2.1.9 Interconnection and Delivery Requirements

The delivery of Offshore Wind Energy Generation from a generation unit must occur throughout the term of the contract. Substitution of non-Offshore Wind Energy Generation is not allowed for delivery or firming of delivery. It is the responsibility of the bidder to satisfy the delivery requirement. The delivery point must be located so that Distribution Companies are not responsible for wheeling charges to move energy to the PTF. The

Distribution Companies will not be responsible for any costs associated with delivery other than the payment of the bid prices for energy (and associated RECs) delivered. Similarly, Distribution Companies will not be responsible for any scheduling associated with delivery.

The bidder will be responsible for all costs associated with and/or arising from: (a) qualification in the FCAQ and interconnecting its project to the PTF at both the Network Capability Interconnection Standard ("NCIS") and a CCIS-equivalent level and (b) for ensuring that the Offshore Wind Energy Generation is recognized in ISO-NE's settlement system as injected in the ISO-NE energy market at the specified and agreed delivery point. Regardless of whether or not the bidder elects to obtain a CSO and participate in the FCA, the bidder must complete any upgrades that are identified in the FCAQ process to interconnect at a level equivalent to CCIS.

Bidders must demonstrate that their proposed point of delivery into ISO-NE, along with their proposed interconnection and transmission upgrades, is sufficient to ensure full delivery of the proposal's Offshore Wind Energy Generation profile (production/delivery profile) as submitted in their bids. Proposals must include all interconnection and transmission upgrade costs required to ensure full delivery of the proposed Offshore Wind Energy Generation profile, including transmission upgrades that may need to occur beyond the point of interconnection. The amount paid for any energy and/or RECs under the PPA will be reduced to reflect any costs related to Offshore Delivery Facilities, Network Upgrades, and/or the interconnection of the project to the transmission system of the interconnecting utility that are collected under the ISO-NE Tariff or ISO-NE rules or under any tariff or other cost recovery mechanism and that would have been paid by the bidder, i.e., under the tariffs and rules in place at the time of bid submittal but for that alternative collection arrangement. The production/delivery profile submitted by the bidder should reflect any remaining projected constraints or curtailments, if any, associated with the proposal (after inclusion of all Network Upgrades). If the subset of Network Upgrades associated with the NCIS and CCIS-equivalent interconnection standards is not sufficient for delivery of the proposed delivery profile, the bidder must either (i) identify additional upgrades necessary to ensure the proposed delivery profile and include the costs of those additional upgrades in the proposed Network Upgrades, or (ii) reduce the proposed delivery profile to reflect the Network Upgrades included in the proposal. Cost estimates and supporting studies must be provided for any additional upgrades that are not associated with the NCIS and CCIS-equivalent interconnection standards. It is expected that these additional upgrades will be instituted as elective transmission upgrades.

Regardless of the approach followed, bidders must demonstrate that their Offshore Wind Energy Generation profile is consistent with the Network Upgrades identified in their proposal and that their proposed interconnection and transmission upgrades are sufficient to support full delivery of their Offshore Wind Energy Generation profile.

At no time will one or more Distribution Companies assume the responsibility of Lead Market Participant, as defined by ISO-NE.

The generation unit shall comply with all ISO-NE and FERC interconnection requirements for generation facilities and interregional ties, as applicable. All RECs

associated with Offshore Wind Energy Generation and purchased pursuant to the Long-Term Contract must be delivered into the Distribution Companies' NEPOOL GIS accounts.

To meet this requirement, bidders must submit a plan that clearly demonstrates how Offshore Wind Energy Generation will be delivered from or by the proposed eligible project to the delivery point that is a PTF Node as outlined in Section 6 of Appendix A to this RFP.

The bidder must detail the status (and conclusions, as available) of interconnection applications and studies, as further described in Section 6 of Appendix A to this RFP.

All bidders must have filed interconnection requests for Capacity Network Resource service with ISO-NE as necessary and sufficient to gain a full understanding of the maximum expected interconnection costs for their proposed Offshore Wind Energy Generation capacity(ies).

Projects that have received their I.3.9 approval from ISO-NE must identify that approval and include documentation thereof in their proposal. Proposals for projects that do not have I.3.9 approval from ISO-NE must include an ISO-NE Feasibility Study or a study performed by a third party in accordance with the Network Capability Interconnection Standard as defined by ISO-NE Planning Procedure 5-6. All technical reports or system impact studies should approximate the ISO-NE interconnection process, including but not limited to clear documentation of study technical and cost assumptions, reasoning, and justification of such assumptions.

Projects with a Qualification Determination Notification ("QDN") from ISO-NE for their proposed capacity amount and commitment period as described in Section 2.2.1.8 of this RFP must include all QDN documentation in their proposal. All projects that do not have a QDN for their proposed capacity amount and commitment period must provide a study performed by ISO-NE or a third party in accordance with ISO-NE Planning Procedure 10 in order to prove ability to interconnect at the Capacity Capability Interconnection Standard. All technical reports or studies must reflect the current ISO-NE interconnection process and must also detail any assumptions with respect to projects that are ahead of the proposed project in the ISO-NE interconnection queue and any assumptions as to changes to the transmission system that differ from the current ISO-NE Regional System Plan. Proposals are strongly encouraged to include a scenario analysis in their studies that shows how changes in the project interconnection queue could impact their interconnection costs using the current ISO interconnection rules. Proposals are encouraged to include additional reports, analysis, and studies that support their interconnection and deliverability.

The burden is on bidders to provide the Evaluation Team with information, analysis, and studies required by the Evaluation Team in order to make a determination that the proposal includes all costs associated with completing the upgrades that would be required by ISO-NE's NCIS and CCIS. Bidders must provide adequate information and

analyses regarding the upgrades and must explain how the identified upgrades will satisfy this interconnection standard.

#### 2.2.1.10 Optional Bids to Known Transmission Upgrades

DOER has submitted, individually and in coordination with other states, Concept Paper proposals for transmission and distribution system upgrades to the U.S. Department of Energy's ("U.S. DOE") Grid Innovation Program (GIP), which is outlined in Section 40103(b) of the 2021 Bipartisan Infrastructure Law. DOER may submit full applications for funding for one or more of these proposals by the U.S. DOE's deadline of May 19, 2023. These projects may include transmission system upgrades that would impact the interconnection capacity in Massachusetts for offshore wind projects.

If any such projects are submitted to the GIP, DOER will issue a Notice to Bidders following the May 19, 2023, deadline with information about the location and an overview of the projects. Interested bidders will then be allowed to, but not required to, develop and submit alternative bid proposals ("GIP Alternative Bid") under this RFP that assume the transmission upgrade project(s) submitted under the GIP are developed. The GIP Alternative Bid should include two pricing alternatives: (1) the price assuming that the GIP project is successfully developed; and (2) the price assuming the GIP project is not successfully developed. The Evaluation Team will evaluate, score, and rank the GIP Alternative Bid using the price assuming that the GIP project is successfully developed. The GIP Alternative Bid price assuming the GIP is not successfully developed may be evaluated as a sensitivity in Stage Three.

If any projects submitted by DOER to the GIP are selected for a funding award by the U.S. DOE, DOER will issue a second Notice to Bidders at least 60 days prior to the bid submission deadline with further details about the awarded projects to allow Bidders to integrate the project into a potential GIP Alternative Bid.

#### 2.2.1.11 Deliverability Constraint Analysis

In addition to the studies and analyses provided pursuant to Section 2.2.1.9, above, bidders must also provide the additional deliverability constraint analysis described in Appendix I. Unlike the studies and analyses required by Section 2.2.1.9, the Appendix I constraint analysis required under this section is required for informational purposes, and bidders are not required to identify Network Upgrades or change other aspects of their bids to address any issues disclosed by this analysis, which is intended to identify constraints or potential constraints to help inform the Evaluation Team's quantitative modeling, including its understanding of general transmission issues.

The requirements of the analysis described in Appendix I are based in part on existing clean energy projects under contract in New England. If the status of any existing contract changes during the bid development period, modifications of the study requirements may be necessary. In such a situation, the Evaluation Team will issue a Notice to Bidders at least 60 days prior to the bid submission deadline detailing the modified study requirements.

## 2.2.1.12 Proposal Completeness: Bidder Response Forms, Form PPAs, Form Commitment Agreement, and Form MOU

Bidders must follow the instructions provided in Appendix A to this RFP and provide complete responses. Bidders are also required to fill out Appendix C to this RFP. Bidders are required to provide the information specified in each section of the CPPD. If any of the information requested is inconsistent with the type of technology or product proposed, the bidder should include "N/A" and describe the basis for this determination.

Appendices B-1 and B-2 to this RFP are the Form PPAs for this solicitation. Bidders must submit with their proposals marked versions of the Form PPAs showing their specific proposed changes to the Form PPAs. The marked Form PPAs should reflect any proposed phases of the project and/or need for multiple contracts (if a Bidder proposes two contracts for two phases, the markup should include both contracts). Bidders must submit any proposed changes to the Commitment Agreement or affirm its willingness to accept the form agreement as is. Bidders are discouraged from proposing any material changes or conditions to the Form PPAs and the Commitment Agreement, and the Distribution Companies have no obligation to accept any specific proposed changes or conditions.

Appendix L to this RFP is the Form Economic Development MOU with DOER and MassCEC for this solicitation. Bidders must submit with their proposals marked versions of the Form MOU showing any specific proposed changes to the Form MOU. Bidders are discouraged from proposing any material changes or conditions to the Form MOU and any such changes will be considered in the Stage Two Qualitative Evaluation. DOER and MassCEC reserve the right to propose and negotiate additional provisions with any selected Bidder to the Form MOU based on the specifics of the commitments outlined in the bid package for a selected project.

#### 2.2.1.13 Bid Fees

Each applicant must submit the bid fee by the Confidential Proposal Submission Deadline for each proposed eligible project as described in Section 1.7.1 of this RFP.

#### 2.2.2 Threshold Requirements

Proposals that meet all the eligibility requirements will be evaluated to determine compliance with threshold requirements, which attempt to screen out proposals that are insufficiently mature from a project development perspective; lack technical viability; impose unacceptable balance sheet impacts on the Distribution Companies; do not satisfy the minimum requirements set forth in Section 83C; are not in compliance with RFP requirements; or fail to satisfy minimum standards for bidder experience and ability to finance the proposed project. The threshold requirements for this RFP are set forth below.

#### 2.2.2.1 Site Control and Related Agreements

The bidder must demonstrate that it has a federal lease issued on a competitive basis after

January 1, 2012, for an Offshore Wind Energy Generation site that is located on the Outer Continental Shelf and for which no turbine is located within 10 miles of any inhabited area. Further, the bidder must demonstrate that it has a valid lease, or option to lease, for marine terminal facilities necessary for staging and deployment of major project components to the project site. The bidder must also detail the proposed interconnection site and both the off-shore and the on-shore routes and describe what rights the bidder has to both as well as provide a detailed plan and timeline for the acquisition of any additional necessary rights. The bidder may identify alternative offshore and onshore routes to the proposed delivery point(s), describing the factors relevant to which route(s) will be ultimately selected. For each route the bidder must: (i) specifically describe the portions of the route for which the bidder has acquired sufficient rights to locate its Offshore Delivery Facilities proposed under section 2.2.1.3,26 above, and associated onshore transmission and interconnection facilities, and (ii) provide a reasonable and achievable detailed plan (with a timeline) to acquire sufficient rights to the remainder of the necessary Offshore Delivery Facilities and onshore transmission and interconnection routes and locations. The required information and documentation shall include the following:

- i. Plans, including a map of the Offshore Wind Energy Generation site, a map showing the location of the marine terminal facility, the proposed water routes to the project site, a map of the proposed interconnection that includes the path from the Offshore Wind Energy Generation site to the onshore interconnection location, and all on-shore transmission and interconnection locations and details and associated Offshore Delivery Facilities. Maps should be of scales allowing identification of significant marine and terrestrial features, e.g., shellfish management areas, parks, highways, etc.;
- ii. A description and listing of all government-issued permits, approvals, and authorizations that have been obtained or need to be obtained for the use and operation of the Offshore Wind Energy Generation site, the proposed onshore interconnection and transmission locations, and associated Offshore Delivery Facilities and the location(s) of such facilities. Provide copies of any permits, approvals, and authorizations obtained, and a detailed plan and timeline to secure the remaining permits, approvals, and authorizations for all offshore and onshore routes;
- iii. A copy of each of the leases, agreements, easements, and related documents granting the right to use the Offshore Wind Energy Generation site, the marine terminal for deployment of major project components, and, if available, the transmission and interconnection locations (and applicable letters of intent if formal agreements have not been executed);
- iv. A copy of each of the related leases, agreements, easements, and related documents that have been obtained for the route of the Offshore Delivery Facilities proposed under section 2.2.1.3. above (and applicable letters of intent if

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Thus, site control information as described in this section must be provided for all Offshore Delivery Facilities associated with the bid.

formal agreements have not been executed); and,

v. A description of the area surrounding any land-based project area, including the marine terminal for deployment of major project components and all transmission and interconnection facility locations, and a copy of each of the related leases, agreements, easements, and related documents that have been obtained (and applicable letters of intent if formal agreements have not been executed).

#### 2.2.2.2 Technical and Logistical Viability

The bidder must demonstrate that the technology it proposes to use is technically viable. Technical viability may be demonstrated by showing that the technology is commercially available, is reasonably expected to be commercially available prior to the commencement of project construction or has been used successfully as outlined in Section 8 of Appendix A to this RFP.

The bidder must demonstrate the logistical viability of the project through a construction plan covering the necessary specialized equipment (e.g., vessels), applicable maritime law (e.g., the Jones Act), and local port facilities to complete project deployment.

#### 2.2.2.3 Ability to Finance the Proposed Project

The bidder must also demonstrate the financial viability of the proposed eligible project, including the funding of development costs and the required development period security, the reasonableness of the transmission/network upgrades project scope and cost estimates, and the ability to acquire the required equipment in the time frame proposed (see Section 5 of Appendix A to this RFP).

The bidder must describe the assumptions made regarding forecast changes in project costs during the contract term, interest rates over the development period, key input commodity prices, and the methodology used to establish the project contingency amount. Bidder must explain why these assumptions are reasonable and describe and quantify how the project as proposed is designed to absorb sufficient risk to ensure the project can be successfully financed at the proposed price, including the Indexing Adjustment. This may include reviewing the dollar value and percent of the total project cost represented by the project contingency amount as well as description of the methodology used to establish this project contingency amount.

The bidder must also provide history of any financial difficulties by the bidder or any of its past or present affiliates which impaired the viability and/or financing of the development and construction of projects of similar type, size, and complexity of the proposed eligible project or other large scale renewable energy project, including any past terminated projects and claims of financial difficulties. The bidder must demonstrate how the proposed eligible project materially differs from any past projects and demonstrate fully the financial viability of the project as bid.

#### 2.2.2.4 Bidder Experience

The bidder must demonstrate that it has sufficient relevant experience and expertise, as applicable, to successfully develop, finance, construct, and operate and maintain its proposed eligible project. Development, financing, and construction experience can be established by demonstrating that key member(s) of the bidder's development team have undertaken project management responsibilities, including:

- 1. Successful development and construction of a similar type of project; or
- 2. Successful development and construction of one or more projects of similar size or complexity or requiring similar skill sets; or
- 3. Experience successfully financing power generation or transmission projects (or demonstrating the financial means to finance the eligible project on the bidder's, eligible project developer's or eligible project owner's balance sheet).

The bidder should also demonstrate that it has relevant experience supporting similar projects in a state or federal regulatory or judicial forum. This experience can be established with examples of one or more key member(s) of the development team advocating in favor of a similar project in a regulatory proceeding, before a court, or in another tribunal. Also, if the bidder or any of its past or present affiliates has either (1) been involved with a complex development project that failed, was withdrawn, or otherwise did not proceed, or (2) defaulted under, or agreed to terminate a contract for a complex development project, then the bidder should provide relevant details. Operations and maintenance experience should be addressed as outlined in Section 11 of Appendix A to this RFP.

#### 2.2.2.5 Providing Enhanced Electricity Reliability within the Commonwealth

Section 83C requires that the proposed project must demonstrate that it will "provide enhanced electricity reliability, system safety and energy security." This requirement can be satisfied by the bidder's agreement not to commit any qualifying capacity to any control area other than ISO-NE, even if capacity is not included in its bid, as described above. Bidders may provide other demonstrations that will be considered in determining whether this threshold requirement is satisfied.

#### 2.2.2.6 Contribution to Reducing Winter Electricity Price Spikes

The project must demonstrate that the proposed project will contribute to reducing winter electricity price spikes.

# 2.2.2.7 Avoid Line Loss and Mitigating Transmission Costs to the Extent Possible and Ensuring that Transmission Cost Overruns, if any, are not Borne by Ratepayers

The proposed project must demonstrate its approach to avoiding line loss. Section 83C requires that any transmission cost overruns are not to be borne by ratepayers, which can

be satisfied by submitting a compliant bid in response to this RFP.

#### 2.2.2.7.1 Abandonment Costs

Under no circumstances will the Distribution Companies be responsible for any abandoned plant costs or liability.

### 2.2.2.8 Adequately Demonstrate Project Viability in a Commercially Reasonable Timeframe

A bidder must demonstrate that its proposal can be developed, permitted, financed, and constructed within a commercially reasonable timeframe.

The proposal must include a schedule with reasonable detail that demonstrates that the bidder has provided sufficient time for the application for, and receipt of, necessary permits, approvals, other commitments, project financing, completion of design work, and equipment procurement and construction in order to credibly complete the project consistent with the proposed Commercial Operation Date, meaning that the project is more likely than not to come online by the date that is projected within the proposal. The bidder should include critical milestones in its markup to the Form PPAs that are consistent with its proposal and are reasonably achievable.

#### 2.2.2.9 Contribution to Employment; Economic Development Benefits

Section 83C requires that a proposed project where feasible, create and foster economic development and quality, high-demand jobs in the Commonwealth. This requirement can be satisfied, for example, by demonstration via a showing of:

- 1. Employment benefits associated with the proposed project; or,
- 2. Other economic development benefits associated with the proposed project.

The Evaluation Team will consider a broad range of other economic development benefits that could be achieved by a proposed project. The proposal shall include a timeline of the short-term and long-term economic development benefits. The bidder must provide factual support for its employment and economic development projections and reflect any associated commitments in agreements with applicable governmental and nongovernmental entities.

Bidders committing to economic development benefits with specific commitments (e.g., specific grants or specific commitments to industries) that are included in the proposal but not reflected in agreements at the time of bidding will be required to negotiate and execute a contractual commitment (e.g., Memorandum of Understanding) with the applicable governmental entity or entities to ensure that the economic benefits are actually obtained and tracked. This contractual commitment will be required before the related Long-Term Contract(s) resulting from this solicitation are executed by the

Distribution Companies. Additionally, bidders will be required to negotiate and execute a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with DOER and MassCEC based on the Form MOU provided in Appendix L to memorialize the economic development commitments made in the bid package.

#### 2.2.2.10 Utilizing an Appropriate Tracking System to Account and Enable for GWSA Goals

The proposed project must demonstrate that it will utilize an appropriate tracking system to ensure a unit specific accounting of the delivery of Offshore Wind Energy Generation, to enable the Department of Environmental Protection, in consultation with the DOER, to accurately measure progress in achieving the Commonwealth's goals under Chapter 298 of the Acts of 2008 or Chapter 21N of the General Laws.

#### 2.2.2.11 Environmental and Fisheries Mitigation Plan

Section 83C requires that a proposed project include an initial environmental and fisheries mitigation plan for the construction and operation of such offshore wind facilities, including consideration of commercial, recreational and indigenous fishing rights. The plan shall include, but shall not be limited to: a detailed description of the best management practices and any on-site or off-site mitigation the applicant shall employ, informed by the latest science at the time the plan is made, that will avoid, minimize and mitigate impacts to wildlife, including, but not limited to: threatened or endangered species such as North Atlantic right whales, coastal and marine habitats; natural resources; ecosystems; and traditional or existing water-dependent uses, including, but not limited to, commercial and recreational fishing. The plan shall include pre-construction and post-construction monitoring to understand the effects of facilities on marine and avian species.

Section 83C also requires that the project must mitigate impacts to the marine environment by providing financial and technical assistance to support robust monitoring of wildlife and habitat through contributions to regional and tribal research efforts.

## 2.2.2.12 Benefits to Environmental Justice Populations and Low-Income Ratepayers in the Commonwealth

Section 83C requires that projects include benefits to environmental justice<sup>27</sup> populations and low-income ratepayers in the Commonwealth. The strengths of these benefits and robustness of the commitments shall be evaluated based on the criteria outlined in more detail in the Qualitative Evaluation section. Additionally, bidders will be required to negotiate and execute a Memorandum of Understanding ("MOU") with DOER based on the Form MOU provided in Appendix L to memorialize the commitments made in the bid package related to Environmental Justice and low-income ratepayer benefits.

#### 2.2.2.13 Diversity, Equity and Inclusion

<sup>27</sup> As defined in the EEA Environmental Justice Policy, see: https://www.mass.gov/service-details/environmental-justice-policy

Section 83C requires that projects include opportunities for diversity, equity and inclusion, including, at a minimum, a workforce diversity plan and a supplier diversity program plan. The strengths of these benefits and robustness of the commitments shall be evaluated based on the criteria outlined in more detail in the Qualitative Evaluation section.

Offshore wind developers may consult with MassCEC as established in Section 19 of Chapter 179 of the Acts of 2022 in the development of diversity, equity and inclusion opportunity provisions within their proposals and MassCEC shall provide the offshore wind developer with feedback and recommendations.

Additionally, bidders will be required to negotiate and execute an MOU with DOER and MassCEC based on the Form MOU provided in Appendix L to memorialize the commitments made in the Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Plan and provide mechanisms to report on progress on the Plan to MassCEC. Any selected bidders under this RFP will be required to provide MassCEC with complete, unredacted versions of their Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Plans following selection.

#### 2.2.2.14 Security Requirements

Proposals that are selected will be required to post security.

The required level of development period security for each Long-Term Contract is \$80,000 multiplied by the Contract Maximum Amount (as defined in the Draft Contract, Appendix B-1 and B-2 to this RFP) in MW for the generation unit. Additional security will be required if the bidder or its affiliate has previously defaulted on or terminated a power purchase agreement prior to commercial operation. The entire (100%) of the security must be provided at the time of contract execution. Security will be returned if the DPU does not approve the Long-Term Contract, so long as Bidder supports regulatory approval of the Long-Term Contract.

If a project is being developed in phases and under separate contracts, additional security equal to \$75,000/MW per Long Term Contract shall be required to secure the completion of all phases, to be provided at commercial operation of the first phase of the project and remain in place until all phases are complete.

Upon a project achieving commercial operation, the required level of security will decrease to \$40,000 multiplied by the Contract Maximum Amount (in MW) for the generation unit.

The Distribution Companies will not provide any financial security or parent guaranty under any circumstances.

The required security must be in the form of a letter of credit from a U.S. commercial

bank or the U.S. branch of a foreign bank, in either case having (i) assets on its most recent balance sheet of at least \$10 billion and (ii) a credit rating of at least A3/A-. More detail on the security requirements is included in the Form PPAs.

#### 2.2.2.15 Unreasonable Balance Sheet Impacts

A Distribution Company may decline to pursue a contract if the contract's terms and conditions would result in a contract obligation that places an unreasonable burden on the Distribution Company's balance sheet after consultation with DOER. However, Distribution Companies shall take all reasonable actions to structure contracts, pricing or administration of the products purchased to prevent or mitigate impacts on the balance sheet or income statement of the Distribution Company or its parent company, subject to approval of the DPU. Mitigation of these measures must not increase costs to ratepayers. Each Distribution Company retains the right to make such a determination based upon the evaluation of particular proposals.

#### 2.2.2.16 Facilitate Financing of Offshore Wind Energy Generation

Proposals that seek to qualify for consideration under Section 83C must demonstrate that the proposal advances the goal of Section 83C for the selection of cost-effective Long-Term Contracts that facilitate the financing of Offshore Wind Energy Generation resources. The bidder should specify how Long-Term Contracts resulting from this RFP process would either permit it to finance a project proposed in response to this RFP that would otherwise not be financeable or assist it in obtaining financing for its project.

#### 2.3 Stage Two—Quantitative and Qualitative Analysis

Proposals that meet the requirements of Stage One will be subject to a quantitative and qualitative analysis in Stage Two, evaluating the costs and benefits of each proposal as a mechanism to procure reliable renewable energy on a long-term basis to the benefit of ratepayers. The results of the quantitative and qualitative analyses will be a relative ranking and scoring of all proposals. Stage Two scoring will be based on a 100-point scale. Proposals will be scored with up to 70 points for quantitative factors and up to 30 points for qualitative factors for purposes of conducting the Stage Two evaluation. The 30 points for qualitative factors will be split between 15 points for Economic Development and Project Impact criteria and 15 points for Bidder Experience and Project Viability criteria. The assessment of qualitative points for the Bidder Experience and Project Viability criteria may include both positive and/or negative points, up to 10 negative points in total, and may result in a score above and/or below zero.

As part of the Evaluation, a separate numeric score for each bid's economic development commitments and for plans for financial and technical assistance to support wildlife and habitat monitoring will be generated by the Evaluation Team during the Qualitative Evaluation.

#### 2.2.3 Quantitative Evaluation

Proposals will be evaluated on their direct and indirect economic and environmental costs and benefits to ratepayers as detailed in the following sections. Any Indexed Price Bids will be evaluated and ranked separately from non-indexed bids in the Stage Two quantitative evaluation using the unadjusted bid price. The Indexed Price Bids with up to 15% increase or decrease will be evaluated as part of the Stage Three evaluation.

#### 2.2.3.1 Direct Contract Costs & Benefits

Proposals will be evaluated on both direct contract price costs and benefits and other costs and benefits as outlined below to retail consumers. Direct contract price costs and benefits for evaluation may include, but may not be limited to:

- i. Offshore Wind Energy Generation will be evaluated on a mark-to-market comparison of the price of any eligible Offshore Wind Energy Generation under a contract to projected market prices at the delivery point with the project in-service;
- ii. RPS Class I eligible RECs from the Offshore Wind Energy Generation resources projected to be used for RPS and Clean Energy Standard compliance by the Distribution Companies or Massachusetts retail electric suppliers will be evaluated using a comparison of the contract prices of such RECs to the avoided REC prices projected for the market without the proposed project in-service. Any RPS Class I eligible RECs from the Offshore Wind Energy Generation resources projected to be in excess of Massachusetts requirements will be valued using a comparison of the contract REC prices to the projected REC market prices with the proposed project in-service;
- iii. Offshore Wind Energy generation resources will be evaluated on the value of their ability to produce and supply CPECs to meet customer needs if such value is reliably quantifiable and meaningful; and
- iv. The direct benefits of any applicable Energy Storage System will be evaluated in accordance with (i), (ii) and (iii) above.

#### 2.2.3.2 Other Costs & Benefits to Retail Consumers

The quantitative evaluation process will include an evaluation of additional economic and environmental costs and benefits of the proposals to ratepayers in the Commonwealth, which may include, but may not be limited to:

- i. The impacts of changes in LMP paid by ratepayers in the Commonwealth, taking into consideration contracts already executed by the Distribution Companies;
- ii. The impacts on RPS and/or Clean Energy Standard compliance costs paid by ratepayers in the Commonwealth;
- iii. Additional impacts, if any, from the proposal on the Commonwealth's GHG emission rates and overall ability to meet GWSA requirements will be evaluated using an economic proxy value for their contribution to GWSA requirements, as

determined by the Evaluation Team;

- iv. Indirect impacts, if any and to the extent the Evaluation Team determines such impacts are reliably quantifiable, for retail ratepayers on the capacity or ancillary services market prices with the proposed project in service;
- v. The impact on contributing to reducing winter electricity price spikes;
- vi. Indirect impacts for retail ratepayers on CPEC market prices, if any and to the extent the Evaluation Team determines such impacts are reliably quantifiable and meaningful, with the proposed project in service; and
- vii. Indirect impacts from additional project capacity under agreement for contract to third-party off-takers (e.g., businesses, nonprofit organizations, municipalities or municipal aggregations).

The reference case system topology will be based on the most recent ISO New England Capacity, Energy, Load and Transmission ("CELT") report. The evaluation process will include an evaluation of benefits using the outputs from an electric market simulation model or models.

#### 2.2.3.3 Ouantitative Evaluation Metrics

The quantitative evaluation will use as the quantitative evaluation metric real levelized dollars per megawatt-hour (\$/MWh), or another metric to be determined by the Evaluation Team prior to evaluation of the bids. For purposes of computing the net benefits for each proposal, a discount factor of 6.59% will be used, which is the weighted average value of the Distribution Companies' cost of capital. For purposes of comparing bids of different sizes, the Evaluation Team may determine an estimate of avoided costs of Offshore Wind Energy Generation that might be procured in the future (under Section 83C) for proposals that are less than the maximum amount remaining of the statutory requirement under Section 83C.

The Offshore Wind Energy Generation production/delivery profile provided by the bidder will be evaluated for reasonableness. The Evaluation Team and the Evaluation Team Consultant will also evaluate the reasonableness of cost estimates associated with transmission system upgrades. The bidder is responsible for providing support for the basis for all estimates and underlying assumptions. The Evaluation Team reserves the right to adjust any bidder production/delivery profile or estimated cost (i.e., use a different profile or additional transmission system upgrade costs that may be required to ensure full delivery of energy, and RECs to the Distribution Companies) or any other estimate in order to produce a reasonable and appropriate evaluation. Proposals that fail to provide sufficient supporting documentation or information necessary to produce a reasonable and appropriate evaluation.

#### 2.2.4 Qualitative Evaluation

The qualitative evaluation will consist of the factors mandated by Section 83C as well as factors deemed important by the Evaluation Team as detailed below. All qualitative criteria, including the economic development commitments and the plans for financial

and technical assistance to support wildlife and habitat monitoring, will be reviewed, evaluated, and given a separate numeric score by the Evaluation Team.

The Qualitative Evaluation will allocate up to thirty (30) total points as part of the Stage Two Evaluation, of which up to fifteen (15) points will be allocated to Bidder Experience and Project Viability criteria and up to fifteen (15) points will be allocated to Economic Development and Project Impact criteria. The assessment of qualitative points for the Bidder Experience and Project Viability criteria may include both positive and/or negative points, up to 10 negative points in total, and may result in a score above and/or below zero.

#### **Economic Development and Project Impact Criteria (15 points)**

#### 2.2.4.1 Economic Benefits to the Commonwealth

Description of how the project will maximize, to the extent feasible, economic development and employment contributions to the Commonwealth. Proposals must, where feasible, create and foster economic development and quality, high-demand jobs in the Commonwealth. Proposals will be subject to review by EOHED.

Preference shall be given to projects which demonstrate benefits from:

- Direct, specific and measurable employment and contracting benefits associated with the proposed project, including descriptions of the type, duration, and salary bands of employment created.
- Employment opportunities for members of federally recognized and state acknowledged tribes in the Commonwealth, workers from low-income communities and certified minority-owned and women-owned small business enterprises in the Commonwealth, as well residents of any Environmental Justice neighborhoods impacted by the project;
- Investment in workforce development to support the offshore wind industry, which may include partnerships with proximate vocational and technical schools, community colleges, labor groups, and community- based organizations to create paid training, internship, apprenticeship programs and educational programs paired with transitional work opportunities.
- Community Benefits Agreements and workforce agreements that support workforce harmony and community benefits, with appropriate labor organizations for construction, renovation, reconstruction, alteration, installation, demolition, expansion, maintenance and repair.
- Direct and reasonably certain commitments made on or after July 1, 2022, to capital investments in the manufacture, fabrication and assembly within the commonwealth of domestic supply chain components of the offshore wind industry. Bidders are further directed to describe, if applicable, how the proposed supply chain investments are complementary to any other supply chain investments made by the parent company to support other offshore wind

- projects in the region.
- Utilization and investment in port facilities and infrastructure during project development, construction, and operation and maintenance of the project.
- Investment in offshore wind-related research and innovation initiatives or partnerships.
- Economic development activities and investments that directly benefit economically distressed areas and Environmental Justice populations, especially those directly impacted by the project.

Bidders should describe any plans to meet federal domestic content and labor requirements in order to maximize federal tax credits available to the project under the Inflation Reduction Act (IRA). Bidders should also describe plans to pursue state funding available to offshore wind projects through MassCEC.

Commitments will be evaluated on a scale relative to project size, credibility, and firmness. Preference will be given to commitments that secure long-term benefits; begin to provide benefits during project development, construction, installation, and the first five years of operations; direct benefits to Environmental Justice populations and host communities; and include a robust strategy to track and report progress on promised benefits to DOER and MassCEC following the template provided in the Form MOU (Appendix L).

#### 2.2.4.2 Low Income Ratepayers in the Commonwealth

- Minimization and mitigation, to the extent feasible, of ratepayer impacts;
- Creation of additional benefits to low-income communities and low-income ratepayers in the commonwealth, including opportunities for diversity, equity and inclusion.
- Demonstrated direct benefits to low-income communities and low-income ratepayers, which may include but is not limited to, as examples:
  - Projects that reduce the energy burden for low-income ratepayers through energy efficiency or renewable energy upgrades.
  - Direct funding of rate relief through grant programs, support of existing community programs or other funding opportunities.

#### 2.2.4.3 Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Plan

Demonstrated commitment to diversity, equity and inclusion, including employment and procurement/contracting opportunities, for minority, women, veterans, LGBT and persons with disabilities.

A diversity, equity and inclusion plan that includes, at a minimum, both a
Workforce Diversity Plan and a Supplier Diversity Program Plan described
below. The diversity, equity and inclusion plan should describe the proposed
strategy to actively promote access to employment and contracting

opportunities for, and to actively recruit, diverse workers, vendors, contractors, and investors, including certified minority-owned and women-owned small business enterprises in the Commonwealth, and include how the direct, specific and measurable employment and contracting benefits created by the proposed project provides employment and procurement/contracting opportunities for minority, women, veterans, LGBT, members of federally recognized and state acknowledged tribes in the Commonwealth, workers from low-income communities, and persons with disabilities.

- Workforce Diversity Plan: Include descriptions of each of the type, duration, and salary bands of the employment created and identify the recruitment efforts aimed at hiring diverse candidates for these employment opportunities;
- Supplier Diversity Program (SDP) Plan: Include descriptions of the subcontracting, vendor, investor, and ancillary (operational) business opportunities that will be provided by diverse businesses if the bidder is awarded Long Term Contracts. In the development of the Supplier Diversity Program Plan, bidders may consult with the Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office (SDO) in order to determine the identity of businesses that may be able to assist them in achieving the commitments they will include in their bid submission.

#### 2.2.4.4 Environmental and Socioeconomic Impacts from Siting

Bids will be evaluated and given a separate numeric score for: Environmental Impacts from Siting; Socioeconomic Impacts from Siting (including the Fisheries Mitigation Plan); and Environmental Justice Impacts. Evaluation will include consideration of the factors listed below as well as the criteria listed in Appendix J.

- Extent to which the project will mitigate, minimize, and avoid detrimental environmental and socioeconomic impacts, including through meaningful consultation with impacted environmental and socioeconomic stakeholders, including federally recognized and state acknowledged tribes and commercial and recreational fishing;
- Extent to which the project mitigates impacts on the marine environment by providing financial and technical assistance to support robust monitoring of wildlife and habitat through contributions to regional and tribal research efforts.
- Extent to which the project demonstrates that it avoids, minimizes, or mitigates, to the maximum extent practicable, negative impacts on Environmental Justice Populations and host communities, and extent to which the project directs positive benefits to those communities.

#### 2.2.4.5 Experience and Track Record of the Bidder

- Relative experience and expertise of the bidder and eligible project team to successfully develop, finance, construct, and operate and maintain its proposed eligible project on schedule and according to a developer's commitments to a competitive procurement process.
- Bidder and eligible project team's experience in supporting similar projects in a state or federal regulatory or judicial forum.
- Bidder's track record in developing similar projects, including consideration of any project that has been delayed, failed, substantively amended, defaulted under, withdrawn, agreed to termination, or otherwise did not proceed, including on prior longterm contracts.
- Continuity of corporate management through successful project development.

#### 2.2.4.6 Siting, Permitting, Project Schedule, and Financing Plan

- Credibility of plan to obtain required permit approvals, including the extent to which opposition to the project materially affects the ability of the project to obtain timely final approval.
- Demonstrated progress in the interconnection process and credibility of the proposed interconnection schedule.
- Credibility of project schedule and construction plan, including the schedule and construction plan for associated interconnection facilities and transmission system upgrades, and ability to achieve proposed commercial operation date(s).
- Prior failures to achieve commercial operation dates under other PPAs and credible description of how the current proposed project will avoid similar project delays or development issues.
- Credibility of the proposed commercial operation date and ability of bidder to demonstrate that the project is more likely than not to come online by the date that is projected within the proposal, as evidenced by documents filed by the bidder showing the following:
  - (a) Commencement of permitting processes;
  - (b) A plan for completing all permitting processes;
  - (c) Viable resource assessment;
  - (d) Environmental assessment;
  - (e) Viable financing plans along with detailed information requested in 2.2.2.3;
  - (f) Viable installation and electrical interconnection plans;
  - (g) Material progress towards the acquisition of all real property rights; and
  - (h) Evidence of material vendor activity.

Other considerations for establishing a credible operation date include:

- (a) Bidder experience including information requested in 2.2.2.4
- (b) Assignment of an ISO-NE interconnection queue position; and
- (c) Bidder's ability to secure the financing necessary to complete the project by the proposed date, and consideration of the bidder's experience of financing difficulties with large scale renewable energy projects.
- Identification of required federal, regional, state, and local permits and progress in the associated application and approval processes.
- Credibility and status of proposed financing plan and details of any financial difficulties which negatively impacted project viability and/or development, including descriptions of how the current proposed project will avoid similar issues.
- Credibility of plan to finance and construct the project at the proposed project price, including assessment of the reasonableness of the assumptions applied by Bidder regarding inflation rates, interest rates, and key commodity and input costs.
- Extent to which project scope, including interconnection facilities and associated upgrades, and costs are known or estimates are reasonable.
- Status and completeness of project stakeholder engagement plan, including demonstrated evidence of past and current productive relationships with project stakeholders.

#### 2.2.4.7 Firm Delivery & Energy Storage Benefits

- Extent to which resources able to guarantee Firm Energy Delivery.
- Extent to which project provides benefits from energy storage, including new and existing mid-duration and long-duration energy storage systems.

#### 2.2.4.8 Reliability Benefits

Extent to which the project provides enhanced electricity reliability within the Commonwealth including but not limited to providing benefits to the forward capacity market.

#### 2.2.4.9 Additional Long-Term Contracts with Third Parties

Extent to which the project includes commitments to enter into long-term contracts to purchase offshore wind energy with businesses, nonprofit organizations, a municipality or group of municipalities with an approved municipal load aggregation plan pursuant to section 134 of chapter 164 of the General Laws or other government entities directly or through an aggregation pursuant to section 137 of said chapter 164.

Commitments must be firm with executed agreements with the offtaker, provided that such agreements may be contingent on the project being selected for contracting under this RFP.

#### 2.2.4.10 Benefits, Costs, and Contract Risk

- Extent to which the bidder accepts provisions of the Form PPAs and the draft Commitment Agreement or shifts risks or costs to buyers and their customers.
- Any additional benefit, cost, or risk identified by Evaluation Team that is determined to be reasonably likely to occur but is not reasonably quantifiable.

The quantitative evaluation may be conducted before the qualitative evaluation, and the Evaluation Team may elect not to conduct the qualitative evaluation for any proposal that could not be selected based upon the quantitative results even if it could receive the maximum possible qualitative score. The Evaluation Team will determine which proposals proceed to Stage Three following the Stage Two evaluation based on the following considerations: (1) the rank order of the proposals at the end of the Stage Two evaluation; (2) the cost effectiveness of the proposals based on the Stage Two quantitative and qualitative evaluation; and (3) the total MW quantities of the proposal(s), relative to the procurement target.

#### 2.4 Stage Three

As stated in Section 83C, a proposal received pursuant to a solicitation under this section shall be subject to review by the DOER and the EOHED in consultation with the Independent Evaluator, and the Distribution Companies shall offer technical advice. DOER, in consultation with the Independent Evaluator, must select Long-Term Contracts that are cost-effective mechanisms for procuring reliable renewable energy on a long-term basis for the benefit of ratepayers. The Stage Three evaluation of remaining bids will be based on the Stage Two quantitative and qualitative evaluation criteria and, at the Evaluation Team's discretion, the following additional factors:

- Past experience with the bidder and its affiliates in offshore wind solicitations, track record of the bidder in successfully executing projects similar to the proposal, and credibility of bidder to perform according to proposal specifications;
- The degree to which the proposal maximizes the use of and includes the contractual commitment to share federal or state tax credits, subsidies, or grants or other incentives as described in Section 2.2.1.4(h).
- Possible portfolio effects;
- Overall impact of the proposal on the Commonwealth's policy goals, as directed by the DOER, including GWSA goals and economic development;

- Risks associated with project viability of the proposal;
- A comparison to a reasonable range of data and analyses on expected offshore wind prices, industry costs, and the anticipated cost impact of future technologies as compared to procuring offshore wind in this solicitation;
- Minimization and mitigation of ratepayer bill impacts;
- Sensitivity analyses to evaluate how the benefits of the project or portfolio change based on applying different ranges of reasonable assumptions (including, but not limited to, e.g., reasonable assumptions regarding future electric load, natural gas prices, and/or environmental policy);
- For Indexed Price Bids, sensitivity and other analysis to evaluate the impact to net benefits and cost-effectiveness from applying the Indexing Adjustment to project pricing, forecasting to assess the risk or benefit to Massachusetts ratepayers from the Indexing Adjustment, and assessment of the impact of the Indexing Adjustment to project viability.
- If a Coordination Announcement is made, consideration of benefits to Massachusetts of a selection decision made in coordination with other New England states' procurements, which may include the benefits of equitably allocating costs to, and equitably sharing costs with, other states by contracting for a proportion of a proposal; and
- Any benefits, cost, or risks to customers that may not have been fully captured in the Stage Two evaluation; and, any other considerations, as appropriate, to ensure selection of the proposal(s), which provide the greatest impact and value consistent with the stated objectives and requirements of Section 83C, as set forth in this RFP.

The objective of Stage Three is to select the proposal(s) that provides the greatest impact and value consistent with the stated objectives and requirements of Section 83C, as set forth in this RFP. Generally, the Evaluation Team prefers viable, cost-effective projects with limited risk. However, the Evaluation Team recognizes that any particular project may not be ranked highly with respect to all of these considerations and the extent to which the stated RFP objectives will be satisfied will depend, in large part, on the particulars of the proposals that are submitted. The Evaluation Team will consider the relative merits of a proposal(s) that offers additional benefits, for example economic development benefits including additional manufacturing or innovation, as compared to other top-ranked proposals.

#### 2.5 Contracting/Tariff Process

#### 2.5.1 Contracts

Bidders will be notified by the DOER whether they have been selected to negotiate a Long-Term Contract. If a proposal is selected, the Distribution Company will negotiate to contract for its load ratio share. Contract finalization between the selected bidders and the Distribution Companies may occur on a rolling basis throughout the 196-day period during which the proposals are valid.

| National Grid | Eversource | Unitil |
|---------------|------------|--------|
| 45.17%        | 53.66%     | 1.17%  |

#### 2.5.2 MOU with DOER and MassCEC

Following notification of selection, Bidders will be expected to negotiate and execute a MOU with DOER and MassCEC based on the template provided in Appendix L to memorialize the commitments made in the bid package regarding economic development, environmental justice, and DEI Plans. Any selected bidders under this RFP will be required to provide MassCEC with complete, unredacted versions of their Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Plans following selection. The MOU must be executed prior to or simultaneously with the execution of the Long-Term Contracts with the Distribution Companies.

#### 2.6 Contract Negotiation Process

Bidders must be able to begin negotiations immediately upon notification of selection, including the resolution of any conflicts that their selected counsel or other representatives may have with respect to any of the Distribution Companies. The Distribution Companies expect to coordinate their negotiation of Long-Term Contracts with individual bidders, although there will be differences in the contracts that are specific to the contracting requirements of each Distribution Company. The bidders will enter into separate Long-Term Contracts with each Distribution Company with which they contract.

The total energy and/or RECs included in a successful bid will be allocated among the Distribution Companies based upon their total distribution loads in Massachusetts. The Distribution Companies reserve the right to seek improvements (including reduced prices) during the negotiations process with selected bidders.

#### 2.7 Regulatory Approval

The Distribution Companies' obligations to procure Offshore Wind Energy Generation are conditioned upon approval of the Long-Term Contracts, Rate Schedules, and Tariffs and associated cost recovery by the DPU in a form acceptable to the Distribution Companies. Once the parties have executed a Long-Term Contract, the Distribution Companies shall submit the executed Long-Term Contract to the DPU for approval.

In the case of rates that fall under federal authority, such charges are subject to the review and approval of FERC pursuant to the Federal Power Act. The Distribution Companies' obligations with respect to such rates are also conditioned upon approval of the associated cost recovery by the DPU in a form acceptable to the Distribution Companies.

It is the bidder's responsibility to identify and obtain all required regulatory approvals from the appropriate regulatory authorities. Any bidder requiring regulatory approval by a certain deadline must state that deadline in its proposal, and that deadline will be considered in assessing the overall viability of the eligible project.

#### 2.7.1 **DPU Regulatory Process**

Under Section 83C, the obligations of the Distribution Companies and the successful bidders to perform under each Long-Term Contract shall not become effective or binding until receipt of the approval of the DPU as described in Section 2.7 of this RFP except as they pertain to the contract obligations to provide the initial Development Security and to submit project updates on a timely basis and as otherwise specified in the Long-Term Contract. After a Distribution Company and successful bidder have executed a Long-Term Contract that satisfies the requirements of Section 83C as a result of this RFP process, the Distribution Company intends to submit the proposed Long-Term Contract to the DPU for review and approval within 45 days of execution, unless circumstances require a longer period to prepare the DPU filing materials. The successful bidder shall support the Distribution Company's efforts to obtain DPU approval.

The DPU has promulgated regulations at 220 C.M.R. § 23.00, et seq., setting forth the criteria for its review pursuant to the requirements of Section 83C. When evaluating a proposed Long-Term Contract under Section 83C, the DPU will consider the recommendations of the AGO, which must be submitted to the DPU within 45 days of the filing of the proposed Long-Term Contract.

Once the DPU issues an Order approving a Distribution Company's request for approval of an executed Long-Term Contract under Section 83C, the Distribution Company shall notify the bidder. Each Distribution Company shall have the opportunity to terminate the Long-Term Contract if the DPU's approval contains terms or conditions that are deemed to be unsatisfactory to the Distribution Company, in its sole discretion. Terms or conditions that may be unsatisfactory include, but are not limited to, denial of annual remuneration of 2.25 percent of the annual payments under the Long-Term Contract, which is required by Section 83C and is intended to compensate the Distribution Company for accepting the financial obligation of the Long-Term Contract at issue.

#### 2.7.2 FERC

Selected bidders must file any necessary Rate Schedules, Tariffs, and Agreements with FERC pursuant to the Federal Power Act and FERC regulations. FERC must accept the filing before the Rate Schedule, Tariff or Agreement can become effective.

#### 3. Instructions to Bidders

#### 3.1 Schedule for the RFP Process

The proposed schedule for the bidding process is set forth below in Chart 1. Any changes to the schedule, up to and including the due date for submission of proposals, will be posted at the Distribution Companies website, **MACleanEnergy.com**. The Evaluation Team reserves the right to revise the schedule as necessary. In addition, the Evaluation Team reserves the right to establish a schedule that is different than the one set forth in this RFP.

#### Chart 1 RFP Schedule

| Event  | <b>Anticipated Dates</b> |
|--|--------------------------|
| Issue RFP  | TBD, <sup>28</sup> 2023  |
| Bidders Conference   | TBD, 2023                |
| Deadline for Submission of Questions                         | TBD, 2023                |
| Due Date for Submission of Confidential and Public Proposals | January 31, 2024         |
| Selection of Projects/Commence Negotiations                  | June 12, 2024            |
| Execute Long Term Contracts and MOU with DOER                | August 14, 2024          |
| Submit Long Term Contracts for DPU Approval                  | September 18, 2024       |

#### 3.2 Prospective Bidders Conference; Prospective Bidder Questions

A Bidders Conference will be held for Prospective Bidders, and open to interested persons, approximately 2 weeks after the final RFP document is posted on **MACleanEnergy.com**. The purpose of the Bidders Conference is to provide the opportunity to clarify any aspects of this RFP for Prospective Bidders.

The Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office (SDO) will be invited to present at the Prospective Bidders conference to describe how interested bidders may seek consultation with SDO regarding their Supplier Diversity Program Plans. MassCEC will also be invited to present at the Prospective Bidders conference to describe how interested bidders may seek consultation with MassCEC regarding the development of diversity, equity, and inclusion opportunity provisions within their proposals.

Prospective Bidders are encouraged to submit written questions regarding this RFP to the Evaluation Team on or before the deadline for submission of questions listed in the schedule. The Evaluation Team will answer questions received from Prospective Bidders by that deadline and will post the questions and answers at MACleanEnergy.com.

Although the Evaluation Team may respond orally to questions posed at the Bidders Conference, only written answers that are provided in response to written questions will be official responses.

It is the Bidder's responsibility to check the website for news and updates.

#### 3.3 Preparation of Proposals

Each bidder shall have sole responsibility for carefully reviewing this RFP and all

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Following the issuance by the Department of a final Order approving the RFP. Determination of the date of a final Order shall be at the discretion of the RFP Drafting Parties.

attachments hereto and for thoroughly investigating and informing itself with respect to all matters pertinent to this RFP and its proposal, including pertinent ISO-NE tariffs and documents, market rules, and other information. Bidders should rely only on information provided in this RFP and any associated written updates (including official answers to written questions) when preparing their proposals. Each bidder shall be solely responsible for and shall bear all costs incurred in the preparation of its proposal and/or its participation in this RFP. Submission of proposals including confidential information shall be filed in accordance with Section 1.7 of the RFP.

#### 3.4 Organization of the Proposal

Bidders are required to organize their proposal consistent with the contents of the Bidder's Response Package in Appendix A to this RFP. The organization and contents of the proposal should be organized as follows:

- 1. Certification, Project and Pricing Data (CPPD form)
- 2. Executive Summary of the Proposal
- 3. Operational Parameters
- 4. Energy Resource and Delivery Plan
- 5. Financial/Legal
- 6. Siting, Interconnection, and Deliverability
- 7. Environmental Assessment, Permit Acquisition Plan, and Environmental Attributes Certification
- 8. Engineering and Technology; Commercial Access to Equipment
- 9. Project Schedule
- 10. Construction and Logistics
- 11. Operations and Maintenance
- 12. Project Management/Experience
- 13. Contribution to Employment and Economic Development and Other Direct and Indirect Benefits
- 14. Exceptions to Form PPAs
- 15. Exceptions to Commitment Agreement

#### 3.5 Updates to the Proposal

While bidders will not be permitted to refresh, restate, or reprice proposals except as provided below, bidders must provide updated information (e.g., the status of obtaining permits and financing) to the Evaluation Team about the eligible project that was not available at the time of their proposal submission. These updates are for informational purposes only and will not be treated as a change or revision to the terms of the bidder's proposal by the Evaluation Team. If there are material developments, favorable or unfavorable, that impact on a proposal or associated project, the bidder must promptly notify the Evaluation Team in writing. The Evaluation Team reserves the right to consider this information during evaluation.

While the Distribution Companies do not anticipate requesting bidders to refresh, restate, or reprice their bids, the Distribution Companies nevertheless reserve the right, at their sole discretion, to make such a request at any time during the RFP process, (e.g., upon the issuance of the Guidance as described below). In the absence of such a request, bidders may not refresh, restate, or reprice their bids for any reason.

#### 3.6 Modification or Cancellation of the RFP and Solicitation Process

The Distribution Companies may, at any time up to final award, postpone, withdraw and/or cancel this RFP; alter, extend or cancel any schedule date; and/or, alter, amend, withdraw and/or cancel any requirement, term or condition of this RFP, any and all of which shall be without any liability to DOER, the Independent Evaluator, or the Distribution Companies. If the U.S. Treasury Department issues implementing guidance relevant to offshore wind tax credits, available in the 2022 Inflation Reduction Act ("Guidance") after December 1, 2023, but before January 31, 2024, the bid submission deadline will be 60 days from the date of the implementing guidance issuance and all subsequent deadlines in the RFP will be extended by the same number of days for bidders to account for such tax credits in their prices. By submitting a bid, a bidder agrees that the sole recourse it may have, with respect to the conduct of this RFP, is by submission of a complaint or similar filing to the DPU in a relevant docket pertaining to this RFP. Additionally, a bidder agrees to take no action inconsistent with the foregoing limitation.

#### 3.7 Requests for Additional Information

Following the submission of proposals, the Evaluation Team or the Independent Evaluator may request clarification and additional information from bidders at any time during the evaluation process. Such information will be subject to public posting and protection of confidential information as described elsewhere in this RFP, consistent with other bid submission materials. Bidders that do not respond promptly to such information requests or do not provide adequate information may be eliminated from further consideration, or the Evaluation Team may make appropriate assumptions to produce a reasonable and appropriate evaluation.

#### 3.8 Limitation of Liability

Neither this RFP nor any other aspect of this solicitation shall create an agency, partnership, joint venture, or co-tenancy relationship among the members of the Evaluation Team, or any other individuals or entities involved in the development or administration of this RFP (collectively, the "RFP Parties"), nor any other relationship or liability beyond those (if any) explicitly adopted in writing and executed by authorized representatives of the applicable RFP Parties. None of the RFP Parties shall be liable for any act or omission of any other RFP Party. Neither this RFP nor any other aspect of this solicitation creates or is intended to create third-party beneficiaries hereunder. In no event will an RFP Party be liable to any person for special, incidental, punitive, exemplary, indirect or consequential damages or lost profits, whether by statute, in tort or contract or otherwise.

#### APPENDIX A: BIDDERS RESPONSE PACKAGE

### SECTION 83C

# REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL APPLICATION FORM

#### APPLICANT INFORMATION

Applicant: enter applicant Address: enter address Phone: enter phone

name Contact: enter name Email: enter email

# SECTION 1 OF APPENDIX A TO THE RFP CERTIFICATION, PROJECT AND PRICING DATA

The Certification, Project and Pricing Data ("CPPD") document is a Microsoft Excel workbook that is provided on the website at www.MACleanEnergy.com.

# SECTION 2 OF APPENDIX A TO THE RFP EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF THE PROPOSAL (INCLUDING THE BASE PROPOSAL AND ANY ALTERNATIVE PROPOSALS)

The bidder is required to provide an executive summary of the project proposal that includes a complete description of the proposed generation bid, the proposed contract term and pricing schedule, interconnection plan, the overall project schedule and other factors the bidder deems to be important. A table summarizing proposal(s) including details such as generation project location, interconnection location(s), capacity (MW), commercial operation date, pricing (\$/MWh), etc. is encouraged.

Enter executive summary here

#### SECTION 3 OF APPENDIX A TO THE RFP OPERATIONAL PARAMETERS

3.1 Maintenance Outage Requirements – Specify partial and complete planned outage requirements in weeks or days for all generation facilities and associated facilities required for the delivery of energy from the generation facilities to the delivery point. Also, list the number of months required for the cycle to repeat (e.g., list time interval of minor and major overhauls, and the duration of overhauls).

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

3.2 Operating Constraints – Specify all the expected operating constraints and operational restrictions for the project (e.g., limits on the number of hours a unit may be operated per year or unit of time).

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

3.3 Reliability – Describe how the proposal would provide enhanced electricity reliability, system safety and energy security to Massachusetts, including its impact on transmission constraints.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

- 3.4 Moderation of System Peak Load Describe how the proposal would contribute to moderating system peak load requirements and provide the following information:
  - i) Estimated average output for each summer period (June- September) from 3:00 7:00 pm
  - ii) Estimated average output for each winter period (October-May) from 4:00 9:00 pm

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

#### SECTION 4 OF APPENDIX A TO THE RFP ENERGY RESOURCE AND DELIVERY PLAN

4.1 For Eligible Facilities, the bidder is required to provide an energy resource plan and a production/delivery profile for its proposed project, including supporting documentation. The energy resource and profile information should be consistent with the type of technology/resource option proposed and the term proposed. Bidders should respond to all information requests which are relevant to the bid in a timely manner.

#### **All Projects**

Provide a summary of all collected wind data for the proposed site. Identify when and how (e.g. meteorological mast or LiDAR – for "Light Detection and Ranging") the data was collected and by whom.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

Indicate where the data was collected and its proximity to the proposed facility site. Include an identification of the location and height for the anemometers and/or "range gate" heights for sensing by LiDAR that were used to arrive at an assessment of the site generation capability.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

Describe any additional wind data collection efforts that are planned or ongoing.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

Provide (a) at least one year of hourly wind resource data. Real Data collected from the site is preferred, though projected data is permissible. Methodology must also be included. and (b) a wind resource assessment report for the proposed facility from a qualified unaffiliated third-party wind resource assessment firm. Include an analysis of the available wind data which addresses the relationship between wind conditions and electrical output. Provide a projection of net annual energy production, including projections of average net hourly energy production, based on the wind resource data (hourly 8760 data profile and a 12 x 24 energy projection) at both P50 and P90 levels.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

Provide a site-adjusted power curve. Each curve should list the elevation, temperature and air density used.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

Identify the assumptions for losses in the calculation of projected annual energy production, including each element in the calculation of losses.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

#### 4.2 Offshore Wind Energy Generation Delivery Plan

Please provide an energy delivery plan and a production/delivery profile for the proposed project, including supporting documentation. The energy delivery plan and production/delivery profile must provide the expected Offshore Wind Energy Generation to be delivered into the ISO-NE market settlement system and permit the Evaluation Team to determine the reasonableness of the projections for purposes of Sections 2.2.1.3 Eligible Bids and 2.2.1.8 Capacity Requirements, and 2.2.1.9 Interconnection and Delivery Requirements of the RFP. Such information should be consistent with the energy resource plan and production/delivery profile provided above and also considering any and all constraints to delivery into ISO-NE.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

#### 4.3 REC/Environmental Attribute Delivery Plan

Please provide documentation and information demonstrating that the project will Deliver GIS Certificates representing those RECs and any other Environmental Attributes, as applicable. Please describe whether transfer of all GIS Certificates is authorized under the current ISO-NE GIS rules and protocols, or if a rule or protocol change is required. To the extent such change is required, please provide details regarding the proposal and the process for implementing the change.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

#### 4.4 Additional Long-Term Contracts with Third-Parties

Please describe any commitments to enter into long-term contracts to purchase offshore wind energy with businesses, nonprofit organizations, a municipality or group of municipalities with an approved municipal load aggregation plan pursuant to section 134 of chapter 164 of the General Laws or other government entities directly or through an aggregation pursuant to section 137 of said chapter 164.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

Please describe the status of the commitments with any offtakers, including any executed agreements, provided that such agreements may be contingent on the project being selected for contracting under this RFP.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

| 4.5 | Energy Storage System Operations (if applicable) PROJECT SUMMARY: Please provide the |
|-----|--|
|     | following:   |

Identify if New or Existing Facility, or an upgrade to Existing Facility: \_\_\_\_\_ Technology Type

Point of Interconnection Deliverability Restrictions (if any)

Nameplate MW AC (at 100% project completion) Net Contract MW AC (at 100% project

completion) Storage Energy (MWh)

Discharge Duration (hours) Full Duty Cycle Efficiency (%)

Required Cycles per year/per day

Expected annual capacity degradation (%) Specific Battery Chemistry (if applicable)

Describe the operation of the proposed Energy Storage System: (i.e. run hour limitations, ramp rates, spinning reserves, regulation up, regulation down). Please provide proposed operational management terms that memorialize the operational commitments of the facility.

Describe the location of the Energy Storage System, the anticipated interconnection point, and the value of the relative proximity of the system to the Offshore Wind Energy Generation facility, including any decreased risk of curtailment and/or deferred investment for the Offshore Wind Energy Generation Facility

Describe the proposed technology and equipment manufacturer by name and model (include inverter characteristics if applicable).

Describe the viability and operational reliability of the proposed technology and track record of the manufacturer. Provide examples of similar applications of the same size and scope.

Please provide an energy delivery plan and production/delivery profile for the proposed project, including supporting documentation. This documentation may be either an hourly storage use schedule separately from the hourly wind production/delivery schedule, or the following parameters of the storage technology that will be used in conjunction with the bid: Charge rate (MW), Discharge rate (MW), Storage capacity (MWh), Round-trip efficiency (%). The energy production/delivery profile must provide the expected Offshore Wind Energy Generation to be delivered into the ISO-NE market settlement system by the Energy Storage System and permit the Evaluation Team to determine the reasonableness of your projections. Such information should be consistent with the energy resource plan provided above and also considering any and all constraints to physical delivery into ISO-NE.

Describe the operation of the Energy Storage System as it relates to ISO-NE's implementation of FERC Order No. 841, including whether the proposed Energy Storage System will be classified as a Binary Storage Facility or Continuous Storage Facility, the designation of the ISO-NE Markets that the Energy Storage System would participate in, and the plan to operate in multiple ISO-NE Markets.

Please list all anticipated revenue streams associated with the Energy Storage System

- For existing facilities,
  - describe existing operations, revenues, and participation in ISO-NE Markets
  - describe any planned changes in operation, participation in ISO-NE Markets, and revenue streams

Please describe (a) (i) the specific services and/or products that will be provided to the Distribution Companies due to the proposed operation of the Energy Storage System under your proposal and (ii) the specific costs to be paid by the

Distribution Companies through the power purchase agreement for such services and/or products and (b) a statement of how the proposal complies with RFP requirements.

Please describe any additional benefits the Energy Storage System may provide not captured in the benefits provided through the operational commitments, including but not limited to,

- any non-monetizable benefits including but not limited to price changes in capacity and ancillary services markets, reduction in future market needs such as reserves or ramping, and increased capacity rating for Offshore Wind Energy Generation facility
- Emission reductions associated with the operation of the Energy Storage System and providing emission-free resources to the ancillary service markets including reserves and frequency regulation
- Value of procuring the Energy Storage System at the same time and as paired with the Offshore Wind Energy Generation facility

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

#### SECTION 5 OF APPENDIX A OF THE RFP FINANCIAL/LEGAL

Bidders are required to demonstrate the financial viability of their proposed project. Bidders should provide the following information:

5.1 Please submit information and documentation that demonstrates that long term contracts resulting from this RFP Process would either permit the bidder to finance its proposal that would otherwise not be financeable, or assist the bidder in obtaining financing of its proposal.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

5.2 Please provide a description of the business entity structure of the bidder's organization from a financial and legal perspective, including all general and limited partners, officers, directors, managers, members and shareholders, involvement of any subsidiaries supporting the project, and the providers of equity and debt during project development. Provide an organization chart showing the relationship between the equity and debt participants and an explanation of the relationships. For jointly owned facilities, identify all owners and their respective interests, and document the Bidder's right to submit a binding proposal.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

- 5.3 Please provide a description of the financing plan for the project, including construction and term financing. The financing plan should address the following:
  - i. Who will finance the project (or are being considered to finance the project) and the related financing mechanism or mechanisms that will be used (i.e. convertible debenture, equity or other) including repayment schedules and conversion features

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

ii. The project's existing initial financial structure and projected financial structure

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

iii. Expected sources of debt and equity financing

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

iv. Estimated construction costs

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

v. The projected capital structure

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

vi. Describe any agreements, both pre and post commercial operation date, entered into with respect to equity ownership in the proposed project and any other financing arrangement.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

In addition, the financing plan should address the status of the above activities as well as the financing of development and permitting costs. All bidders are required to provide this information.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

- 5.4 Provide documentation illustrating the experience of the bidder in securing financing for projects of similar size and technology. For each project previously financed provide the following information:
  - i. Project name and location
  - ii. Project type and size
  - iii. Date of construction and permanent financing
  - iv. Form of debt and equity financing
  - v. Current status of the project Project Experience 1

Project Experience 2

Project Experience 3

Project Experience 4 Additional Project Experience

5.5 Please provide evidence that the bidder has the financial resources and financial strength to complete and operate the project as planned, including contingencies for project delays or cost overruns.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

5.6 Please provide details of any financial difficulties by the bidder or any of its past or present affiliates which impaired the viability and/or financing of the development and construction of projects of similar type, size, and complexity of the proposed eligible project or other large scale renewable energy project, including any past terminated projects and claims of financial difficulties. Bidders must demonstrate how the proposed eligible project materially differs from any past projects and demonstrate fully the financial viability of the project as bid.

5.7 Describe the assumptions applied by Bidder regarding forecast changes in project costs during the contract term, interest rates over the development period, key input commodity prices, and the methodology used to establish the project contingency amount. Bidder must explain why these assumptions are reasonable and describe and quantify how the project as proposed is designed to absorb sufficient risk to ensure the project can be successfully financed at the proposed price, including the Indexing Adjustment, if applicable.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

5.8 Provide complete copies of the most recent audited financial statement and annual report for each bidder for each of the past three years; including affiliates of the bidder (if audited statements are not available, reviewed or compiled statements are to be provided). Also, provide the credit ratings from Standard & Poor's and Moody's (the senior unsecured long term debt rating or if not available, the corporate rating) of the bidder and any affiliates and partners.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

5.9 Please also include a list of the board of directors, officers and trustees for the past three years and any persons who the bidder knows will become officers, board members or trustees.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

5.10 The bidder should demonstrate its ability (and/or the ability of its credit support provider) to provide the required security, including its plan for doing so.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

5.11 Provide a description of any current or recent credit issues/ credit rating downgrade events regarding the bidder or affiliate entities raised by rating agencies, banks, or accounting firms.

- 5.12 Describe the role of the Federal Production Tax Credit ("PTC") or Investment Tax Credit (ITC"), and any other incentives, on the financing of the project In your response, please describe (a) your plan to qualify for the ITC/PTC and the level of the ITC/PTC for which you plan to qualify, (b) the facilities, investment in which, the ITC is expected to apply, (c) your plan to utilize the tax credits and the relationship to your financing plan, and (d) how qualification for the ITC/PTC is reflected in your proposed pricing.
- 5.13 Bidders must clearly state their assumptions regarding the availability of federal or state tax credits, subsidies, or grants or other incentives, including but not limited to those available under the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act of 2022,
- 5.14 Bidders should describe any plans to meet federal domestic content and labor requirements in order to maximize federal tax credits available to the project under the Inflation Reduction Act (IRA). Bidders should also describe plans to pursue state funding available to offshore wind projects through MassCEC.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

5.15 Bidders must disclose any litigation or disputes in the last three year period related to projects developed, owned or managed by Bidder or any of its affiliates in the United States, or related to any energy product sale agreement.

5.16 What is the expected operating life of the proposed project? What is the depreciation period for all substantial physical aspects of the bid, including generation facilities, delivery facilities to move power to the grid, and mandatory and voluntary transmission system upgrades?

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

5.17 Has the bidder already obtained financing, or a commitment of financing, for the project? If financing has not been obtained, explain how obtaining a long-term agreement as proposed will help you in obtaining financing for the proposed project, in obtaining more favorable terms for the financing of the proposed project, or in supporting the future capital investment.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

5.18 State whether the bidder or its affiliates have executed agreements with respect to energy, RECs and/or capacity for the proposed project (including any agreements that have been terminated) and provide information regarding the associated term and quantities, and whether bidder has been alleged to have defaulted under or breached any such agreement. State whether the bidder or its affiliates have submitted proposals to other buyers, the status of consideration of such proposals, and the impact of such proposal(s), if they result in an executed contract or contracts, on the proposal(s) submitted in response to this RFP.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

5.19 List all of the Bidder's affiliated entities and joint ventures transacting business in the energy sector.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

5.20 Has Bidder, or any affiliate of Bidder, in the last five years, (a) consented to the appointment of, or been taken in possession by, a receiver, trustee, custodian or liquidator of a substantial part of its assets, (b) filed a bankruptcy petition in any bankruptcy court proceeding, (c) answered, consented or sought relief under any bankruptcy or similar law or failed to obtain a dismissal of an involuntary petition, (d) admitted in writing of its inability to pay its debts when due, (e) made a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, (f) been the subject of an involuntary proceeding seeking to adjudicate that Party bankrupt or insolvent, (g) sought reorganization, arrangement, adjustment, or composition of it or its debt under any law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization or relief of debtors?

5.21 Briefly describe any known conflicts of interest between Bidder or an affiliate of Bidder and any Distribution Company, or any affiliates of the foregoing.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

- 5.22 Describe any litigation, disputes, claims, complaints or notices of violation or potential violation involving the project or other offshore wind projects involving the Bidder or an affiliate of the Bidder.
- 5.23 Describe any failures to achieve commercial operation dates under other PPAs. Bidders should also provide a credible description of how the current proposed project will avoid similar project delays or development issues.
- 5.24 Describe any litigation, disputes, claims or complaints involving the Bidder or an affiliate of Bidder, against any Distribution Company or any affiliate of any Distribution Company.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

5.25 Describe any litigation, disputes, claims or complaints, or events of default or other failure to satisfy contract obligations, or failure to deliver products, involving Bidder or an affiliate of Bidder, and relating to the purchase or sale of energy, capacity or renewable energy certificates or products.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

5.26 Confirm that neither Bidder nor any directors, employees or agents of Bidder, nor any affiliate of Bidder are currently under investigation by any governmental agency, and that none of the above have in the last four years been convicted or found liable for any act prohibited by State or Federal law in any jurisdiction involving conspiracy, collusion or other impropriety with respect to bidding on any contract, or have been the subject of any debarment action (detail any exceptions).

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

5.27 Identify all regulatory and other approvals needed by Bidder to execute a binding sale agreement.

5.28 Describe how the project will conform to FERC's applicable regulatory requirements, including, but not limited to, FERC requirements relating to allocation of transmission capacity and open access, the justness and reasonableness of rates, the potential for undue preference or discrimination, and affiliate dealings, if any. Describe how your proposed approach is consistent with FERC precedent and ratemaking principles.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

- 5.29 Describe and document any and all direct and indirect affiliations and affiliate relationships, contractual, financial or otherwise in the past three years between the bidder and one or more of the Distribution Companies and their affiliates, including all relationships in which one of the Distribution Companies or their affiliates has a financial or voting interest (direct or indirect) in the bidder or the bidder's proposed project. These relationships include:
  - Corporate or other joint arrangements, joint ventures, joint operations whether control
    exists or not;
  - Minority ownership (50% or less investee);
  - Joint development agreements;
  - Project agreements;
  - Operating segments that are consolidated as part of the financial reporting process;
  - Related parties with common ownership;
  - Credit, debenture, and financing arrangements, whether a convertible equity feature is present or not;
  - Wholly owned subsidiaries; and
  - Commercial (including real property) relationships with any Distribution Company

# SECTION 6 OF APPENDIX B TO THE RFP SITING, INTERCONNECTION, AND DELIVERABILITY

This section of the proposal addresses project location, siting, real property rights and interconnection issues. Bidders should ensure that the threshold criteria outlined in Section 2.2.2 of the RFP are verified in their responses.

| 6.1   | propose width, applications other lawstern  | the a site plan (or plans) including a map (or maps) that clearly identifies the location of the sed project site, Offshore Delivery Facilities project locations, the assumed right-of-way the total acreage for Eligible Facilities, the anticipated interconnection point (or, if able, multiple interconnection points), the related onshore and offshore hission and interconnection facilities, deployment facilities, and the relationship of the site to ocal infrastructure, including transmission facilities, roadways, federal and state waters, and ways. In addition to providing the required map(s), provide a site layout plan which ates the location of all major equipment and facilities described above |
|-------|---|---|
|       | Plan in   | acluded? Yes $\square$ No $\square$ If not, please explain:   |
| Enter | appropr   | iate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)  |
|       | availal   | be how the proposed project is sized and designed to efficiently and cost-effectively use ole lease area(s), interconnection point(s), transmission cabling, and other infrastructure ed for the production and delivery of the Offshore Wind Energy Generation.  |
| Enter | appropr   | iate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)  |
| 6.2   | Identify any real property rights (e.g., fee-owned parcels, rights-of-way, development reasements or leases, or options to purchase or lease) that provide the right to use the Facility site and Offshore Delivery Facilities locations including for Eligible Facilities are of way needed for interconnection. |   |
|       | i.  | Does the project have a right to use the Eligible Facility site and/or Offshore Delivery Facilities locations for the entire proposed term of the PPA (e.g., by virtue of ownership or  |

Yes  $\square$  No  $\square$  If not, please explain:

land development rights obtained from the owner)?

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

ii. If so, please detail the Bidder's rights to control the Eligible Facility site and/or Offshore Delivery Facilities and interconnection locations.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

iii. Describe the status of acquisition of real property rights, any options in place for the exercise of these rights and describe the plan for securing the necessary real

property rights, including the proposed timeline. Include these plans and the timeline in the overall project timeline.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

iv. Identify any joint use of existing or proposed real property rights

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

v. Provide a copy of each of the leases, agreements, including option agreements, easements, rights of way and related documents granting the right to use the Offshore Wind Energy Generation site, Offshore Delivery Facilities, and transmission and interconnection locations (and applicable letters of intent if formal agreements have not been executed)

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

6.3 Provide evidence that the Eligible Facility site and Offshore Delivery Facilities and interconnection locations are properly zoned or permitted. If the Eligible Facility site and Offshore Delivery Facilities and interconnection locations are not currently zoned or permitted properly, identify present and required zoning and/or land use designations and permits and provide a permitting plan and timeline to secure the necessary approvals.

Detail the zoning and permitting issues:

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

#### Permitting plan and timeline:

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

Start Date: End Date:

6.4 Provide a description of the area surrounding the Eligible Facility site and Offshore Delivery Facilities and interconnection locations (including landfall), including a description of the local zoning, flood plain information, existing land or waterway use, and setting.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

6.5 If the bidder does not have interconnection facilities site control describe the status of the plan to obtain that control.

Please provide documentation to show evidence of the interconnection request to ISO-NE, the applicable New England Transmission Owner, or any neighboring control areas, to interconnect at the Capacity Capability Interconnection Standard. Please describe the status of any planned interconnection to the grid.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

6.7 Please describe how the project aligns with the transmission system goals of the Joint State Innovation Partnership for Offshore Wind.<sup>29</sup>

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

6.8 Provide studies that describe the Project's electrical system performance, its impact to the reliability of the New England Transmission system, how the project would satisfy ISO NE's I.3.9 requirements, and how the project will interconnect at an equivalent to the Capacity Capability Interconnection Standard. Projects that do not have I.3.9 approval from ISO-NE must include technical reports or system impact studies that approximate the ISO-NE interconnection process, including but not limited to clear documentation of study technical and cost assumptions, reasoning, and justification of such assumptions. All projects must also provide analysis that approximates the ISO-NE CCIS interconnection analysis as defined in Planning Procedure 10. Please also provide the status and expected completion date of any additional interconnection studies already underway with ISO-NE and/or the transmission owner. All studies must follow the current ISO-NE interconnection procedures and detail any assumptions regarding resources ahead of the Project in the ISO- NE interconnection queue. All network upgrades identified in these studies must be clearly documented and included in the bid price. Provide a copy of an interconnection agreement, if any, executed by the bidder with respect to the proposed project. If an interconnection agreement has not been executed, please provide the steps that need to be completed before an interconnection agreement can be executed and the associated timeline.

#### Performance and its impact:

| Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s) Attachments: |  |  |
|--|--|--|
| Copy of completed I.3.9 approval or I.3.9-equivalent study attached: $\Box$ If none, please    |  |  |
| explain:   |  |  |
| Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s) Copy of      |  |  |
| completed CCIS-equivalent study attached: $\qed$   |  |  |
| If none, please explain:   |  |  |
| Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s) Copy of      |  |  |
| Interconnection Agreement attached: $\Box$ If none, please explain:                            |  |  |
| Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)              |  |  |

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> See: https://newenglandenergyvision.files.wordpress.com/2023/01/joint-state-innovation-partnership-for-offshore-wind-concept-paper.pdf

| Additionally, any other studies undertaken by ISO-NE or the bidder must be provided. |
|--|
|  |

| 6.9   | Please provide documentation of the deliverability constraint analysis set forth in Appendix I to the RFP. Provide a description of the findings of the deliverability constraint analysis, including but not limited to a list of thermal overloads and voltage violations identified.  |  |  |
|---|--|--|--|
|   | Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s) Attachments:   |  |  |
|   | Copy of completed deliverability constraint analysis: $\Box$   |  |  |
|   | If the deliverability constraint analysis was performed as a portion of a separate study, please explain and provide the study:  |  |  |
|   | Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)  |  |  |
| 6.10  | If multiple interconnection requests have been made, please specify all such active requests which have not been superseded by subsequent requests and information regarding the status of each. Provide copies of any requests made and studies completed.  |  |  |
| Enter a   | Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)  |  |  |
| 6.11  | Please provide cost estimates for any necessary network upgrades identified in the studies identified in Section 6.7   |  |  |
| Enter a   | appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)  |  |  |
| 6.12  | To the extent that you provide an alternative interconnection scenario based on ISO- proposed interconnection process changes, you must also include studies using the proposed ISO-NE process. Any such studies must be accompanied with clear documentation of study technical and cost assumptions, reasoning, and justification of such assumptions. |  |  |
| Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s) |  |  |  |
| 6.13  | Provide the electrical models of all energy resources supporting the proposed project in accordance with the filing requirements of the ISO-NE Tariff Schedule 22 and 23.  |  |  |
|   | Electrical models attached: $\Box$ If none, please explain:  |  |  |
|   | Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)  |  |  |
| 6.14  | Provide a copy of an electrical one-line diagram showing the interconnection facilities, the relevant facilities of the transmission and/or distribution provider, and any required network upgrades identified in the studies required in section 6.9 of this document  |  |  |

## Green Communities Act Section 83C Request For Proposal

|       | Electrical one-line diagram attached: $\square$ If none, please explain:   |  |  |  |  |  |
|-------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
|       | Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 6.15  | Specify and describe the current or new interconnection facilities (lines, transformers, switching equipment, system protection and controls, etc.) that bidder owns or is intending to construct or have constructed in order to deliver the proposed energy. |  |  |  |  |  |
| Enter | appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)  |  |  |  |  |  |
| 6.16  | Incremental data requirements;   |  |  |  |  |  |
|       | 1. IDV file(s) in PSSE v32 format modeling all upgrades to the transmission network identified in the studies required in section 6.7 of this document. $\Box$ If none, please explain:  |  |  |  |  |  |
|       | Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)  |  |  |  |  |  |
|       | 2. If the Bidder does not use PSSE, provide in text format necessary modeling data as follows:   |  |  |  |  |  |
|       | - Line Data: Voltage Thermal Ratings Impedances (r, X and B)   |  |  |  |  |  |
|       | Line Length: from to (bus numbers and names)   |  |  |  |  |  |
|       | Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)  |  |  |  |  |  |
|       | - Transformer data (including Phase shifting transformers if applicable): Terminal Voltages Thermal Ratings  |  |  |  |  |  |
|       | Impedance  |  |  |  |  |  |
|       | From To (bus numbers and names)  |  |  |  |  |  |
|       | Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)  |  |  |  |  |  |
|       | - Reactive compensation models as necessary  |  |  |  |  |  |
|       | Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)  |  |  |  |  |  |
|       | - Other changes to the model that would occur due to a Project such as terminal changes for lines/transformer/generator leads/loads etc.   |  |  |  |  |  |

6.17 Please detail with supporting information and studies (as available) that the production/delivery profile contemplated in your proposal reflects constraints or curtailments, if any, after the upgrades that are expected to take place pursuant to interconnection at an equivalent to the CCIS. If you are planning to make voluntary upgrades beyond those associated with the CCIS-equivalent standard, as more fully described in the RFP, please describe the transmission network upgrades necessary, their estimated cost (for which the bidder would have cost responsibility, and the impact on the proposed generation schedule by reducing remaining constraints or curtailments.

### SECTION 7 OF APPENDIX A TO THE RFP ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT, PERMIT ACQUISITION PLAN AND ENVIRONMENTAL ATTRIBUTES CERTIFICATION

This section addresses environmental and other regulatory issues associated with project siting, development and operations for all aspects of the project (including generation, delivery, storage, interconnection, etc.), and in all jurisdictions (federal, all interested states, etc.).

7.1 Provide a list of all the permits, licenses, and environmental assessments and/or environmental impact statements required to construct and operate the project. Along with this list, identify the governmental agencies and States that are responsible for issuing approval of all the permits, licenses, and environmental assessments and/or environmental impact statements. If a bidder has secured any permit or has applied for a permit, please indicate this in the response.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

7.2 Provide the anticipated timeline for seeking and receiving the required permits, licenses, and environmental assessments and/or environmental impact statements. Include a project approval assessment which describes, in narrative form, each segment of the process, the required permit or approval, the status of the request or application and the basis for projection of success by the milestone date. All requirements should be included on the project schedule in Section 10.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

7.3 Provide information (a) demonstrating past and current productive relationship with environmental, commercial and recreational fishing, federally recognized and state acknowledged tribes, Environmental Justice, and onshore stakeholders; and (b) demonstrating your track record of avoiding, minimizing, and mitigating environmental, fishing, tribal, environmental justice, and onshore impacts from projects similar to the proposed project.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

7.4 Please provide information on any fisheries mitigation measures designed to avoid, minimize and mitigate impacts on the commercial fishing industry, including but not limited to addressing all criteria specified under Fishing Impacts and Fisheries Mitigation Plan in Appendix J.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

7.5 Provide a preliminary environmental characterization of the site and project, including both construction and operation. In addition, the bidder should identify environmental impacts associated with the proposed project and any potential impediments to development. A plan to avoid, minimize, or mitigate such impacts or impediments should also be included. The analysis should address all criteria specified under Environmental Impacts and Environmental Mitigation Plan in Appendix J.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

7.6 Please provide information on potential impacts on Environmental Justice Populations and host communities, including but not limited to addressing all criteria specified under Environmental Justice Impacts in Appendix J.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

13.1 Please propose a strategy plan to track and report on the status of environmental justice impacts, and engagement and employment (training, recruitment and hiring goals) opportunities, based on the template provided in the Form MOU with DOER and MassCEC and any other supplemental plans for tracking and reporting.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

Please provide a marked version of the Form MOU with DOER and MassCEC for this solicitation (see Appendix L) showing any specific proposed changes to the Form MOU. Bidders are discouraged from proposing any material changes or conditions to the Form MOU and any such changes will be considered in the Stage Two Qualitative Evaluation.

Attachments: Marked version of Form MOU with DOER and MassCEC

7.7 Provide documentation identifying the level of public support for the project including letters from public officials, newspaper articles, etc. Include information on specific localized support and/or opposition to the project of which the bidder is aware. Provide copies of any agreements with communities and other constituencies impacted by the project. Provide a stakeholder map and a plan for community engagement activities and targeted stakeholder outreach.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

7.8 Provide documentation demonstrating that the project will be qualified as New Class I Renewable Portfolio Standard Eligible Resource under M.G.L. c. 25A, § 11F, and 225 CMR 14.00.

7.9 All bidders must include sufficient information and documentation that demonstrates that the bidder will utilize an appropriate tracking system to ensure a unit-specific accounting of the delivery of Offshore Wind Energy Generation, to enable the Department of Environmental Protection, in consultation with DOER, to accurately measure progress in achieving the commonwealth's goals under chapter 298 of the acts of 2008 or Chapter 21N of the General Laws. The RECs associated with Offshore Wind Energy Generation must be delivered into the Distribution Companies' NEPOOL GIS accounts.

7.10 Identify any existing, preliminary or pending claims or litigation, or matters before any federal agency or any state legislature or regulatory agency that might affect the feasibility or timing of the project or the ability or timing to obtain or retain the required permits for the project.

# SECTION 8 OF APPENDIX A TO THE RFP ENGINEERING AND TECHNOLOGY; COMMERCIAL ACCESS TO EQUIPMENT

This section includes questions pertinent to the engineering design and project technology. This section must be completed for all aspects of a project including generation, storage (as applicable) delivery, and interconnection facilities. Bidders should provide information about the specific technology or equipment including the track record of the technology and equipment and other information as necessary to demonstrate that the technology is viable.

- 8.1 Provide a reasonable but preliminary engineering plan which includes the following information:
  - i. Type of generation and delivery technology
  - ii. Major equipment to be used (including nacelle, hub, blade, tower, foundation, delivery facilities structures and platforms, electrical equipment and cable), including the primary and alternative turbine equipment and their expected capacity rating.
  - iii. Manufacturer of each of the equipment components listed above as well as the location of where each component will be manufactured.
  - iv. Status of acquisition of the equipment components, including whether orders are in place and/or production slots secured
  - v. Whether the bidder has a contract for the equipment. If not, describe the bidder's plan for securing equipment and the status of any pertinent commercial arrangements
  - vi. Equipment vendors selected/considered
  - vii. Track record of equipment operations
  - viii. If the equipment manufacturer has not yet been selected, identify in the equipment procurement strategy the factors under consideration for selecting the preferred equipment

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

8.2 If the bidder has not yet selected the major equipment for a project, please provide a list of the key equipment suppliers under consideration.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

8.3 Please identify the same or similar equipment by the same manufacturer that are presently in commercial operation including the number installed, installed capacity and estimated generation for the past three years.

#### Green Communities Act Section 83C Request For Proposal

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

8.4 For less mature technologies or equipment, provide evidence (including identifying specific applications) that the technology or equipment to be employed for energy production is ready for transfer to the design and construction phases. Also, address how the status of the technology or equipment is being considered in the financial and permitting plans for the project. Provide the status of testing/ qualification for any equipment in development.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

8.5 Please indicate if the bidder has a full and complete list of equipment needed for all physical aspects of the bid, including generation facilities, turbine support structures, electrical platforms, delivery facilities, and mandatory and voluntary transmission system upgrades. If not, identify the areas of uncertainty and when the full and complete list of equipment will be identified.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

8.6 Please indicate if the bidder has secured its equipment for all physical aspects of the bid, including generation facilities, delivery facilities, and mandatory and voluntary transmission system upgrades. If not, identify the long-lead equipment and describe the timing for securing this equipment.

#### SECTION 9 OF APPENDIX A TO THE RFP PROJECT SCHEDULE

A bidder must demonstrate that its proposal can be developed, permitted, financed, and constructed and be technically viable within a commercially reasonable timeframe. The bidder is required to provide sufficient information and documentation that shows that the bidder's resources, process and schedule are adequate for the acquisition of all rights, permits and approvals for all aspects of the project and for the financing of the project consistent with the proposed project milestone dates.

Bidders are required to provide a complete critical path schedule for the project from the notice of selection of the project for contract consideration to the start of commercial operations. For each project element, list the start and end date. The proposal must include a schedule with reasonable detail that demonstrates that the bidder has provided sufficient time for the application for, and receipt of, necessary permits, approvals, other commitments, project financing, completion of design work, and equipment procurement and construction in order to credibly complete the project reasonably consistent with the proposed Commercial Operation Date, meaning that the project is more likely than not to come online by the date that is projected within the proposal. The bidder should include critical milestones in its markup to the Form PPAs that are consistent with its proposal and are reasonably achievable.

9.1 Identify the elements on the critical path. The schedule should include, at a minimum, preliminary engineering, financing, acquisition of real property rights, Federal, state and/or local permits, licenses, environmental assessments and/or environmental impact statements (including anticipated permit submittal and approval dates), completion of interconnection studies and approvals, procurement, facility contracts, start of construction, construction schedule, and any other requirements that could influence the project schedule and the commercial operation date.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

- 9.2 Describe and demonstrate that the project is more likely than not to come online by the commercial operation date that is projected within the proposal, as evidenced by documents filed by the bidder showing the following:
  - Commencement of permitting processes;
  - A plan for completing all permitting processes;
  - Viable resource assessment;
  - Environmental assessment;
  - Viable financing plans along with detailed information requested in 2.2.2.3;
  - Viable installation and electrical interconnection plans;
  - Material progress towards the acquisition of all real property rights;
     and
  - Evidence of material vendor activity.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

9.3 Include a discussion on use of maritime vessels and access to them, as well as the bidder's plans to secure any specialized vessels or other equipment consistent with the

construction schedule. Provide any agreements, options, or other materials reflecting the bidder's efforts so far to secure such vessels or other equipment (and any letters of intent to the extent signed agreements are not in place). Also include a description and discussion of the laydown facility/facilities to be used for construction, assembly, staging, storage, and deployment.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

9.4 Detail the status of all critical path items, such as receipt of all necessary siting, environmental, and ISO-NE approvals.

#### SECTION 10 OF APPENDIX A TO THE RFP OPERATION AND LOGISTICS

This section of the proposal addresses necessary arrangements and processes for outfitting, assembly, storage and deployment of major project components such as turbine nacelles, blades, towers, foundations, and delivery facilities support structures, and other major components associated with delivery facilities and, and the storage facility (as applicable). Please provide a construction plan that captures the following objectives:

10.1 Please list the major tasks or steps associated with deployment of the proposed project and the necessary specialized equipment (e.g. vessels, cranes).

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

- 10.2 Please provide documentation to demonstrate site control for all marine terminals and other waterfront facilities that will be used to stage, assemble, and deploy the project for each stage of construction.
  - i. Evidence that the bidder or the equipment/service provider have a valid lease, or option to lease, a marine terminal and/or waterfront facility for construction of the offshore wind energy project (e.g., by virtue of ownership or land development rights obtained from the owner).

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

ii. If not available, describe the status of acquisition of real property rights for necessary marine terminal and/or waterfront facilities, any options in place for the exercise of these rights and describe the plan for securing the necessary real property rights, including the proposed timeline. Include these plans and the timeline in the overall project schedule. Provide any agreements, options, or other materials reflecting the bidder's efforts so far to secure real property rights (and any letters of intent to the extent signed agreements are not in place).

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

iii. Identify any joint use of existing or proposed real property rights for marine terminal or waterfront facilities.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

10.3 Please describe the proposed approach for staging and deployment of major project components to the project site. Indicate the number, type and size of vessels that will be used, and their respective roles, as well as the projected timing of their use. Please include specific information on how the bidder's deployment strategy will conform to requirements of the Merchant Marine Act of 1920 (the Jones Act).

10.4 List the party (e.g. the bidder, or equipment/service providers under contract to the bidder) responsible for each deployment activity and describe the role of each party. Describe the status of bidder's contractual agreements with third-party equipment/service providers.

#### SECTION 11 OF APPENDIX A TO RFP OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE

Projects that can demonstrate that the operation and maintenance ("O&M") plan, level of funding, and mechanism for funding will ensure reliable operations of all aspects of the project during the term of the contract are preferred.

11.1 Provide an O&M plan for the project that demonstrates the long term operational viability of the proposed project. The plan should include the location of the O&M base, a discussion of the staffing levels proposed for the project, the expected role of the project sponsor or turbine manufacturer/outside contractor, scheduling of major maintenance activity, and the plan for testing equipment.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

- 11.2 Please provide documentation to demonstrate site control for all marine terminals and other waterfront facilities that will be used for O&M.
  - i. If available, evidence that the bidder or the equipment/service provider have right(s) to use a marine terminal and/or waterfront facility for O&M of the offshore wind energy project (e.g., by virtue of ownership or land development rights obtained from the owner).
  - ii. If not available, describe the status of acquisition of real property rights for necessary marine terminal and/or waterfront facilities, any options in place for the exercise of these rights and describe the plan for securing the necessary real property rights, including the proposed timeline. Include these plans and the timeline in the overall project schedule.
  - iii. Identify any joint use of existing or proposed real property rights for marine terminal or waterfront facilities.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

11.3 Describe in detail the proposed O&M funding mechanism and funding levels to support planned and unplanned O&M requirements.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

Describe the terms (or expected terms) of the warranties and/or guarantees on major equipment that the bidder is utilizing or proposing to utilize.

11.5 Describe the status of the project sponsor in securing any O&M agreements or contracts. Include a discussion of the sponsor's plan for securing a medium-term or long-term O&M contract, including the expected provider of O&M services.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

11.6 Provide examples of the bidder's experience with 0&M services for other similar projects.

#### SECTION 12 OF APPENDIX A TO RFP PROJECT MANAGEMENT/EXPERIENCE

Bidders are required to demonstrate project experience and management capability to successfully develop and operate all aspects of the project proposed. The Evaluation Team is particularly interested in project teams that have demonstrated success in projects of similar type, size and technology and can demonstrate an ability to work together effectively to bring the project to commercial operation in a timely fashion.

12.1 Provide an organizational chart for the project that lists the project participants and identifies the corporate structure, including general and limited partners.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

12.2 Provide statements that list the specific experience of the bidder and each of the project participants (including, when applicable, the bidder, partners, and proposed contractors), in developing, financing, owning, and operating generating and delivery facilities, other projects of similar type, size and technology, and any evidence that the project participants have worked jointly on other projects.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

- 12.3 Provide a management chart that lists the key personnel dedicated to this project and provide resumes of the key personnel. Key personnel of the bidder's development team having substantial project management responsibilities must have:
- i. Successfully developed and/or operated one or more projects of similar size or complexity or requiring similar skill sets; and
- ii. Experience in financing power generation projects (or have the financial means to finance the project on the bidder's balance sheet).

- Provide a listing of all projects the project sponsor has successfully developed or that are currently under construction. Provide the following information as part of the response:
  - i. Name of the project
  - ii. Location of the project
  - iii. Project type, size and technology
  - iv. Distance from shore and mean water depth of project
  - v. Commercial operation date

- vi. Estimated and actual capacity factor of the project for the past three years
- vii. Availability factor of the project for the past three years
- viii. References, including the names and current addresses and telephone numbers of individuals to contact for each reference.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

- 12.5 With regard to the bidder's project team, identify and describe the entity responsible for the following, as applicable:
  - i. Construction Period Lender
  - ii. Operating Period Lender and/or Tax Equity Provider
  - iii. Financial Advisor
  - iv. Environmental Consultant
  - v. Facility Operator and Manager
  - vi. Owner's Engineer
  - vii. Transmission/Delivery Consultant
  - viii. Legal Counsel

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

12.6 Describe the experience and expertise of the bidder and project team needed to successfully develop, finance, construct, nd operate and maintain its proposed eligible project on schedule and according to the bidder's commitments to a competitive procurement process. Describe the Bidder's continuity of corporate management through successful project development.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

12.7 Describe the Bidder's track record developing similar projects, including consideration of any project delays, amendments, defaults, and performance issues, including on prior long-term contracts.

Describe any prior failures to achieve commercial operation dates under other PPAs and credible description of how the current proposed project will avoid similar project delays or development issues.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

12.8 Describe the bidder's relevant experience supporting similar projects in a state or federal regulatory or judicial forum. This experience can be established with examples of one or more key member(s) of the development team advocating in favor of a similar project in a regulatory proceeding, before a court, or in another tribunal.

12.9 If the bidder or any of its past or present affiliates has either (1) been involved with a complex development project that failed, was withdrawn, or otherwise did not proceed, or (2) defaulted under, or agreed to terminate a contract for a complex development project, then the bidder should provide relevant details.

# SECTION 13 OF APPENDIX A TO THE RFP DEMONSTRATED, VERIFIABLE COMMITMENT TO CREATE AND FOSTER EMPLOYMENT AND ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND OTHER DIRECT BENEFITS

13.2 Please provide an estimate of the number of jobs to be created directly during project development and construction, and during operations, and a general description of the types of jobs created, duration of employment, estimated annual compensation, the employer(s) for such jobs, and the location. Employment impacts should be broken out by state and the region as a whole and highlight any impacts in economically distressed areas. Please treat the development, construction, and operation and maintenance periods separately in your response. All information provided must be measurable.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

Please describe employment opportunities for members of federally recognized and state acknowledged tribes in the Commonwealth, workers from low-income communities and certified minority-owned and women-owned small business enterprises in the Commonwealth, as well residents of any Environmental Justice neighborhoods impacted by the project.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

Please describe any investments in workforce development to support the offshore wind industry, which may include partnerships with proximate vocational and technical schools, community colleges, labor groups, and community-based organizations to create paid training, internship, apprenticeship programs and educational programs paired with transitional work opportunities.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

Please describe project support for workforce harmony and community benefits through Community Benefits Agreements and workforce agreements with appropriate labor organizations for construction, renovation, reconstruction, alteration, installation, demolition, expansion, maintenance and repair.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

Please describe the status of any contractual commitments with respect to direct job creation and provide any pertinent agreements that have been executed.

- 13.3 Please describe any plans to meet federal domestic content and labor requirements in order to maximize federal tax credits available to the project under the Inflation Reduction Act (IRA).
  - Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)
- 13.4 Please describe and quantify any other economic activity or development expected to result directly from the proposed project. Impacts should be broken out by state and the region as a whole and highlight any impacts in economically distressed areas. Direct economic activity/development will be evaluated based on scale relative to project size, credibility and firmness. Preference will be given to commitments that secure long-term benefits; begin to provide benefits during project development, construction, installation,

- and the first five years of operations; direct benefits to Environmental Justice populations and host communities. Commitments will be evaluated by the degree or extent to which the asserted benefits are contractually committed to by the bidder. Specific commitments to economic activity or development may include (but are not limited to):
- Direct and reasonably certain commitments made on or after July 1, 2022 to capital investments in the manufacture, fabrication and assembly within the commonwealth of domestic supply chain components of the offshore wind industry. Bidders are further directed to describe, if applicable, how the proposed supply chain investments are complementary to any other supply chain investments made by the parent company to support other offshore wind projects in the region.
- Utilization and investment in port facilities and infrastructure during project development, construction, and operation and maintenance of the project.
- Investment in offshore wind-related research and innovation initiatives or partnerships.
- Economic development activities and investments that directly benefit economically distressed areas and Environmental Justice populations, especially those directly impacted by the project.
- Please describe the status of any contractual commitments with respect to economic development and provide any pertinent agreements that have been executed.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

Please specify the administrator of any funds (i.e. fund administered by a third-party or by the Bidder).

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

13.6 To the extent not already specified elsewhere in your response, please address the factors listed in RFP Section 2.2.4.1 and describe any benefits or impacts associated with the proposed project.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

13.7 Please demonstrate any benefits to low-income ratepayers in the Commonwealth, as outlined in Section 2.2.4.2, and describe how the project minimizes and mitigates, to the extent feasible, ratepayer impacts. Benefits to low-income ratepayers may include, but are not limited to, projects that reduce the energy burden for low-income ratepayers through energy efficiency or renewable energy upgrades; direct funding of rate relief through grant programs, support of existing community programs or other funding opportunities. Describe the impact, if any, those benefits will have on the cost to the project.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

Please provide copies of any agreements to effectuate those benefits.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

13.8 Please provide a diversity, equity and inclusion plan that that includes a Workforce Diversity Plan and the Supplier Diversity Program Plan as outlined in Section 2.2.4.3 of the RFP. Describe consultation with the Massachusetts Supplier Diversity Office, as applicable.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

13.9 Please describe the strategy and mechanisms to track and report on any applicable commitments, including progress in achieving promised employment and economic benefits and the goals in the diversity, equity and inclusion plan, based on the template provided in the Form MOU with DOER and MassCEC and any other supplemental plans for tracking and reporting.

Enter appropriate explanation in this space or reference applicable attachment(s)

Please provide a marked version of the Form MOU with DOER and MassCEC for this solicitation (see Appendix L) showing any specific proposed changes to the Form MOU. Bidders are discouraged from proposing any material changes or conditions to the Form MOU and any such changes will be considered in the Stage Two Qualitative Evaluation.

Attachments: Marked version of Form MOU with DOER and MassCEC

13.10 The Section 13 Addendum: Economic Development Summary Sheet is a Microsoft Excel workbook provided on MACleanEnergy.com. Please fill out and submit the Section 13 Addendum to accompany responses in this section.

Attachments: Copy of completed Section 13 Addendum in Excel format (.xls or .xlsx file):

#### SECTION 14 OF APPENDIX A TO THE RFP EXCEPTIONS TO FORM PPA

Please attach an explanation of any exceptions to the Form PPA set forth in Appendices B-1 and B-2. Comments to the proposed Form PPA must include any specific alternative provisions in a redline format to the Form PPA. If the bidder is proposing a two-phased project with each phase covered by a separate contract, the bidder should provide two separate contracts with specific alternative provisions to the Form PPA in redline format.

Bidders are discouraged from proposing material changes to the Form PPA.

# SECTION 15 OF APPENDIX A TO THE RFP EXCEPTIONS TO FORM COMMITMENT AGREEMENT

Please attach an explanation of any exceptions to the Form Commitment Agreement set forth in Appendix G. Comments to the proposed Form Commitment Agreement must include any specific alternative provisions in a redline format to the Form Commitment Agreement.

Bidders are discouraged from proposing material changes to the Form Commitment Agreement.

## **APPENDIX B - 1**

# FORM OF CLASS 1 POWER PURCAHASE AGREEMENT (NATIONAL GRID)

[See Separate Document]

## APPENDIX B – 2

# FORM OF CLASS 1 POWER PURCAHASE AGREEMENT (EVERSOURCE/UNITIL)

[See Separate Document]

#### APPENDIX C: CERTIFICATION AND AUTHORIZATION

A proposal will be considered incomplete unless all required signatures are provided.

The undersigned certifies that he or she is an authorized officer or other authorized representative of the Bidder, and further certifies that:

(1) the Bidder has reviewed this RFP and all attachments and has investigated and informed itself with respect to all matters pertinent to this RFP and its proposal; (2) the Bidder's proposal is submitted in compliance with all applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations, including antitrust and anti-corruption laws; (3) the Bidder is bidding independently and that it has no knowledge of non-public information associated with a proposal being submitted by another party in response to this RFP other than a response submitted: (a) by an affiliate of that bidder or (b) for a project in which that bidder is also a project proponent or participant, which, in each case, must be disclosed in writing to the Evaluation Team with each such bidder's or affiliated bidder's proposal; (4) the Bidder has no knowledge of any confidential information associated with development of the RFP; (5) the Bidder's proposal has not been developed utilizing knowledge of any non-public information associated with the development of the RFP; (6) the Bidder has not obtained any confidential bidding- related information directly or indirectly from any of the Distribution Companies, in preparation of its bid; (7) except as disclosed by the Bidder in the relevant portions of its response, the Bidder is not an Affiliated Company of any Massachusetts investor- owned electric Distribution Company and no Distribution Company which is seeking proposals pursuant to the RFP has a financial or voting interest, controlling or otherwise in the bidder or the bidder's proposed project; (8) the bidder accepts that confidential information about their proposal might be shared with any members of the Evaluation Team, the Evaluation Team Consultant, the Independent Evaluator, ISO-NE or Other Authorities personnel; (9) the bidder shall abide by/accept all rules and protocols put in place to maintain a fair, competitive, and transparent solicitation process; and (10) the bidder will continue to observe these requirements throughout the RFP process.

Violation of any of the above requirements may be reported to the appropriate government authorities and shall disqualify the Bidder from the RFP process.

The undersigned further certifies that the prices, terms and conditions of the Bidder's proposal are valid and shall remain open, without modification except as allowed in this RFP, until March 28, 2022, unless otherwise extended by mutual agreement between the bidder(s) and the Distribution Companies.

The undersigned further certifies that he or she has personally examined and is familiar with the information submitted in this proposal and all appendices thereto, and based on reasonable investigation, including inquiry of the individuals responsible for obtaining the information, the submitted information is true, accurate and complete to the best of the undersigned's knowledge and belief.

The undersigned understands that a false statement or failure to disclose material information in the submitted proposal may be punishable as a criminal offense under applicable law. The undersigned further certifies that that this proposal is on complete and accurate forms as provided without alteration of the text. The undersigned further understands and agrees to the provisions of this RFP related to confidential information, and consents to the limited exchange and sharing of confidential information related to the Bidder's proposal as described in this RFP, including with members of the Evaluation Team, the Independent Evaluator, ISO-NE, or and adjacent Control Area personnel.

| Bidder or Bidder'   | Bidder or Bidder's Authorized Representative |  |
|---------------------|--|--|
|                     |  |  |
|                     |  |  |
| Print or Type Nar   | ne   |  |
|                     |  |  |
|                     |  |  |
| Project Title(s) as | Submitted to the Evaluation Team             |  |
|                     |  |  |
|                     |  |  |
| Title               | Date   |  |

# **APPENDIX D: PROCUREMENT STATUTES**

#### MASSACHUSETTS GREEN COMMUNITIES ACT SECTION 83C

Section 83C. (a) To facilitate the financing of offshore wind energy generation resources in the commonwealth, every distribution company shall, in coordination with the department of energy resources, jointly and competitively solicit proposals for offshore wind energy generation; and provided, that reasonable proposals have been received, shall enter into cost-effective long-term contracts.

- (b) The timetable and method for solicitations of long-term contracts shall be proposed by the department of energy resources in coordination with the distribution companies using a competitive bidding process and shall be subject to review and approval by the department of public utilities. The department of energy resources shall consult with the distribution companies and the attorney general regarding the choice of solicitation methods. A solicitation may be coordinated and issued jointly with other New England states or entities designated by those states. The distribution companies, in coordination with the department of energy resources, may conduct 1 or more competitive solicitations through a staggered procurement schedule developed by the department of energy resources; provided, however, that the schedule shall ensure that the distribution companies enter into cost-effective long-term contracts for offshore wind energy generation equal to approximately 5,600 megawatts of aggregate nameplate capacity not later than June 30, 2027, including capacity authorized pursuant to section 21 of chapter 227 of the acts of 2018; provided further, that individual solicitations shall seek proposals for not less than 400 megawatts of aggregate nameplate capacity of offshore wind energy generation resources. The staggered procurement schedule shall be developed by the department of energy resources and shall specify that any subsequent solicitation shall occur within 24 months of a previous solicitation. Proposals received pursuant to a solicitation under this section shall be subject to review by the department of energy resources and the executive office of housing and economic development in consultation with the independent evaluator and the electric distribution companies shall offer technical advice. As part of the evaluation process, the department of energy resources shall produce a numeric score for each bid's economic development commitments and for plans for financial and technical assistance to support wildlife and habitat monitoring.
- (c) The department of energy resources may condition the determination of any winning bid upon a bidder's inclusion of regional or project-specific transmission costs or, alternatively, upon the bidder's agreement to utilize transmission procured in a separate solicitation conducted by the department. The department shall give preference to proposals that demonstrate benefits from: (i) direct and reasonably certain commitments made on or after July 1, 2022 to capital investments in the manufacture, fabrication and assembly within the commonwealth of domestic supply chain components of the offshore wind industry; (ii) mitigation, minimization and avoidance of detrimental environmental and socioeconomic impacts, including through meaningful consultation with impacted environmental and socioeconomic stakeholders, including federally recognized and state acknowledged tribes and commercial and recreational fishing; (iii) support for workforce harmony and community benefits through workforce agreements with appropriate labor organizations for construction, renovation, reconstruction, alteration, installation, demolition, expansion, maintenance and repair; (iv) employment opportunities for members of federally recognized and state acknowledged tribes in the commonwealth, workers from low-income communities and certified minority-owned and women-owned small business enterprises in the commonwealth; (v) the maximization, to the extent feasible, of economic development and employment contributions to the commonwealth: (vi) additional benefits to low-income communities and low-income ratepayers in the commonwealth, including opportunities for diversity, equity and inclusion; (vii) minimization and mitigation, to the extent feasible, of ratepayer impacts; (viii) commitments to enter into long-term contracts to purchase offshore wind energy with businesses, nonprofit organizations, a municipality or group of municipalities with an approved municipal load aggregation plan pursuant to section 134 of chapter 164 of the General Laws or other government entities directly or through an aggregation pursuant to section 137 of said chapter 164; (ix) energy storage, including new and existing mid-duration and long-duration energy storage systems; and (x) resources able to guarantee firm energy delivery. The department of energy resources shall, in consultation with the independent evaluator), issue a final, binding determination of the winning bid; provided, however, that the final contract executed shall be subject to review by the department of public utilities, and the department of public utilities may allow

contractual adjustments for project cost differentials attributable to the utilization or non-utilization of separate transmission procured by the commonwealth. The department of energy resources may require additional solicitations to fulfill the requirements of this section. If the department of energy resources, in consultation with the independent evaluator, determines that reasonable proposals were not received pursuant to a solicitation, the department may terminate the solicitation and may require additional solicitations to fulfill the requirements of this section.

- (d) In developing proposed long-term contracts, the distribution companies shall consider long-term contracts for renewable energy certificates, for energy and for a combination of both renewable energy certificates and energy. A distribution company may decline to pursue a contract if the contract's terms and conditions would require the contract obligation to place an unreasonable burden on the distribution company's balance sheet after consultation with the department of energy resources; provided, however, that the distribution company shall take all reasonable actions to structure the contracts, pricing or administration of the products purchased under this section to prevent or mitigate an impact on the balance sheet or income statement of the distribution company or its parent company, subject to the approval of the department of public utilities; and provided further, that mitigation shall not increase costs to ratepayers. If a distribution company deems all contracts to be unreasonable, the distribution company shall consult with the department of energy resources and, within 20 days of the date of its decision, submit a filing to the department of public utilities. The filing shall include, in the form and detail prescribed by the department of public utilities, documentation supporting the distribution company's decision to decline the contract. Following a distribution company's filing, and within 4 months of the date of filing, the department of public utilities shall approve or reject the distribution company's decision and may order the distribution company to reconsider any contract. The department of public utilities shall take into consideration the department of energy resources' recommendations on the distribution company's decision. The department of energy resources may require additional solicitations to fulfill the requirements of this section.
- (e)(1) The department of public utilities shall promulgate regulations consistent with this section. The regulations shall: (i) allow developers of offshore wind energy generation to submit proposals for long-term contracts consistent with this section; (ii) require that a proposed long-term contract executed by the distribution companies under a proposal be filed with, and approved by, the department of public utilities before becoming effective; (iii) provide for an annual remuneration for the contracting distribution company equal to 2.25 per cent of the annual payments under the contract to compensate the company for accepting the financial obligation of the long-term contract; provided, however, that such provision shall be acted upon by the department of public utilities at the time of contract approval; (iv) require associated transmission costs to be incorporated into a proposal; provided, however, that, to the extent there are regional or projectspecific transmission costs included in a bid, the department of public utilities may, if it finds such recovery to be in the public interest, authorize or require the contracting parties to seek recovery of such transmission costs from other states or from benefitted entities or populations in other states through federal transmission rates, consistent with policies and tariffs of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission; and (v) require that proposals meet the following criteria: (A) where feasible, create and foster economic development and quality, high-demand jobs in the commonwealth; (B) provide enhanced electricity reliability, system safety and energy security; (C) contribute to reducing winter electricity price spikes; (D) be cost effective and beneficial to electric ratepayers in the commonwealth over the term of the contract, taking into consideration potential costs and benefits to the ratepayers, including potential economic and environmental benefits and opportunities to equitably allocate costs to, and equitably share costs with, other states and populations within other states that may benefit from offshore wind generation procured by the commonwealth; (E) avoid line loss and mitigate transmission costs to the extent possible and ensure that transmission cost overruns, if any, are not borne by ratepayers; (F) adequately demonstrate project viability in a commercially reasonable timeframe; (G) allow offshore wind energy generation resources to be paired with energy storage systems, including new and existing mid-duration and long-duration energy storage systems; (H) include an initial environmental and fisheries mitigation plan for the construction and operation of such offshore wind facilities, including consideration of commercial, recreational and indigenous fishing rights; (I) mitigate impacts to the marine environment by providing financial and technical assistance to support robust monitoring of wildlife and habitat through contributions to regional and tribal research efforts; (J) include benefits to environmental justice populations and lowincome ratepayers in the commonwealth; and (K) include opportunities for diversity, equity and inclusion,

including, at a minimum, a workforce diversity plan and a supplier diversity program plan.

- (2) A proposed long-term contract shall be subject to the review and approval of the department of public utilities and shall be apportioned among the distribution companies. As part of its approval process, the department of public utilities shall consider recommendations by the attorney general, which shall be submitted to the department within 45 days following the filing of a proposed long-term contract with the department. The department of public utilities shall take into consideration the department of energy resources' recommendations on the potential costs and benefits to the rate payers, including economic and environmental benefits and opportunities to equitably allocate costs to, and equitably share costs with, other states and populations within other states that may benefit from offshore wind generation procured by the commonwealth, and the requirements of chapter 298 of the acts of 2008 and chapter 21N of the General Laws. The department of public utilities shall consider the potential costs and benefits of the proposed long-term contract and shall approve a proposed long-term contract if the department finds that the proposed contract is in the public interest and is a cost-effective mechanism for procuring beneficial, reliable renewable energy on a long-term basis, taking into account the factors outlined in this section. A distribution company shall be entitled to cost recovery of payments made under a long-term contract approved under this section.
- (f) The department of energy resources and the attorney general shall jointly select, and the department of energy resources shall contract with, an independent evaluator to monitor and report on the solicitation and bid selection process in order to assist the department of energy resources in determining whether a proposal received pursuant to subsection (b) is reasonable and to assist the department of public utilities in its consideration of long-term contracts filed for approval. To ensure an open, fair and transparent solicitation and bid selection process that is not unduly influenced by an affiliated company, the independent evaluator shall: (1) issue a report to the department of public utilities analyzing the timetable and method of solicitation and the solicitation process implemented by the distribution companies and the department of energy resources under subsection (b) and include recommendations, if any, for improving the process; and (2) upon the opening of an investigation by the department of public utilities into a proposed long-term contract for a winning bid proposal, file a report with the department of public utilities that summarizes and analyzes the solicitation and the bid selection process, and provide the independent evaluator's assessment of

whether all bids were evaluated in a fair and objective manner. The independent evaluator shall have access to the information and data related to the competitive solicitation and bid selection process that is necessary to fulfill the purposes of this subsection; provided, however, that the independent evaluator shall ensure that all proprietary information remains confidential. The department of public utilities shall consider the findings of the independent evaluator and may adopt recommendations made by the independent evaluator as a condition for approval. If the independent evaluator concludes in the findings that the solicitation and bid selection of a long-term contract was not fair and objective and that the process was substantially prejudiced as a result, the department of public utilities shall reject the winning bid proposal.

- (g) The distribution companies shall each enter into a contract with the winning bidders for their apportioned share of the market products being purchased from the project. The apportioned share shall be calculated and based upon the total energy demand from all distribution customers in each service territory of the distribution companies.
- (h) A distribution company may elect to use any energy purchased under such contracts for sale to its customers and may elect to retain renewable energy certificates to meet the applicable annual renewable portfolio standard requirements under said section 11F of said chapter 25A. If the energy and renewable energy certificates are not so used, the distribution companies shall sell the purchased energy into the wholesale market and, provided that the department of energy resources has not notified the distribution company that the renewable energy certificates should be retained to facilitate reaching emission reduction targets pursuant to <a href="chapter 298">chapter 298</a> of the acts of 2008 or <a href="chapter 21N">chapter 21N</a> of the General Laws, shall sell the purchased renewable energy certificates to minimize the costs to ratepayers under the contract; provided, however, that the department of energy resources shall conduct periodic reviews to determine the impact on the energy and renewable energy certificate markets of the disposition of energy and renewable energy certificates under this

section. The department of energy resources may issue reports recommending legislative changes if it determines that said disposition of energy and renewable energy certificates is adversely affecting the energy and renewable energy certificate markets.

- (i) If a distribution company sells the purchased energy into the wholesale market and sells the renewable energy certificates, the distribution company shall net the cost of payments made to projects under the long-term contracts against the net proceeds obtained from the sale of energy and renewable energy certificates, and the difference shall be credited or charged to all distribution customers through a uniform fully reconciling annual factor in distribution rates, subject to review and approval of the department of public utilities.
- (j) A long-term contract procured under this section shall utilize an appropriate tracking system to ensure a unit specific accounting of the delivery of clean energy, to enable the department of environmental protection, in consultation with the department of energy resources, to accurately measure progress in achieving the commonwealth's goals under <a href="chapter 298">chapter 298</a> of the acts of 2008 or chapter 21N of the General Laws.
- (k) The department of energy resources and the department of public utilities may jointly develop requirements for a bond or other security to ensure performance with the requirements of this section.
- (I) The department of energy resources may promulgate regulations necessary to implement this section.
- (m) .The plan required in subclause (H) of clause (v) of paragraph (1) subsection (e) shall include, but shall not be limited to, a detailed description of the best management practices and any on-site or off-site mitigation the applicant shall employ, informed by the latest science at the time the plan is made, that will avoid, minimize and mitigate impacts to wildlife, including, but not limited to: threatened or endangered species such as North Atlantic right whales, coastal and marine habitats; natural resources; ecosystems; and traditional or existing water-dependent uses, including, but not limited to, commercial and recreational fishing. The plan shall include pre-construction and post-construction monitoring to understand the effects of facilities on marine and avian species.

# APPENDIX E: CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION WITH RESPECT TO MASSACHUSETTS

With respect to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, and subject to the confidentiality provisions described above for information associated with this solicitation in the possession of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, the Massachusetts Distribution Companies shall use commercially reasonable efforts to treat the confidential information that they receive from bidders in a confidential manner and not, except: (1) as required by law; (2) pursuant to a request for information in a regulatory or judicial proceeding; or (3) pursuant to a request for information by a public utilities commission with supervisory authority over any of the Massachusetts Distribution Companies, disclose such information to any third party or use such information for any purpose other than in connection with this RFP; provided, however, that if such confidential information is sought in any regulatory or judicial inquiry or proceeding or pursuant to a request for information by a public utilities commission with supervisory authority over any of the Massachusetts Distribution Company, the Massachusetts Distribution Companies shall take reasonable steps to limit disclosure and use of said confidential information through the use of non-disclosure agreements or requests for orders seeking protective treatment, and shall inform the bidders that the confidential information is being sought. Bidders are advised that the Massachusetts Distribution Companies will share bid information with (a) the Massachusetts DOER to facilitate DOER's ability to perform its role under Section 83C, which includes its obligations to assess: (1) the process followed by the Massachusetts Distribution Companies; and (2) the merits of one or more PPAs proposed for approval to the MDPU and (b) the Independent Evaluator to facilitate the Independent Evaluator's performance of its role pursuant to Section 83C and this RFP. Pursuant to G.L. c. 25A, § 7, DOER has statutory authority to protect price, inventory and product delivery data. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event such confidential information is shared pursuant to a request for confidential treatment and confidential treatment is not afforded, the Massachusetts Distribution Companies shall not be held responsible. Similarly, bidders shall use commercially reasonable efforts to treat all confidential information received from the Massachusetts Distribution Companies in a confidential manner and will not, except as required by law or in a regulatory or judicial proceeding, disclose such information to any third party or use such information for any purpose other than in connection with this RFP; provided, however that if such confidential information is sought in any regulatory or judicial proceeding, the bidders shall take reasonable steps to limit disclosure and use of said confidential information through the use of non-disclosure agreements or requests for orders seeking protective treatment, and shall inform the Massachusetts Distribution Companies that the confidential information is being sought.

Bidders are advised that, per MDPU requirements, confidential bidder information may be disclosed during the MDPU approval process to parties that are granted full intervenor status in the proceeding. In past proceedings, full intervenor status has been granted to competitive suppliers and industry trade groups, and therefore, confidential bidder information has been

required, subject to an executed NDA, to be disclosed to legal counsel and/or a third-party consultant retained by the intervener for purposes of the proceeding.

Bidders are advised that, for any requests of the Massachusetts Distribution Companies for bidder information other than as described in the previous two paragraphs, the Massachusetts Distribution Companies will recommend that the party seeking bidder information contact the bidder directly to request such information and negotiate a non-disclosure agreement, as necessary.

# APPENDIX F-1: STANDARD OF CONDUCT – NATIONAL GRID

# STANDARD OF CONDUCT GOVERNING ACTIVITY RELATED TO THE SECTION 83C ROUND 4 OFFSHORE WIND SOLICITATION March 7, 2023

# **INTRODUCTION**

Massachusetts Department of Energy Resources ("DOER") intends to issue a competitive solicitation for long-term contracts to purchase energy and/or renewable energy certificates from offshore wind energy generating facilities and any associated transmission service also referred to as "Section 83C Round 4," in coordination with the Massachusetts electric distribution companies (the "EDCs"). 30 Massachusetts Electric Company and Nantucket Electric Company, each d/b/a National Grid Energy, along with other non-affiliated EDCs, will support DOER with respect to the development of this procurement framework and the evaluation of proposals received in response, and will be counterparties to any long-term power purchase agreements awarded pursuant to this procurement.

# **PURPOSE**

The purpose of this Standard of Conduct is to establish uniform protocols and standards to govern the conduct of National Grid employees and representatives related to the Section 83C Round 4 process. Nothing in this document is intended to affect or modify the rights, obligations or duties of the EDCs arising under applicable state or federal laws, regulations or orders, but may provide additional obligations as it relates to the Section 83C Round 4 process to the extent provided for herein.

The EDCs acknowledge the need to follow a certain standard of conduct to ensure that the Section 83C Round 4 process is conducted in a fair, transparent, and competitive manner; all laws, regulations, rules, and standards and codes of conduct are observed, including, specifically, the Department of Public Utilities regulations 220 CMR 12.00, "Standards of Conduct for Distribution Companies and their Competitive Affiliates," which address costs and accounting, among other things; all potential bidders are treated equally; no potential bidder, including specifically an National Grid competitive affiliate, receives preferential treatment or confidential, non-public information not available to other potential bidders, enabling it to gain an unfair competitive advantage; and the efforts of the EDCs in the Section 83C Round 4 process do not create any actual or apparent conflict of interest. The EDCs seek to avoid any actual or apparent conflict of interest by and among themselves and their affiliates who may submit a proposal and who may be participating in the solicitation and evaluation of proposals in the Section 83C Round 4 process.

# **STANDARDS**

1. These standards are to be followed by all employees and representatives of National Grid

<sup>30</sup> This is the fourth solicitation for offshore wind and it is part of a staggered procurement schedule developed by DOER, in coordination with the EDCs, in accordance with the authority granted to DOER under Section 61 of Chapter 179 of the Acts of 2022 to require the EDCs to jointly and competitively conduct offshore wind generation solicitations and procurements to ensure that the EDCs enter into cost-effective contracts for Offshore Wind Energy Generation equal to approximately 5,600 MW of aggregate nameplate capacity not later than June 30, 2027. The Distribution Companies and DOER will issue subsequent solicitations as necessary, consistent with Section 83C. St. 2016, c. 188, s. 12 amended St. 2008, c. 169, s. 83. This section was later supplemented by St. 2018, c. 227, s. 21(a), and amended by St. 2021, c. 24, s. 69 and St. 2022, c. 1<sup>3</sup>/<sub>2</sub>9, s. 61.

F2 - 3

participating on behalf of the EDC or a Competitive Affiliate (as defined in 220 CMR 12.02) with respect to an RFP issued from the Section 83C Round 4 process, and all such persons must review, understand, acknowledge and agree to adhere to these standards in connection therewith.

- a. Effective March 7, 2023, and through and until the date described in paragraph 15 below, the EDC shall designate, and add within a reasonably timely manner, the individuals participating with respect to an RFP issued from the Section 83C Round 4 process. With respect to the Section 83C Round 4 process, each such individual shall be designated to be a Common Supervisor or on either a Bid Team or an Evaluation Team, no individual shall be a member of both a Bid Team and an Evaluation Team, and no individual may change from one team to the other during the Section 83C Round 4 process. Nor may an individual change from one team to the other for a period of at least two (2) years from the termination of their last participation on a **Bid Team** or **Evaluation Team** in a prior offshore wind solicitation process; however, such above-noted individual changes from one team to another does not negate the five (5) year obligation to maintain confidential information noted in Section 15 below. For the avoidance of doubt, this provision applies to and supersedes any prior related Section 83C Rounds 1, 2 or 3 or 83D Standard of Conduct provision. The Evaluation Team will comprise employees and consultants/representatives of National Grid who participate in the planning, conduct, administration, endorsement, or oversight of the development of an RFP issued from the Section 83C Round 4 process, the evaluation of proposals, selection of proposed projects, negotiation of any agreements, and related filings with state and/or federal regulatory authorities on behalf of the EDC in connection with the Section 83C Round 4 process. National Grid provided the Independent Evaluator an initial list of its members of the Evaluation Team on or about March 7, 2023 (but one which is comprehensive based on National Grid's plans at that time). National Grid may add more members to the **Evaluation Team** over time.
- b. The **Bid Team** will comprise employees and consultants/representatives of National Grid who participate in the planning, conduct, administration, endorsement, or oversight of the development of a proposal on behalf of a Competitive Affiliate in response to an RFP issued from the Section 83C Round 4 process. National Grid provided the Independent Evaluator an initial list of its **Bid Team** on or about March 7, 2023 (but one which is comprehensive based on National Grid's plans at that time). National Grid may add more members to the **Bid Team** over time.
- c. Individuals who are neither members of the **Bid Team** nor **Evaluation Team** but who supervise in the normal course of their job responsibilities two or more employees who are participating on the **Bid Team** and the **Evaluation Team** shall be identified as "**Common Supervisors**". National Grid provided the Independent Evaluator an initial list of its **Common Supervisors** on or about March 7, 2023 (but one which is comprehensive based on National Grid's plans at that time). National Grid may add more **Common Supervisors** over time.
- d. For any Massachusetts competitive energy solicitation following 83C Round 4 where the person switching from one team to the other is due to an ordinary, non-temporary change in job title and/or responsibilities and is otherwise allowed, National Grid shall post on the website for the competitive energy solicitation (in which that person is first participating) as a member of the opposite team:
  - i. The identity of any **Bid Team** member in a past solicitation who has become an **Evaluation Team** member and a current solicitation;

- ii. The identity of any **Evaluation Team** member in a past solicitation who has become a **Bid Team** member in a current solicitation;
- iii. The person's new job title and responsibilities;
- iv. The last date that the person participated on either the Evaluation Team or the Bid Team; and
- v. The confidentiality obligations under this Standard of Conduct shall continue to apply to all persons who switch from one team to the other, except to the extent information is in the public realm or allowed pursuant to this Standard of Conduct.
- 2. With respect to each aspect of the Section 83C Round 4 process described above, the degree of participation and the conduct of the EDC or a Competitive Affiliate will be consistent with applicable state and federal laws, regulations and orders.
- 3. The EDC and/or a Competitive Affiliate may take further actions above and beyond these guidelines as it or they deem necessary or appropriate to avoid an actual or perceived conflict of interest in connection with the Section 83C Round 4 process or an RFP issued thereunder or to reduce the possibility of non-compliance with this Standard of Conduct.
- 4. Throughout the Section 83C Round 4 process, the **Bid Team** and the **Evaluation Team** will be represented by separate in-house legal counsel. The **Bid Team** and the **Evaluation Team** may also be represented by separate outside counsel; however, outside law firms must establish ethical walls within their firms to ensure separation of attorneys supporting the **Bid Team** and those supporting the **Evaluation Team**.
- 5. The **Bid Team** and the **Evaluation Team** shall report through and operate within independent companies, business units or departments to the extent reasonably feasible, based on the corporate and organizational structure of National Grid at the time. Where not reasonably feasible, the EDC and Competitive Affiliate will take reasonable measures to ensure these standards are observed.
- 6. The EDC agrees to request the inclusion of a requirement, in an RFP issued from the Section 83C Round 4 process, that bidders disclose any affiliation, ownership interest, financial interest, or other potential conflict of interest with any EDC involved in the Section 83C Round 4 process.
- 7. The EDC and Competitive Affiliate shall ensure that no confidential, non-public information is communicated or shared between or among the **Evaluation Team**, including members thereof, and the **Bid Team**, including members thereof, from the earlier solicitation processes for offshore wind energy and clean energy and during the Section 83C Round 4 process (including 83D and the first three rounds of 83C in Massachusetts), except as allowed under the rules of the Section 83C Round 4 process or RFP issued thereunder, or this Standard of Conduct, regarding the following:
  - a. the planning, conduct, administration, endorsement, or oversight of the development of the Section 83C Round 4 process or an RFP issued thereunder, or the evaluation of proposals, or the selection of proposed projects in connection with the Section 83C Round 4 process or an RFP issued thereunder or the negotiation of any contracts with any selected bidder unless the selected bidder is a Competitive Affiliate and only in the context of negotiations between the EDCs and such selected bidder; or 52.5

- b. the planning, conduct, administration, endorsement, or oversight of the development of a proposal in response to an RFP issued from the Section 83C Round 4 process on behalf of a Competitive Affiliate.
- 8. No member of the **Evaluation Team** may consult, advise or communicate directly or indirectly with a member of the **Bid Team**, and vice-versa, any confidential, non-public information during the Section 83C Round 4 process, except as contemplated under the rules of the Section 83C Round 4 process or an RFP issued thereunder, or this Standard of Conduct, regarding the following:
  - a. the planning, conduct, administration, endorsement, or oversight of the development of the Section 83C Round 4 process or an RFP issued thereunder, or the evaluation of proposals, or the selection of proposed projects within the Section 83C Round 4 process; or,
  - b. the planning, conduct, administration, endorsement, or oversight of the development of a proposal in response to an RFP issued under the Section 83C Round 4 process on behalf of a Competitive Affiliate.

In addition, the obligation not to communicate or share confidential, non-public information applies to confidential, non-public information obtained from earlier solicitation processes for off-shore wind energy or clean energy and applies to the Section 83C Round 4 process, subject to and without regard to the effective date of this Standard of Conduct.

- 9. **Common Supervisors** are responsible for ensuring compliance with this Standard of Conduct and may not be a conduit and communicate directly or indirectly any confidential, non-public information obtained from a member of the **Evaluation Team** with a member of the **Bid Team**, and vice-versa, during the Section 83C Round 4 process, except as contemplated under the rules of the Section 83C Round 4 process or an RFP issued thereunder, or this Standard of Conduct, regarding the following:
  - a. the planning, conduct, administration, endorsement, or oversight of the development of the Section 83C Round 4 process or an RFP issued thereunder, or the evaluation of proposals, or the selection of proposed projects in connection with the Section 83C Round 4 process or an RFP issued thereunder or the negotiation of contracts thereunder; or,
  - b. the planning, conduct, administration, endorsement, or oversight of the development of a proposal in response to an RFP issued from the Section 83C Round 4 process on behalf of a Competitive Affiliate.

No National Grid employee or consultant/representative that is not an **Evaluation Team** member or **Common Supervisor** shall be given access to confidential, non-public information pertaining to the planning, conduct, administration, endorsement, or oversight of the development of the Section 83C Round 4 process or an RFP issued thereunder, or the evaluation of proposals, or the selection of proposed projects in connection with the Section 83C Round 4 process or an RFP issued thereunder or the negotiation of contracts thereunder.

Further, no National Grid employee or consultant/representative that is not a Bid Team member or **Common Supervisor** shall be given access to confidential, non-public information pertaining to the planning, conduct, administration, endorsement, or oversight of the development of a proposal in response to an RFP issued under the Section 83C Round 4 process on behalf of a Competitive Affiliate.

F2 - 6

- 10. Since National Grid employees and consultants/representatives are divided into an **Evaluation Team** and a **Bid Team** subject to the terms of this Standard of Conduct, the EDC's **Evaluation Team** members may participate, as contemplated under the rules of the Section 83C Round 4 process or an RFP issued thereunder, in the evaluation or selection of proposed projects submitted by a Competitive Affiliate, and the negotiation of contracts relating to any projects selected in connection with the Section 83C Round 4 process or an RFP issued thereunder, including any submitted by a Competitive Affiliate.
- 11. National Grid shall communicate these standards to all persons serving on the **Bid Team**, the **Evaluation Team**, or as a **Common Supervisor** and shall conduct appropriate training for such persons, and all such persons shall certify in writing at the beginning of the Section 83C Round 4 process their commitment to honoring and complying with the Standard of Conduct in a form consistent with Appendix A, and shall certify in writing at the conclusion of the Section 83C Round 4 process that they honored and complied with the Standard of Conduct throughout the Section 83C Round 4 process in a form consistent with Appendix
  - B. All persons serving on the **Bid Team**, the **Evaluation Team**, or as a **Common Supervisor** will be instructed to refer any questions regarding compliance with the Standard of Conduct (including any reasonably suspected violations or confirmed violations) to the National Grid Designated Compliance Officer. If the National Grid Designated Compliance officer becomes aware of any reasonably suspected violation or confirmed violation of this Standard of Conduct, he shall inform the Independent Evaluator with respect to the nature of the reasonably suspected violation or confirmed violation, his opinion with respect to its materiality, and with a plan, if any, to cure or mitigate such reasonably suspected violation or confirmed violation and to prevent the prospect of reoccurrence. Upon the request of the Independent Evaluator near or following the end of the Section 83C Round 4 process, the National Grid Designated Compliance Officer shall report to the Independent Evaluator regarding compliance with this Standard of Conduct and shall provide a certificate of compliance in the form attached hereto as Appendix C.
- 12. National Grid shall timely post on the Section 83C Round 4 process website the name of each member of the **Evaluation Team** and **Bid Team** who is, or is planned to be, a participant in the Section 83C Round 4 process (including those persons who are added to a team pursuant to Sections 1(a) and 1(b) herein). Job titles and organizational roles shall be timely provided to the IE. In addition, National Grid shall timely provide the names of the **Common Supervisors** to the Independent Evaluator, along with their job titles and organizational roles (including any added **Common Supervisors** pursuant to Section 1(c) herein).
- 13. The **Evaluation Team** and **Evaluation Team** members shall not treat the bid of an affiliate bidder (including any bid where an affiliate is participating in the bid) in a preferential manner or treat any other bid in a discriminatory manner. This requirement shall also apply to **Common Supervisors** to the extent they participate in the bid selection process.
- 14. The **Bid Team** and **Bid Team** members shall properly report their services and expenditures pursuant to National Grid procedures to prevent cross-subsidization of the **Bid Team** by the EDC and its ratepayers.
- 15. This Standard of Conduct shall be in place until the earliest of: (1) the conclusion of all regulatory filings or approval proceedings resulting from the Section 83C Round 4 process; (2) the termination or abandonment of the Section 83C Round24 process; (3) the execution of all contracts entered into

by the EDCs pursuant to the Section 83C Round 4 process with the winning bidder(s); provided, however, the obligation of Evaluation Team members and Common Supervisors not to communicate or share confidential, non-public information under this Standard of Conduct shall extend for a period of five (5) years from the date that a final Order is issued in a proceeding on the Section 83C Round 4 process by the Department of Public Utilities.

# NATIONAL GRID USA SERVICE COMPANY, INC.

By: Joseph Suich Chief Complaince officer Name: Title:

# **APPENDIX A:**

# NATIONAL GRID OFFSHORE WIND ENERGY SECTION 83C ROUND 4 OFFSHORE WIND SOLICITATION PROCESS STANDARDS OF CONDUCT EMPLOYEE CERTIFICATE

Reference is hereby made to the STANDARD OF CONDUCT GOVERNING ACTIVITY RELATED TO THE SECTION 83C ROUND 4 OFFSHORE WIND SOLICITATION, dated March 7, 2023

(the "Standard of Conduct"). I certify that I have been provided with a copy of the Standard of Conduct, I have read and fully understand the Standard of Conduct and I have received training on the Standard of Conduct on the date noted below. Furthermore, I understand that I have been designated by National Grid to participate in this process and I commit to honoring the Standard of Conduct throughout the entire process and I acknowledge that I will execute a certificate at the conclusion of this process that I have honored the Standard of Conduct. Moreover, I understand and commit that I shall be exclusively on the designated team for the duration of the Section 83C Round 4 solicitation process and I shall ensure that no confidential, non-public information regarding the solicitation or evaluation process, a proposal, or the evaluation of any proposal shall be communicated outside of my team.

To the extent I have any questions regarding compliance with these Standard of Conduct I will consult with Joseph Suich, Chief Compliance Officer (joseph.suich@nationalgrid.com), National Grid.

| Dated:        |  |
|---------------|--|
| Print Name:   |  |
| Signed:       |  |
| Job Title:    |  |
| Department:   |  |
| Date Trained: |  |

# APPENDIX B CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

I participated on a National Grid Bid or Evaluation Team or was a Common Supervisor in connection with the Massachusetts 83C Round 4 Solicitation Process. As part of this certification, I certify that (a) I completed the training required under section 11 of the STANDARD OF CONDUCT RELATED TO THE SECTION 83C ROUND 4 OFFSHORE WIND SOLICITATION ("Standard of Conduct"); (b) I affirmed my commitment to honor and comply with the Standard of Conduct by signing a Certification in a form similar to Appendix A of the Standard of Conduct; (c) I honored and complied with the Standard of Conduct throughout the 83C Round 4 Solicitation Process; and, (d) I have no knowledge, and no reason to believe, that there has been any failure to comply with the Standard of Conduct during the 83C Round 4 Solicitation Process.

| Process.         |  |
|------------------|--|
|                  |  |
| Signed:          |  |
| Printed Name:    |  |
| Γitle:           |  |
| Dated:           |  |
| Supervisor Name: |  |
| Γitle:           |  |
|                  |  |
|                  |  |

# APPENDIX C: CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

I am the National Grid Compliance Officer assigned to these processes, and I certify that National Grid has complied with the NATIONAL GRID OFFSHORE WIND ENERGY SECTION 83C ROUND 4

OFFSHORE WIND SOLICITATION PROCESS STANDARDS OF CONDUCT EMPLOYEE

CERTIFICATE ("Standard of Conduct"). As part of this certification, I certify that: (a) the training required under Section 11 of the Standard of Conduct was conducted for Evaluation Team and Bid Team members and for Common Supervisors; (b) that all such persons affirmed their commitment to honor and comply with the Standard of Conduct in a form consistent with Appendix A of the Standard of Conduct; (c) that all such persons certified in writing at or near the conclusion of the OSW Solicitation Processes that they honored and complied with the Standard of Conduct in a form consistent with Appendix B of the Standard of Conduct; and (d) that I have no knowledge, and no reason to believe, that there has been any failure to comply with the Standard of Conduct.

| Signed:       |
|---------------|
| Printed Name: |
| Γitle:        |
| Dated:        |
|               |

un ch

#### APPENDIX F-2: STANDARD OF CONDUCT – EVERSOURCE

# EVERSOURCE STANDARD OF CONDUCT GOVERNING ACTIVITY RELATED TO OFFSHORE WIND DEVELOPMENT AND SOLICITATIONS FOR CLEAN ENERGY RESOURCES

Effective: January 1, 2023

# 1. INTRODUCTION

- 1.1. Eversource commits to comply with all laws and regulations, rules, and standards and codes of conduct governing utility interactions by and between affiliate companies to ensure that the Eversource electric distribution companies (The Connecticut Light and Power Company d/b/a Eversource Energy, NSTAR Electric Company d/b/a Eversource Energy, and Public Service Company of New Hampshire d/b/a Eversource Energy) (collectively "Eversource EDCs" with each individual company an "Eversource EDC") do not provide an unfair competitive advantage, preferential treatment, or improper subsidy to Eversource's competitive energy affiliates, including specifically its offshore wind affiliates ("Eversource Competitive Energy Affiliates").
- 1.2. Eversource acknowledges the need to follow certain additional standards of conduct to ensure:
  - 1.2.1. Competitive solicitations for clean energy resources, including specifically offshore wind, are conducted in a fair, transparent and competitive manner;
  - 1.2.2. All applicable laws and regulations, rules, and standards and codes of conduct, including specifically those relating to such **Competitive Energy Solicitations**, are observed;
  - 1.2.3. All potential bidders in **Competitive Energy Solicitations** are treated fairly and equitably and are provided the same access to solicitation-related information as an **Eversource Competitive Energy Affiliate**;
  - 1.2.4. No potential bidder in a **Competitive Energy Solicitation**, including specifically an **Eversource Competitive Energy Affiliate**, receives preferential treatment, subsidy or confidential, non-public information not available to other potential non-affiliated bidders;
  - 1.2.5. No potential bidder in a **Competitive Energy Solicitation**, including specifically an **Eversource Competitive Energy Affiliate**, is given an unfair competitive advantage;
  - 1.2.6. No costs and expenses of **Eversource Competitive Energy Affiliates** are cross-subsidized by customers of the **Eversource EDCs**; and
  - 1.2.7. Eversource employees, consultants or representatives do not engage in conduct that creates an actual or apparent conflict of interest in connection with any **Competitive Energy Solicitations**.

2.1 This **Standard of Conduct** is effective on *January 1, 2023*, and establishes protocols and standards to govern the conduct of Eversource employees, consultants and representatives in connection with (a) Eversource's ownership interest in, and development, construction, operation and maintenance of, competitive energy projects, including specifically offshore wind, and/or the development and submission of bids in connection with **Competitive Energy Solicitations**; and (b) the planning, conduct, administration, or oversight of **Competitive Energy Solicitations**, where an **Eversource Competitive Energy Affiliate** may be or is a bidder.

# 3. DEFINITIONS

- 3.1. *Competitive Energy Solicitation*—Any solicitation process seeking competitive bids for renewable or clean energy resources or products sponsored, overseen or regulated by state or federal regulatory bodies in which an **Eversource EDC** is participating.
- 3.2. Confidential Business Information ("CBI")—Confidential and proprietary business information of the company, including technical, financial, commercial, marketing, intellectual property or other business information. This also includes confidential Critical Infrastructure Information vital to electric, transmission, generation, and distribution operations. Critical Infrastructure Protection ("CIP") information designated as such by the North American Electric Reliability Corporation ("NERC") CIP standards, and critical energy infrastructure information ("CEII") designated as such by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC").
- 3.3. Confidential Competitive Energy Solicitation Information ("CCESI")—Confidential, non-public information, including CBI relating to:
  - 3.3.1. The planning, conduct, administration, endorsement, or oversight of the development of a **Competitive Energy Solicitation** or an RFP issued in connection therewith, or the evaluation of bids or proposals, or the selection of proposed projects in connection with any such **Competitive Energy Solicitation** or an RFP issued thereunder;
  - 3.3.2. The planning, conduct, administration, endorsement, or oversight of the development of a proposal in response to an RFP issued in connection with a **Competitive Energy Solicitation** on behalf of an **Eversource Competitive Energy Affiliate**; or,
  - 3.3.3. The negotiation of any contracts with any selected bidder.
- 3.4. Eversource Bid Team—Eversource employees, consultants and representatives who participate on behalf of an Eversource Competitive Energy Affiliate, including specifically an offshore wind affiliate, in the planning, conduct, administration, endorsement, or oversight of the development of a proposal in response to an RFP in, and/or the negotiation of any contracts pursuant to, a Competitive Energy Solicitation.
- 3.5. Eversource Common Supervisor—Eversource supervisory employees who are not members of an Eversource Bid Team or Eversource Evaluation Team and who directly or indirectly supervise in the normal course of their job responsibilities one or more employees participating (a) on an Eversource Bid Team and (b) on an Eversource Evaluation Team.
- 3.6. Eversource Competitive Energy Affiliate—Eversource affiliate company that is engaged in the sale or marketing of electricity, renewable generation or energy-related services on a competitive basis.

- 3.7. Eversource Evaluation (Buy) Team—Eversource employees, consultants and representatives who participate on behalf of an Eversource EDC in the planning, conduct, administration, endorsement, or oversight of the development of an RFP issued in connection with a Competitive Energy Solicitation, and/or the evaluation of proposals, selection of proposed projects, negotiation of any agreements, and related filings with state and/or federal regulatory authorities on behalf of an Eversource EDC in connection with a Competitive Energy Solicitation.
- 3.8. *Eversource Senior Executives*—The CEO and Executive Vice Presidents of Eversource Energy and Eversource Energy Service Company, as applicable.
- 3.9. Standard of Conduct—This Eversource Standard of Conduct Governing Activity Related to Offshore Wind Development and Solicitations for Clean Energy Resources (Effective January 1, 2023.
- 3.10. For purposes of this **Standard of Conduct** "representatives" shall be deemed to include legal counsel.

# 4. ROLES & RESPONSIBILITIES

- 4.1. Bid & Evaluation Teams—Eversource employees, consultants and representatives participating in a Competitive Energy Solicitation will be a member of an Eversource Bid Team or an Eversource Evaluation Team. No Eversource employees, consultants or representatives participating in a Competitive Energy Solicitationmay be a member of both an Eversource Bid Team and an Eversource Evaluation Team or may change from one team to the other (a) during the same or successive Competitive Energy Solicitation processes; and (b) for a period of at least two (2) years from the termination of their last participation on a Bid or Evaluation Team in a prior Competitive Energy Solicitation process, whichever is longer.
  - 4.1.1. Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to the Massachusetts 83C Round 3 Competitive Energy Solicitation, there shall be no switching from one team to the other if the person participated in one or more **Competitive Energy Solicitations** under Section 83C or 83D as an **Eversource Evaluation Team** or **Eversource Bid Team** member prior to the effective date of this **Standard of Conduct**.
  - 4.1.2. For any Massachusetts Competitive Energy Solicitation following 83C Round 3 where the person switching from one team to the other is due to an ordinary, non-temporary change in job title and/or responsibilities and is otherwise allowed, Eversource shall post on the website for the **Competitive Energy Solicitation** in which that person is first participating as a member of the opposite team:
    - 4.1.2.1. the identity of any **Eversource Bid Team** member in a past solicitation who has become an **Eversource Evaluation Team** member in the current solicitation;
    - 4.1.2.2. the identity of any **Eversource Evaluation Team** member in a past solicitation who has become an **Eversource Bid Team** member in the current solicitation; and
    - 4.1.2.3. the person's new job title and/or responsibilities.
  - 4.1.3. The confidentiality obligations under this **Standard of Conduct** shall continue to apply to all persons who switch from one team to the other as described below in Sections 5.7

- **4.2.** Rosters—Eversource will develop and maintain rosters of Eversource employees, consultants and representatives participating in a Competitive Energy Solicitation as members of an Eversource Bid Team or an Eversource Evaluation Team. Rosters will be posted on the Compliance & Me site on the Eversource HUB and will be reviewed and updated at least quarterly by the Deputy General Counsel & Chief Compliance Officer in consultation with the leads from the Eversource Bid Teams and Eversource Evaluation Teams, as well as the leadership of the Competitive Energy Affiliates.
  - 4.2.1. In addition, in connection with a **Competitive Energy Solicitation** in Massachusetts, Eversource will, if required,
    - 4.2.1.1. Post on the designated clean energy solicitation website in a timely fashion the names of Eversource employees, consultants and representatives participating in a Competitive Energy Solicitation as members of an Eversource Bid Team or an Eversource Evaluation Team.
    - 4.2.1.2. Provide the Independent Evaluator (if one is appointed) in a timely fashion, with
      - 4.2.1.2.1. a list of job titles and organizational roles of members of **Eversource Bid Teams** and **Eversource Evaluation Teams**; and
      - 4.2.1.2.2. the names of **Common Supervisors** of members of **Eversource Bid Teams** and **Eversource Evaluation Teams**, along with their job titles and organizational roles.
- 4.3. Common Supervisor Mitigation Plans—Eversource Common Supervisors will develop a written mitigation plan setting out the controls they and their reports who are members of Eversource Bid Teams and Eversource Evaluation Teams will implement to ensure compliance with the Standard of Conduct, including specifically the confidentiality and noconduit requirements, and provide them to Eversource's Deputy General Counsel & Chief Compliance Officer.
- 4.4.*Badging*—In connection with a **Competitive Energy Solicitation**, members of an **Eversource Bid Team** and an **Eversource Evaluation Team**, will be assigned colored ID badge holders to wear to enable easy visual identification of their status as follows:
  - 4.4.1. Eversource Evaluation Team members will wear a red ID badge cover; and
  - 4.4.2. **Eversource Bid Team** members will wear a green ID badge cover.
- 4.5. Compliance—The degree of participation and the conduct of an Eversource EDC or an Eversource Competitive Energy Affiliate in a Competitive Energy Solicitation will be consistent with, and in compliance with, applicable state and federal laws, regulations and orders.
- 4.6. Affiliate Disclosures—The Eversource EDCs agree to request the inclusion of a requirement, in any RFP issued in connection with a Competitive Energy Solicitation, that bidders disclose any affiliation, ownership interest, financial interest, or other potential conflict of interest with any electric distribution companies involved in the solicitation process.

- 4.7. Legal Representation—Eversource Bid Team and Eversource Evaluation Team will be represented by separate in-house legal counsel and, where practicable, by separate outside counsel during a Competitive Energy Solicitation; however, to the extent any outside law firm represents both the Eversource Bid Team and the Eversource Evaluation Team, such firm must establish ethical walls within their firm pursuant to a written mitigation plan to ensure separation of attorneys supporting an Eversource Bid Team and those supporting an Eversource Evaluation Team.
- 4.8. Independence—An Eversource Bid Team and Eversource Evaluation Team participating in a Competitive Energy Solicitation will report through and operate within independent companies, business units or departments to the extent reasonably feasible, based on the corporate and organizational structure of Eversource at the time. Where not reasonably feasible, Eversource will take measures to ensure compliance with this Standard of Conduct.

# 5. STANDARDS & CONTROLS

- 5.1. Communication & Training—Eversource will communicate the standards under the Standard of Conduct to all Eversource employees, consultants and representatives serving on an Eversource Bid Team and an Eversource Evaluation Team, as well as all Eversource Common Supervisors and Eversource Senior Executives and provide them with appropriate initial periodic refresher training and awareness communications.
- 5.2. Certifications—All Eversource employees, consultants and representatives serving on an Eversource Bid Team or Eversource Evaluation Team, as well as all Eversource Common Supervisors and Eversource Senior Executives, shall certify in writing at the beginning of each Competitive Energy Solicitation process in which they participate that they reviewed, understand, and agree to comply with the Standard of Conduct in a form consistent with Appendix A, and will certify in writing at the conclusion of each Competitive Energy Solicitation process in which they participate that they complied with and did not violate the Standard of Conduct during the solicitation process in a form consistent with Appendix B.
- 5.3. Non-Discrimination/No Preferential Treatment—Eversource Evaluation Team members shall not treat the bid or proposal of an Eversource Competitive Energy Affiliate (including any bid or proposal in which an Eversource Competitive Energy Affiliate is participating) in a preferential manner or treat any other bid in a discriminatory manner. This requirement shall also apply to Common Supervisors and/or Senior Executives to the extent they participate in the bid selection process.
- 5.4. Expense Reporting; No Cross-Subsidization—The Eversource Bid Team will properly report their time, services and expenditures pursuant to Eversource procedures to prevent cross-subsidization of an Eversource Bid Team member, or Eversource Competitive Energy Affiliate by the Eversource EDCs and their customers.
- 5.5. Confidentiality—Members of an Eversource Bid Team shall not directly or indirectly share, discuss or disclose CCESI with members of an Eversource Evaluation Team. Members of an Eversource Evaluation Team shall not directly or indirectly share, discuss or disclose CCESI with members of an Eversource Bid Team.
  - 5.5.1. No Eversource employee, consultant or representative who is not an Eversource Evaluation Team member, Eversource Senior Executive or Eversource Common Supervisor shall be given access to GCESI pertaining to the planning, conduct, administration, endorsement, or oversight of the development of the solicitation process or an RFP issued in

- connection therewith, or the evaluation of proposals, or the selection of, or negotiations pertaining to, proposed projects in connection with the solicitation process or an RFP issued thereunder.
- 5.5.2. No Eversource employee, consultant or representative who is not an **Eversource Bid Team** member, **Eversource Senior Executive** or **Eversource Common Supervisor** shall be given access to **CCESI** pertaining to the planning, conduct, administration, endorsement, or oversight of the development of a proposal in response to an RFP issued in connection with the solicitation process on behalf of a **Eversource Competitive Energy Affiliate**.
- 5.6.No Conduit Requirements—In addition to the confidentiality requirements for members of Eversource Bid Teams and Eversource Evaluation Teams, no Eversource employees, consultants or representatives not members of an Eversource Bid Team or an Eversource Evaluation Team, may be a conduit for communicating directly or indirectly any CCESI to other employees not authorized to access the CCESI, including specifically as follows:
  - 5.6.1. Eversource Senior Executives and Common Supervisors are responsible for ensuring compliance of their direct and indirect reports with the Standard of Conduct and may not be a conduit for communicating directly or indirectly any CCESI:
    - 5.6.1.1. Obtained or learned from a member of an Eversource Evaluation Team with a member of an Eversource Bid Team; or
    - **5.6.1.2.** Obtained or learned from a member of an Eversource Bid Team with a member of an Eversource Evaluation Team
    - **5.6.1.3.** Except as allowed under the rules of the specific **Competitive Energy Solicitation** or the **Standard of Conduct**.
- 5.7. *CCESI from Prior Solicitation Processes*—The confidentiality and no-conduit obligations apply to CCESI developed and related to prior Competitive Energy Solicitations unless and to the extent that such information is in the public realm.
- 5.8. Information Security Controls—Each Eversource Bid Team or Eversource Evaluation
  Team will have access to a secure file share and/or Microsoft Teams/SharePoint location for the development, access and maintenance of CCESI and other information related to the Eversource Bid Team or Eversource Evaluation Team, as applicable.
  - 5.8.1. Access to the secure information location will be limited to individuals who are members of an Eversource Bid Team or Eversource Evaluation Team who have completed their initial Standard of Conduct training and have certified that they reviewed, understand, and agree to comply with the Standard of Conduct.
  - 5.8.2. The Eversource Deputy General Counsel & Chief Compliance Officer will control access to the secure locations.
- 5.9. Competitive Energy Solicitation Meetings—There shall be no meetings of one or more Eversource Bid Team members and one or more Eversource Evaluation Team members relating to a Competitive Energy Solicitation at which CCESI or any other non-public information relating to a Competitive Energy Solicitation is discussed or disclosed or that otherwise violates the terms of the applicable Request for Proposals for Long-Term Contracts

for Offshore Wind Energy Projects, including specifically Sections 1.4 and 1.6.

- 5.10. Competitive Energy Solicitation Communications—There shall be no correspondence or communications related to a Competitive Energy Solicitation in which CCESI or any other non-public information relating to a Competitive Energy Solicitation is discussed or disclosed, where such communication or correspondence is sent to one or more Eversource Bid Team members and one or more Eversource Evaluation Team members, or that otherwise violates the terms of the applicable Request for Proposals for Long-Term Contracts for Offshore Wind Energy Projects, including specifically Sections 1.4 and 1.6.
- 5.11. Communicating Standard of Conduct Questions & Suspected Violations—Questions regarding compliance with the Standard of Conduct, as well as reasonably suspected violations of the Standard of Conduct shall be promptly communicated to the Eversource Deputy General Counsel & Chief Compliance Officer.
- 5.12. Violations of the Standard of Conduct; Mitigation Plan; Reporting—When the Eversource Deputy General Counsel & Chief Compliance Officer becomes or is made aware of any reasonably suspected violation of the Standard of Conduct, he shall promptly investigate to determine whether a violation has occurred. If he concludes a violation of the Standard of Conduct has occurred, he will document the nature of the violation, including its materiality, and develop an appropriate plan to cure or mitigate the impact of the violation and to prevent the prospect of reoccurrence.
  - 5.12.1. In connection with **Competitive Energy Solicitations** in Massachusetts, the Eversource Deputy General Counsel & Chief Compliance Officer shall promptly inform the Independent Evaluator, if one is appointed, of the nature of a violation or reasonably suspected violation of the **Standard of Conduct**, his opinion with respect to its materiality, and a plan, if any, to cure or mitigate the impact of the violation or reasonably suspected violation and to prevent the prospect of reoccurrence.
  - 5.12.2. In connection with, and near or following the end of, a **Competitive Energy Solicitation** in Massachusetts, and upon the request of the Independent Evaluator (if one is appointed), the Eversource Deputy General Counsel & Chief Compliance Officer shall confirm Eversource's compliance with the **Standard of Conduct** during the solicitation process in a form similar to **Appendix C**, with any appropriate qualifications under the circumstances.
- 5.13. Evaluation & Selection of Proposals—Since Eversource participants in a Competitive Energy Solicitation are divided into an Eversource Evaluation Team and an Eversource Bid Team subject to the terms of the Standard of Conduct, the Eversource Evaluation Team members may participate, as contemplated under the rules of the particular solicitation process or RFP issued thereunder, in the evaluation or selection of proposed projects submitted by an Eversource Competitive Energy Affiliate, and the negotiation of contracts relating to any projects selected in connection with a Competitive Energy Solicitation or an RFP issued thereunder, including any submitted by an Eversource Competitive Energy Affiliate.
  - 5.13.1. Eversource will ensure that all interactions, discussions, communications and negotiations between any **Eversource Bid Team** members and **Eversource Evaluation Team** members are in full compliance with:
    - 5.13.1.1. all applicable state statutory and regulatory requirements;

- 5.13.1.2. all federal statutory and regulatory requirements including the FERC Standards of Conduct for Transmission Providers, as detailed in FERC Orders 717, 787 and 807;
- 5.13.1.3. any compliance plan, standards of conduct or tariff filed by the **Eversource EDCs** with FERC or any state regulatory agency; and
- 5.13.1.4. all other applicable laws, regulations, rules, standards and codes of conduct, including any standard or code of conduct specific to the **Competitive Energy Solicitation** in question governing interactions between the **Eversource EDCs** and their **Eversource Competitive Energy Affiliates**.
- 5.13.1.5. This **Standard of Conduct**.
- 5.14. Eversource may take further actions above and beyond those required under this Standard of Conduct as it considers necessary or appropriate to avoid an actual or perceived conflict of interest in connection with a **Competitive Energy Solicitation** or an RFP issued thereunder or to reduce the possibility of non-compliance with the **Standard of Conduct**.

# 6. TERMINATION OF STANDARD OF CONDUCT

- 6.1.In connection with a **Competitive Energy Solicitation** process or an RFP issued thereunder, this **Standard of Conduct** will remain effective for members of any **Eversource Bid Team** and **Eversource Evaluation Team** participating in the solicitation process and their **Eversource Common Supervisors** until the earlier to occur of:
  - 6.1.1. The conclusion of all regulatory filings or approval proceedings resulting from the solicitation process;
  - 6.1.2. The execution of all power purchase or other agreements by the participating **Eversource EDC** with the selected bidder(s); or
  - 6.1.3. The termination or abandonment of the solicitation process followed by any necessary or appropriate regulatory approvals.
- 6.2. Notwithstanding the above, the confidentiality and no-conduit obligations under this **Standard of Conduct** pertaining to **CCESI** will remain in effect and survive the termination of this Standard of Conduct.

EVERSOURCE ENERGY SERVICE COMPANY on behalf of NSTAR ELECTRIC COMPANY D/B/A EVERSOURCE ENERGY

Duncan R. MacKay Deputy General Counsel &

Chief Compliance Officer Eversource Energy Service Company

107 Selden Street

Berlin, CT 06037

860-665-3495

860-665-5504 fax

duncan.mackay@eversource.com

# Appendix A

# **CERTIFICATION**

I certify that I reviewed the EVERSOURCE STANDARD OF CONDUCT GOVERNING ACTIVITY RELATED TO OFFSHORE WIND DEVELOPMENT AND SOLICITATIONS FOR

CLEAN ENERGY RESOURCES, and have reviewed the Standards of Conduct Training, understand its terms and conditions, and agree to follow and be bound by the standards, including specifically the confidentiality and no-conduit rules, set forth therein.

If I have any questions regarding compliance with or interpretation of the Standard of Conduct, including any potential violations of its terms, I will promptly notify the Eversource Chief Compliance Officer, Duncan R. MacKay, Deputy General Counsel & Chief Compliance Officer (<u>Duncan.MacKay@Eversource.com</u> or 860-665-3495).

| Signed:          | Please indicate your role(s)                        |
|------------------|---|
| Printed Name:    | Eversource Common Supervisor                        |
| Title:           | Eversource Evaluation/Buy Team  Eversource Bid Team |
| Dated:           | Eversource Senior Executive                         |
| Supervisor Name: |   |
| Title:           |   |

#### APPENDIX B

# **CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE**

I participated on the Eversource [Evaluation/Bid] Team in connection with the Massachusetts 83C Round 4 Solicitation Process. As part of this certification, I certify that (a) I completed the training required under section 5.1 of the EVERSOURCE STANDARD OF CONDUCT GOVERNING ACTIVITY RELATED TO OFFSHORE WIND DEVELOPMENT AND SOLICITATIONS FOR CLEAN ENERGY RESOURCES ("Standard of Conduct"); (b) I affirmed my commitment to honor and comply with the Standard of Conduct during the 83C Round 4 Solicitation Process by signing a Certification in a form similar to Appendix A of the Standard of Conduct; (c) I honored and complied with the Standard of Conduct throughout the 83C Round 4 Solicitation Process; and, (d) I have no knowledge, and no reason to believe, that there has been any failure to comply with the Standard of Conduct during the 83C Round 4 Solicitation Process.

| Signed:          |
|------------------|
| Printed Name:    |
| Title:           |
| Dated:           |
| Supervisor Name: |
| Title:           |

#### APPENDIX C

# **CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE**

I am the Eversource Chief Compliance Officer, and I certify that Eversource has complied with the EVERSOURCE STANDARD OF CONDUCT GOVERNING ACTIVITY RELATED TO OFFSHORE WIND DEVELOPMENT AND SOLICITATIONS FOR CLEAN ENERGY RESOURCES ("Standard of Conduct") that applied to the Massachusetts 83C Round 4 Solicitation Process for Energy and Renewable Energy Certificates from Offshore Wind Resources under Section 83C of the Massachusetts Green Communities Act, as amended, and Section 21(a) of Chapter 227 of the Acts of 2018.

As part of this certification, I certify that: (a) the training required under Section 5.1 of the Standard of Conduct was conducted for Eversource Evaluation Team and Bid Team members and for Eversource Common Supervisors; (b) all such persons affirmed their commitment to honor and comply with the Standard of Conduct in a form consistent with Appendix A of the Standard of Conduct; (c) all such persons certified in writing at or near the conclusion of the 83C Round 4 Solicitation Process that they honored and complied with the Standard of Conduct in a form consistent with Appendix B of the Standard of Conduct; and (d) I have no knowledge, and no reason to believe, that there has been any failure to comply with the Standard of Conduct.

| Standard of Conduct.   |   |
|--|---|
| Signed:  |   |
| Printed Name:  |   |
| Title:   |   |
| Dated:   |   |
| Duncan R. MacKay Deputy General Counsel & Chief Compliance Officer Eversource Energy Service Company 107 Selden Street Berlin, CT 06037 860-665-3495 860-665-5504 fax duncan.mackay@eversource.com | Please indicate your role(s)  Eversource Common Supervisor Eversource Evaluation Team Eversource Bid Team Eversource Senior Executive  Please indicate your role(s) |
|  | Please indicate your role(s)  Eversource Common Supervisor  |
|  | '   |

Eversource Evaluation Team

Eversource Senior Executive

Eversource Bid Team

# APPENDIX G: COMMITMENT AGREEMENT

# **Voluntary Agreement Commitment Agreement**

This Voluntary Agreement Commitment Agreement ("Commitment Agreement"), dated \_\_\_\_, is made and entered into by [Bidder], ("Successful Bidder") for the benefit of [EDC] ("Distribution Company"). Successful Bidder and Distribution Company are hereinafter sometimes also referred to collectively as the "Parties."

#### WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, Successful Bidder has been conditionally selected by Distribution Company as a winning bidder under the Request for Proposals for Long-Term Contracts for Offshore Wind Energy Projects, dated (the "RFP");

WHEREAS, concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Commitment Agreement, Successful Bidder has entered into a power purchase agreement with Distribution Company ("PPA");

WHEREAS, as part of its performance under the PPA, Successful Bidder intends to construct, or cause to be constructed, Interconnection Customer Interconnection Facilities, as defined herein;

WHEREAS, Distribution Company and Successful Bidder desire to reasonably minimize obstacles to the ability of future offshore wind energy developers to deliver their energy and capacity to the onshore transmission system, possibly via interconnection with Successful Bidder's ICIF;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, and other good and valuable consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, and intending to be legally bound hereby, Successful Bidder hereby agrees as follows:

# 1. Definitions

The following definitions shall apply to the provisions of this Commitment Agreement:

- A. "Interconnection Customer's Interconnection Facilities" ("ICIF") means all facilities and equipment located between Successful Bidder's offshore wind energy generation facilities collector system step-up transformers and the point of change of ownership at the onshore interconnection, including any modification, addition, or upgrades to such facilities and equipment, which facilities and equipment are constructed to physically and electrically interconnect Successful Bidder's offshore wind energy generation facilities to the onshore transmission system.
- B. "Third-Party Offshore Wind Developer" means any entity (other than Successful Bidder) developing offshore wind energy generation or delivery facilities and seeking interconnection to and/or delivery service on Successful Bidder's ICIF pursuant to this Commitment Agreement.
- C. "Voluntary Agreement" means a voluntary agreement as contemplated in Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC") Order No. 807<sup>1</sup>, PP 117-18, to be entered into if a Third- Party Offshore Wind Developer requests studies and potential expansion of Successful Bidder's ICIF to accommodate third<sub>GP.a1</sub>rty interconnection and delivery service, without the need for said third party to pursue its rights in the first instance via Sections 210,

# 211, and 212 of the Federal Power Act ("FPA").

- 2. In the event one or more Third-Party Offshore Wind Developers request interconnection to and/or delivery service on Successful Bidder's ICIF, Successful Bidder will study the requested interconnection and/or delivery service, provided that the Third-Party Offshore Wind Developer(s) agrees to pay the cost of such studies.
- 3. Successful Bidder will negotiate in good faith and use commercially reasonable best efforts to conclude a Voluntary Agreement with any such Third-Party Offshore Wind Developer regarding expansion of, interconnection to, and delivery service over Successful Bidder's ICIF to accommodate the Third-Party Offshore Wind Developer's request.
- 4. The Voluntary Agreement will incorporate interconnection and other provisions at least as favorable to said Third-Party Offshore Wind Developers as the provisions of ISO New England Inc. ("ISO-NE") Open Access Transmission Tariff Schedules 22 and 23 are to requesters of interconnection service seeking to connect to facilities subject to the ISO-NE interconnection procedures in those schedules. Successful Bidder will respond to reasonable requests from ISO-NE or Third-Party Offshore Wind Developers for information deemed necessary to support an ISO-NE interconnection request by Third- Party Offshore Wind Developers on the ISO-NE system.
- 5. If, after good faith attempts to conclude a Voluntary Agreement using commercially reasonable best efforts, Successful Bidder and Third-Party Offshore Wind Developer are unable to conclude such a Voluntary Agreement, Successful Bidder shall be relieved of any further obligations as to that Third-Party Offshore Wind Developer under this Commitment Agreement, and in such event, nothing herein shall diminish Third-Party Offshore Wind Developer's rights independent of this Commitment Agreement to request relief from FERC.
- 6. Third-Party Offshore Wind Developer may at any time exercise its rights under Federal Power Act Sections 206 or Sections 210, 211, and 212 that exist independent of this Commitment Agreement to file with FERC requesting an order requiring interconnection and/or delivery service on Successful Bidder's ICIF. In the event that the Third-Party Offshore Wind Developer exercises such rights, Successful Bidder will have no further obligations to such Third-Party Offshore Wind Developer under this Commitment Agreement.

Open Access and Priority Rights on Interconnection Customer's Interconnection Facilities, 150 FERC ¶ 61,211 ("Order No. 807"), order on reh'g. 153 FERC ¶ 61,047 ("Order No. 807-A) (2015).

- 7. If an entity other than Successful Bidder obtains ownership or successor rights in Successful Bidder's ICIF, Successful Bidder will ensure that such other entity as well as Successful Bidder will be bound by the terms and conditions of this Commitment Agreement.
- 8. This Commitment Agreement is not intended to, and does not create any rights or obligations in either of the Parties or any other entity except for those rights or obligations explicitly identified herein, nor does this Commitment Agreement affect Successful Bidder's rights under Order Nos. 807 and 807-A and FERC's regulations at 18 C.F.R. §§ 35.28(d)(2)(ii)(A)-(B) with respect to excess or unused capacity on Successful Bidder's ICIF, including Successful Bidder's rebuttable presumption to a "safe harbor" and associated priority rights. In entering into the PPA, Distribution Company is relying on the agreements made by Successful Bidder herein; provided, however, that breach of or default on this Commitment Agreement will not operate to create a breach of or default on the PPA, unless the conduct producing the breach or default of this Commitment Agreement would independently create a breach or default of such PPA.
- 9. Successful Bidder shall file this Commitment Agreement, as well as any Voluntary Agreement concluded pursuant to it, with FERC for acceptance pursuant to FPA Section 205.

[Signature Page Follows]

| IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Successful Bidder has caused this Commitment Agreement to be duly executed on its behalf as of the date first above written. |  |
|--|--|
|  |  |
|  |  |
|  |  |

Signature Page to Voluntary Agreement Commitment Agreement

#### APPENDIX H: BID SUBMITTAL INSTRUCTIONS

# **BID SUBMITTAL**

Bids must be submitted as both confidential and public and must be marked accordingly. Given the anticipated size of the bids, both the confidential and public bid packages must be submitted via ShareFile link. The file-size limit is 100GB. Each bidder should take all necessary and appropriate steps, including shrinking the size of PDF documents, to ensure that the ShareFile link file size limit is not exceeded.

Each bidder should, by January 15, 2024, submit an email to <a href="marfp83C@gmail.com">marfp83C@gmail.com</a> requesting a bid-specific ShareFile URL to use to submit both the confidential and public bid packages. Each bidder will receive a unique ShareFile URL that will only be accessible for viewing and downloading by members of the Evaluation Team, including consultants retained by the electric distribution companies and DOER, and the Independent Evaluator. It is the responsibility of the bidder to ensure that it does not publicly disseminate its unique ShareFile URL.

The date for confidential bid submission is January 31, 2024 at 12:00 (noon) EDT, unless extended by the Evaluation Team. Accordingly, any files uploaded to each bid-specific ShareFile URL after 12:00 p.m. EDT on January 31, 2024 (or date as extended according to this RFP) will not be accepted. Bidders should submit their Public Proposal with the Confidential Proposal via the same bid-specific ShareFile URL.

The utmost security measures will be used to protect the confidentiality of bid materials. A user-specific password along with two-step authentication (SMS, voice, or time-based one-time passcode authenticator app) will be provided to the bidder (based on the email request to marfp83C@gmail.com) in order to both upload and access bid materials via the ShareFile link. No one without the link, username, password, and two-factor device will be able to access the materials outside of the Evaluation Team, the Independent Evaluator, and their contracted consultants who are bound by confidentiality agreements. 256-bit encryption will be used along with SOC 2 certified data centers to house the data. Furthermore, ShareFile employs SSL/TLS protocols to protect client authentication, authorization and file transfers. The links themselves are uniquely and randomly generated to avoid guessing attacks.

Specifically, the administrator will create each requested bid user in ShareFile and send them a user-specific link to the Evaluation Team's ShareFile account. The first time a user logs in, they will have to enter their phone number to get the two-factor authentication code and then create their own password (with strength requirements) before they can access ShareFile. After the administrator creates each user, the administrator will be able to control access to any of the documents for each person on the account.

It remains the responsibility of the bidder to protect and secure all links, usernames, passwords, and two-factor devices used and/or provided to ensure no other party is able to access their submitted bid information.

# **BID FEE REMITTANCE**

The bid fee should be calculated based upon the instructions in section 1.10 of the body of the RFP. The total fee should then be remitted to each electric distribution company listed below in the percentages listed in the table below. Calculation is made in the last column of the table for a hypothetical \$10,000 bid fee.

Payment must be submitted to each electric distribution company via wire transfer. Upon request, wire transfer information will be made available. Please send wire transfer information requests to the email address: marfp83C@gmail.com.

|                   |         | Example Bid Fee Calculation |
|-------------------|---------|-----------------------------|
| Unitil            | 1.17%   | \$ 117                      |
| National Grid     | 45.17%  | \$ 4,517                    |
| Eversource Energy | 53.66%  | \$ 5,366                    |
| Total             | 100.00% | \$ 10,000                   |

#### **APPENDIX I: DELIVERABILITY CONSTRAINT ANALYSIS**

Bidders shall submit a study that includes the analysis outlined in this document for each submitted bid from such bidder. The analysis can be provided as an individual study or included as a scenario in a broader interconnection study. Bidders must report all thermal overloads or voltage issues and the associated conditions (e.g. generator dispatches, contingencies) but are not required to propose upgrades to resolve the issues identified in this analysis.

#### **Study Requirements**

Unless otherwise stated, all study assumptions shall align with Section 2 ("Requirements for Interconnection Studies") of ISO New England Planning Procedure 5-6.

#### **Load Level**

The study must include a case with Light Load of approximately 12,500 MW and a case with Minimum Load of approximately 8,000 MW in the New England Control Area. Reference Section 2.2 of the June 15, 2020 edition of the ISO New England Technical Planning Guide for additional information.

# **Generator Dispatch**

The generator under study must be dispatched at the maximum value in its proposed generation profile, regardless of the nameplate capacity of the ISO-NE interconnection request(s) associated with the bid. Table 1 specifies additional dispatch requirements.

| Queue Position | Dispatch (MW) |
|----------------|---------------|
| QP 624         | 720 MW        |
| QP 700         | 712 MW        |
| QP 781         | 634 MW        |
| QP 829         | 720 MW        |

Table 1 – Generator Dispatch Requirements

All other dispatch assumptions must align with ISO New England Planning Procedure 5-6. All dispatch assumptions must be fully documented.

# **Transmission Topology**

The following projects and their associated network upgrades must be included in the case topology:

- QP 624 Upgrades identified in System Impact Study dated 1/21/2019
- QP 700 Upgrades identified in System Impact Study dated 10/6/2020
- QP 781 Upgrades identified in System Impact Study dated 5/11/2020

• QP 829 – Upgrades identified in Feasibility Study dated 12/18/2019

All other case topology assumptions should align with the cases that would be used for a System Impact Study for the generator under study.

#### **Steady State Analysis**

Unless otherwise state in this document, all steady state analysis assumptions shall align with Section 3 ("Steady-State Analysis") of ISO New England Planning Procedure 5-6. Bidders shall run N-1 and N-1-1 analyses on all cases and clearly report all load flow results.

## APPENDIX J: ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIOECOMIC IMPACT CRITERIA

This Appendix J provides additional details on the Environmental and Socioeconomic Impact criteria to be considered in the Qualitative Evaluation (RFP section 2.2.4). Bids will be evaluated and given a separate score for Environmental Impacts from Siting; Socioeconomic Impacts from Siting, including the Fisheries Mitigation Plan and Environmental Justice Impacts.

- Stakeholder and Mitigation Experience: Demonstrated past and current productive relationships with environmental, commercial and recreational fishing stakeholders, federally recognized and state acknowledged tribes, Environmental Justice, <sup>31</sup> and onshore stakeholders and track record of avoiding, minimizing, and mitigating environmental, fishing, tribal, environmental justice, and onshore impacts from projects similar to the proposed project.
- Environmental Impacts and Environmental Mitigation Plan: Extent to which a project demonstrates that it avoids, minimizes, or mitigates, to the maximum extent practicable, environmental impacts. Additionally, preference will be given to bids with financial commitments which support regional research and monitoring of wildlife, Factors to be considered may include:
  - Extent to which the project mitigates impacts on the marine environment by providing financial and technical assistance to support robust monitoring of wildlife and habitat through contributions to regional and tribal research efforts.
    - Bidder should describe plans to engage with the Massachusetts Habitat and Fisheries Working Groups on Offshore Wind Energy to determine the best use of allocated funds.
  - Preliminary characterization of the potential environmental impacts (onshore and offshore) from the wind farm array, transmission cabling, substations and other infrastructure from pre-construction through the duration of the project, including but not limited to:
    - Impacts on species protected under the Endangered Species Act, including but not limited to the North Atlantic Right Whale and Roseate Tern.
    - Description of how sensitive habitat areas (e.g. areas with long-lived and easily damaged epifauna, spawning areas, and areas where demersal eggs are deposited) have been or will be identified.
    - Description of environmental baseline and monitoring data that will be collected beginning from pre-construction through the duration of the project and plans for the use of that data in project development.
    - Expected environmental impacts to onshore coastal beaches and

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Defined and outlined in the EEA Environmental Justice Policy, see: <a href="https://www.mass.gov/service-details/environmental-justice-policy">https://www.mass.gov/service-details/environmental-justice-policy</a>

ecosystems from project construction and operation.

- A preliminary plan based on the latest science at the time the plan is made that highlights the approach to avoid, minimize, or mitigate environmental impacts (onshore and offshore) from the wind farm array, transmission cabling, substations and other infrastructure from pre-construction through the duration of the project based on best management practices, including but not limited to:
  - Pre-construction and post-construction monitoring to understand the effects of facilities on marine and avian species.
  - Description of operational protocol to avoid, minimize, and mitigate impacts to fish, invertebrates, marine mammals, birds and bats, including mitigation of sound exposure on marine mammals like the North Atlantic Right Whale, supporting nesting habitat for affected avian species or supporting marine mammal survey and monitoring efforts. Impact of planned cable burial depth, use of protective materials, and monitoring of cables to avoid, minimize, and mitigate continuous impacts on marine species.
  - Use of co-location or siting with compatible existing infrastructure.
  - Minimizing the number of transmission cables used, reducing the area of seafloor or shoreline disturbance, and/or reducing the number of cable landfalls.
  - Plan to avoid, minimize, or mitigate impacts on the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) surveys and Massachusetts Department of Marine Fisheries (DMF) inshore trawl surveys.
  - Description of any cooperation and efforts with other developers or regional entities to avoid and minimize potential cumulative impacts across the MA/RI Wind Energy Areas.
- Plan for compliance and consistency with the Massachusetts Ocean
   Management Plan and other state and regional ocean management plans.
- Plan for compliance with Massachusetts Coastal Zone Management federal consistency review process, including any plans for voluntary federal consistency filing.
- Plan for timely data sharing with relevant environmental and fisheries stakeholders and ongoing, transparent communication with stakeholders regarding data availability.
- Description of participation in and any commitments (time, staff, and/or financial) to existing and ongoing regional regulatory, research, and science organizations regarding environmental assessment, monitoring, and mitigation, including but not limited to direct funding to the Responsible Offshore Science Alliance and the Regional Wildlife Science Collaborative.
- Plans to engage with and incorporate input from the Massachusetts Habitat Working Group on Offshore Wind Energy.

- Extent to which the project avoids, minimizes, and mitigates potential impacts of the project to cultural and tribal resources and viewsheds from the Massachusetts shoreline, including through thoughtful siting and engagement with local stakeholders.
- Any additional information that may demonstrate mitigation of environmental impacts.
- Environmental Justice Impacts: Extent to which the project demonstrates that it avoids, minimizes, or mitigates, to the maximum extent practicable, negative impacts on Environmental Justice populations and host communities, and extent to which the project directs positive benefits from the project to those communities..
  - Identification of potentially impacted Environmental Justice populations, federally recognized and state acknowledged tribes, and other host communities.
  - Demonstrated plans or investments to avoid, minimize, and mitigate environmental burdens and other negative impacts from the project on host communities, Environmental Justice populations, and tribal communities or tribal resources.
  - Plans to engage with affected communities through public involvement, best practices and targeted outreach and education events, including identified partnerships with existing Environmental Justice organizations, and federally recognized and state acknowledged tribes.
  - Plans to incorporate input from impacted host communities, especially Environmental Justice populations and tribes, into decision-making regarding project siting and development as well as plans for avoidance, minimization, and mitigation.
  - Plans to direct positive benefits from the project to Environmental Justice communities and strategy plan to track and report on the status of environmental justice impacts, meaningful engagement, and employment (effective training, recruitment and hiring goals) opportunities. Strategy plans may include a commitment with a government entity to share said tracking and reporting. If such a commitment is not presented, DOER will work with selected bidder after selection but before contract execution to implement an agreed-upon tracking and reporting strategy.

**Fishing Impacts and Fisheries Mitigation Plan:** Extent to which the project avoids, minimizes, and mitigates impacts on commercial, for-hire, recreational, and indigenous fishing. (b

- Factors to be considered may include but are not limited to:
  - Commitments to fishing industry stakeholder outreach related to potential project impacts, including but not limited to:
    - Communications and engagement plan detailing how the developer will identify, communicate with, and address concerns from fisheries stakeholders in a timely manner.
    - Description of how developer will engage with fishing industry stakeholder groups to determine project layouts that address stakeholder concerns.
    - o Description of any participation in and engagement with the

- Responsible Offshore Science Alliance, Massachusetts Fisheries Working Group on Offshore Wind Energy, and/or the Fishery Management Councils regarding fishing impacts from the project.
- Plans to engage with the development of, and commit to finalized versions of, fisheries mitigation and compensation best practices agreed upon in federal working groups led by BOEM.
- Description of potential adverse impacts on fishing in the proposed Project area from the wind farm array, transmission cabling, and other infrastructure and design elements, including:
  - Research plan to identify and study expected fishing impacts in proposed project area.
  - Description of how site layout could be changed to accommodate potential future changes for mitigation purposes and timeline for when design decisions will be finalized.
- Description of operational protocol to avoid, minimize, and mitigate impacts to fisheries during project construction and operation phases, which may include but are not limited to:
  - O Plan outlining anticipated operational phase, long-term required maintenance of offshore export cables, inter-array cables, and foundations, including descriptions of work activity required for such maintenance including duration, anticipated impacts to seafloor habitats, and potential impacts to fishing activity and marine species.
  - Plans to minimize the number of transmission cables used, reduce the area of seafloor or shoreline disturbance, and/or reduce the number of onshore cable landfalls.
  - o Measures to ensure navigational and operational safety of fishing vessels within, through, and around the proposed project area.
  - Plans for designation and monitoring of safety zones, gear monitoring and retrieval, and communication with fishing vessels and resource managers
  - Plan to avoid, minimize, or mitigate impacts on the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) surveys and Massachusetts Department of Marine Fisheries (DMF) inshore trawl surveys.
  - Description of any cooperation and efforts with other developers or regional entities to avoid and minimize potential cumulative impacts across the MA/RI WEAs.
  - o Plan for regular monitoring and reporting (annual and after major storm events) of the current depth of offshore export and interarray cables below the sediment, any remedial actions to ensure the cable remains adequately buried, and reporting of any remedial activities, including monitoring and reporting on cable depth after major storm events such as 25- or 50-year storm events.
  - o Plan for recording the geolocation (Loran, lat/long) of moved

- boulders which may cause safety hazards and making those data available to fishermen in a form that is easily uploadable to their navigation systems.
- o Plan for recording bathymetric changes between pre- and postboulder clearance plowing activities and communicating those changes to fishermen.
- o Plan for recording the geolocation of areas of cable protection; identifying the length, width, and height from the seafloor of all cable protection structures; and making those data available to fishermen.
- Plan for addressing claims for loss or damage to fishing gear or vessels from interactions with offshore wind farm infrastructure.
- Plan to develop a fisheries compensatory mitigation plan with input from the Massachusetts fishing industry to offset impacts on commercial and recreational fishing, how the compensation plan will be designed, and how it will determine financial impacts.

#### APPENDIX K: EXAMPLES OF ALLOWED PHASING

These examples are not intended to be comprehensive, but rather illustrative of the RFP's rules regarding construction of a bidder's proposed generation in more than one construction phase. If desired, bidders may submit questions regarding other phasing configurations during the Bidder Conference and/or by submitting written questions in accordance with Section 3.2 of the RFP.

#### Example 1: A bidder submits an 800 MW bid

<u>Permitted bids</u>: (1) A bid proposing that the full 800 MW be constructed all in a single construction phase, with a single Commercial Operation Date. (2) A bid proposing that the 800 MW be constructed in two construction phases, of 400 MW each. (3) A bid proposing that the 800 MW be constructed in two construction phases, the first of 200 MW, and the second of 600 MW.

Prohibited bids: (1) A bid proposing that the 800 MW be constructed in three or more phas es.

**Example 2**: A bidder submits a 1000 MW bid for generation.

Permitted bids: (1) A bid proposing that the 1000 MW be constructed all in a single construction phase. (2) A bid proposing that the 1000 MW be constructed in two construction phases, of 500 MW each. (3) A bid proposing that the 1000 MW be constructed in three construction phases, of 500 MW, 300 MW, and 200 MW respectively.

Prohibited bids: (1) A bid proposing that the 1000 MW be constructed in four or more phases, whatever the MW breakdown of the phases.

**Example 3**: A bidder submits a bid for 400 MW or less for generation.

Permitted bids: (1) A bid proposing that all the generation be constructed in a single construction phase.

Prohibited bids: (1) Any bid proposing more than one construction phase.

Below is an example where the proposed Offshore Wind Energy Generation is from substantially non-contiguous areas (separate lease areas or substantially separated areas within a lease area):

**Example 4**: A bidder submits a bid for 400 MW, where a block of 200 MW is located in one area, and a block of 200 MW is located in a different area.

Permitted bids: (1) A bid proposing that both blocks of 200 MW be constructed concurrently in a single construction phase. (2) A bid proposing that the two 200 MW blocks of generation be constructed in two construction phases (one for each area).

Prohibited bids: (1) A bid proposing that either of the 200 MW blocks be constructed in more than one phase, or that the full 400 MW be constructed in more than two phases, whatever the MW breakdown of the phases.

# APPENDIX L: FORM MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (MOU) WITH DOER AND MASSCEC

#### OFFSHORE WIND DEVELOPMENT AND REPORTING AGREEMENT

This **Offshore Wind Development and Reporting Agreement** (this "<u>Agreement</u>") is entered into effective as of DATE (the "<u>Effective Date</u>") by and between COMPANY ("<u>COMPANY NAME</u>" or "<u>Company</u>"), the Massachusetts Department of Energy Resources ("<u>MA DOER</u>"), and the Massachusetts Clean Energy Technology Center ("MassCEC"). Each of COMPANY and MA DOER is referred to as a "<u>Party</u>" and, collectively, as the "<u>Parties</u>."

#### RECITALS

WHEREAS, on DATE, COMPANY submitted its proposal (the "Bid") for a AMOUNT MW offshore wind project (the "Project") in response to the Request for Proposals for Long-Term Contracts for Offshore Wind Energy Projects (the "RFP") issued DATE, by Fitchburg Gas & Electric Light Company d/b/a Unitil, Massachusetts Electric Company d/b/a National Grid, Nantucket Electric Company d/b/a National Grid, NSTAR Electric Company d/b/a Eversource Energy, Western Massachusetts Electric Company d/b/a Eversource Energy (each, individually, an electric distribution company or "EDC" and, collectively, the "EDCs");

**WHEREAS**, on DATE, DOER selected the Bid as a winning proposal under the RFP;

**WHEREAS**, following the selection of the Bid, COMPANY and each EDC negotiated and subsequently executed and delivered Offshore Wind Generation Unit Power Purchase Agreements for the EDCs' purchase of energy and other products to be generated by the Project (as the same may be amended, restated, modified, supplemented, extended or otherwise superseded from time to time, the "PPAs"), each dated DATE, which PPAs will be subsequently submitted for approval to the Massachusetts Department of Public Utilities ("MA DPU");

WHEREAS, among other aspects of the Bid, COMPANY committed to investments to promote short and long-term employment and economic development in the Commonwealth, track and report on the status of environmental justice impacts, and engagement and employment opportunities (training, recruitment and hiring goals), provide financial and technical assistance to support wildlife and habitat monitoring, and a commitment to diversity, equity and inclusion, including employment and procurement/contracting opportunities, for minority, women, veterans, LGBT and persons with disabilities, each as further detailed in Appendices A through C;

WHEREAS, among other aspects of the Bid, COMPANY outlined its plans to support offshore wind industry development in Massachusetts through various commitments further detailed in Appendix A and to report to MA DOER and MassCEC its progress in connection with the same;

**NOW, THEREFORE**, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein,

and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Parties, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:

#### **AGREEMENT**

- 1. <u>Wind Industry Development Initiatives</u>. COMPANY hereby agrees that it shall develop and operate the Project consistent with the commitments as described in Appendix A that support developing the offshore wind industry in the Commonwealth ("Wind Industry Development Initiatives"):
- 2. <u>Direct Economic Investment Initiatives</u>: COMPANY has committed to in its Bid and hereby agrees that it shall fund each of the direct economic initiatives ("<u>Direct Economic Investment Initiatives</u>") designed to create and foster economic benefits to the Commonwealth. Pursuant to the requirements of the RFP, each Direct Economic Investment Initiatives in COMPANY's Bid is memorialized in a Memorandum of Understanding or other definitive agreement (each an "<u>Ancillary Agreements</u>") with a third-party partner organization ("<u>Partner Organization</u>"), as detailed in Appendix B to this Agreement.
- 3. <u>Workforce & Supply Chain Initiative Support</u>. COMPANY hereby agrees that it shall fund additional initiatives that support diversity, equity and inclusion as described in Appendix C (the "<u>Workforce & Supply Chain Initiatives</u>").
- 4. <u>Wildlife and Habitat Assistance.</u> COMPANY hereby agrees that it shall fund each of the wildlife and habitat technical and financial assistance initiatives ("<u>Wildlife and Habitat Initiatives</u>") pursuant to the requirements of the RFP and as detailed in Appendix D to this Agreement, including but not limited to a commitment to regional research and monitoring of fisheries that meet or exceed a threshold of \$5,000 per MW. COMPANY agrees to consult with the Massachusetts Department of Coastal Zone Management (CZM) to develop specific projects plans for the Wildlife and Habitat Assistance funding prior to Financial Close.
- **5.** Conditions to Commitments. MA DOER acknowledges and agrees that COMPANY's commitments set forth herein are subject to (1) the Project obtaining all federal, state and local permits needed to construct and operate the Project, (2) the Project achieving financial close with such lenders and tax equity investors as are necessary to finance the Project ("Financial Close"), and (3) with respect to the commitments in Section 2, satisfaction of the relevant conditions and Partner Organization commitments set forth in the applicable Ancillary Agreements.
- 6. Project Impact Assessment and Reporting. COMPANY hereby agrees that it shall deliver to MA DOER and MassCEC written annual progress reports beginning not later than the date that is one year after the Effective Date of this agreement (the "Reporting Date") and, thereafter, not later than August 31st of each year during the term of the PPAs with data through June 30 of each reporting year. Each report shall summarize COMPANY's progress in achieving the Wind Industry Development Initiatives goals, the Direct Economic Investment Initiatives, the Workforce & Supply Chain Initiatives, and the Wildlife and Habitat Assistance as set forth in Sections 1 through 4 of this Agreement and Appendices A, B and C and shall include in addition, the following information:

- a) The total dollar amount and schedule of payments made to Partner Organizations consistent with the Direct Economic Investment Initiatives, Workforce & Supply Chain Initiatives, and Wildlife and Habitat Initiatives and a summary of programming supported by the funds related thereto;
- b) The total number of Company's and its affiliates' employees whose work is substantially (*i.e.*, 50% or greater) dedicated to the Project, as well as the number of such employees who reside in the Commonwealth and in which counties;
- c) The total number of workers employed by contractors and subcontractors for the Project, as well as the number who reside in the Commonwealth;
- d) Descriptions of the types of jobs included in (b) by general category (e.g., development, operations & maintenance, construction, manufacturing, etc.) and the average annual salary level by category and county;
- e) Such general demographic information regarding employment created by the Project related to the goals outlined in the COMPANY Bid's Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Plan as COMPANY is able to collect using commercially reasonable efforts, and descriptions of efforts to recruit and retain diverse job candidates;
- f) The extent to which the reported results align with the estimates of the Project's contributions to employment and economic development contained in the Project proposal;
- g) Any relevant lessons learned that Massachusetts officials can use to improve economic outcomes for Massachusetts and inform future state procurement and programmatic efforts;
- h) The estimated employment and economic impact of projects supported by the Direct Economic Investment Initiatives, specifically focusing on funds allocated, revenue generation and the impacts on the communities in which such projects are located;
- i) How the Wind Industry Development Initiatives, the Direct Economic Investment Initiatives and the Workforce & Supply Chain Initiatives provides employment and procurement/contracting opportunities for minority, women, veterans, LGBT and persons with disabilities;
- j) The status of any impacts to EJ Populations from project siting and construction and status of outreach and engagement with affected Environmental Justice ("EJ") Populations:<sup>32</sup> and
- k) The status of employment opportunities for EJ Populations and residents of EJ Populations provided by the Wind Industry Development Initiatives and Direct Economic Investment Initiatives.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> As defined in MGL ch. 30, § 62; *see also* EEA Environmental Justice Policy (<a href="https://www.mass.gov/infodetails/environmental-justice-populations-in-massachusetts">https://www.mass.gov/infodetails/environmental-justice-populations-in-massachusetts</a>).

MA DOER and MassCEC agree that COMPANY shall not be considered in breach of its obligations hereunder as a result of any such information proving inaccurate or incomplete, as long as COMPANY has used reasonable and good faith means of collecting, analyzing and preparing such information. Further, MA DOER, MassCEC, and COMPANY agrees that the annual report will not include any personal identifiable information (PII) with respect to any employees, contractors, workers or other personnel of any kind.

Covenant to Replace Wind Industry Development Initiatives, Direct Economic Investment Initiatives, and Wildlife and Habitat Initiatives. The Parties acknowledge and agree that as of the Effective Date, COMPANY has entered into Ancillary Agreements with Partner Organizations as listed in Appendix B to execute COMPANY's commitments under the Direct Economic Investment Initiatives in furtherance of its plans to support wind industry development in Massachusetts. COMPANY hereby covenants and agrees with MA DOER that, in the event that any Ancillary Agreement is terminated due to a default of a party thereto or is otherwise terminated prior to its respective term, COMPANY shall use commercially reasonable efforts to enter into a replacement of such Ancillary Agreement with one or more other third parties to perform obligations that are as similar as reasonably possible to those of the original parties under such terminated Ancillary Agreement that may remain unperformed as of the date such Ancillary Agreement was terminated. COMPANY shall provide reasonable written notice to MA DOER of any such termination of an Ancillary Agreement. COMPANY agrees to provide notice to MA DOER of any such replacement agreement prior to its execution by COMPANY and such third party(ies)/Partner Organizations. MA DOER shall be permitted a reasonable period of time, not to exceed twenty (20) Business Days, within which to review such replacement agreement for the purpose of confirming that such replacement agreement includes obligations that are substantially similar to the terminated Ancillary Agreement. COMPANY shall take into account and seek to reasonably address any comments delivered by MA DOER to COMPANY in writing during such period prior to its execution of such replacement agreements.

#### 8. Default

(a) COMPANY hereby agrees that in the event that any Ancillary Agreement listed in Appendix B is terminated due to a default of a party thereto or is otherwise terminated prior to its respective term and COMPANY is unable to find a replacement of such Ancillary Agreement with one or more other third parties to perform the obligations that remained unperformed by the original counterparty per the terms of Section 7, or committed funds as listed in Appendix B, Column B and Appendix C, Column B have not been dispersed by the committed timelines as described in Appendix B, Column E and Appendix C, Column C or by the fifteenth (15<sup>th</sup>) anniversary of Commercial Operation, whichever is sooner, Commonwealth shall deposit any remaining funds with the Massachusetts Clean Energy Technology Center ("MassCEC") into one or more accounts designated by MassCEC and will be deployed by MassCEC in a manner determined by MassCEC in its sole discretion to be consistent with the Offshore Wind Industry Development Initiatives. MA DOER shall consider MassCEC as a suitable replacement for any defaulting counterparty listed in Appendix B.

- (b) To the extent COMPANY defaults under any of its obligations under any of the Ancillary Agreements and the counterparty has given Company a notice of default, COMPANY shall provide a copy of such notice to MA DOER and MassCEC within ten (10) Business Days. COMPANY will provide, at the same time as the notice, an explanation to MA DOER as to the nature of the default and how COMPANY plans to resolve such default. If COMPANY cannot cure or otherwise resolve the default and the underlying Ancillary Agreement is terminated as a result, then COMPANY shall pay to MassCEC the amount of any funding required to be paid by COMPANY pursuant to such terminated Ancillary Agreement for deposit in accordance with Section 8(a).
- (c) The Parties agree that both Parties shall have any and all rights under law with respect to any other default hereunder not addressed in clauses (a)-(c) of this Section 8.

#### 9. Additional Commitments of COMPANY.

- (a) For any additional commitments made by COMPANY in its Bid to invest in the creation of new facilities or infrastructure that will result in direct employment and economic development benefits for the Commonwealth, the COMPANY will be expected to make payments to MassCEC for each FTE shortfall below a certain threshold in meeting the employment commitments as outlined in the Bid and according to the schedule outlined in this Agreement.
- 10. **Representations and Warranties.** As of the Effective Date, COMPANY represents and warrants to MA DOER and MassCEC (which representations and warranties shall survive the termination or expiration of this Agreement) that: (i) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement has been duly authorized by all requisite action on the part of COMPANY, and COMPANY has full power and authority to enter into this Agreement and fulfill its obligations hereunder; (ii) this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of COMPANY enforceable against COMPANY in accordance with its terms; (iii) all Ancillary Agreements with Partner Organization listed in Appendices A and B have been duly executed and are in full force and effect as of the Effective Date of this Agreement; (iv) COMPANY's performance or compliance with this Agreement will not conflict with, result in a breach of, constitute a default under, or require the consent of any third party under any obligation (including license, sublicense, lease, contract, or agreement) or instrument to which it is bound or to which its properties are subject; (v) except for such litigation as affects the offshore wind industry generally, there are no lawsuits, actions or any other legal or administrative proceedings pending, or to the knowledge of COMPANY, threatened in writing against COMPANY which, if determined against COMPANY, would have a materially adverse effect on its ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement; and (vi) neither COMPANY or any of its directors, officers, employees or agents have, directly or indirectly, made, offered, promised or authorized any payment or gift of any money or anything of value to or for the benefit of any "foreign official" (as such term is defined in the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended), foreign political party or official thereof or candidate for foreign political office for the purpose of (1) influencing any official act or decision of such official, party or candidate, (2) inducing such official, party or candidate to use his, her or its influence to affect any act or decision of a foreign governmental authority, or (3) securing any improper advantage, in the case of (1), (2) and (3) above in order to assist such

Party or any of its affiliates in obtaining or retaining business for or with, or directing business to, any person.

- 11. Public Records. As a public agency, MA DOER is subject to the Massachusetts Public Records Law (set forth at Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 66; "Massachusetts Public Records Law") and thus documents and other materials made or received by MA DOER and/or its employees may be subject to public disclosure. COMPANY acknowledges and agrees that any document, report or other information provided pursuant to this Agreement, including this Agreement, shall be a public document and subject to disclosure under Massachusetts Public Record, as determined by MA DOER. In the event that COMPANY determines that there is a need to protect commercial, proprietary or otherwise sensitive information, MA DOER will reasonably cooperate with COMPANY's efforts to request confidential treatment for such information, consistent with and subject to applicable law.
- 12. <u>No Partnership, etc.</u> It is expressly agreed that the relationship between the Parties shall not constitute a partnership, joint venture or agency.

#### 13. <u>Miscellaneous.</u>

- (a) <u>Entire Agreement</u>. This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement between MA DOER and COMPANY regarding the matters herein and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, written or oral, between MA DOER and COMPANY with respect to the subject matter hereof.
- (b) <u>Amendment; Waiver</u>. This Agreement may be modified or amended only by a writing executed by COMPANY and MA DOER. No failure by a Party to insist upon the strict performance of any covenant, duty, agreement or condition of this Agreement or to exercise any right or remedy consequent upon a breach thereof shall constitute a waiver of any such breach or any other covenant, duty, agreement or condition.
- Assignment. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of each Party (c) and any of its successors and permitted assigns. Neither Party may assign this Agreement without obtaining the prior written consent of the other Party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed; provided, that COMPANY shall have the right to assign this agreement to an affiliate that will own the Project effective upon its delivery of Notice to MA DOER and provided further, that MA DOER shall have the right to assign this agreement to its legal successor-in-interest effective upon delivery of Notice to COMPANY. For purposes of COMPANY's rights under this Section 13(c), "affiliate" shall mean an entity that is (a) formed for the purpose of owning, financing and operating the Project, that at such time owns and intends for the duration of this Agreement to continue to own all or substantially all of the assets of the Project and/or (b) is directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control where "control" means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such affiliate, whether through the ownership of membership interests, by contract or otherwise. MA DOER accepts such an affiliate as a permitted assignee of this Agreement.
  - (d) <u>Severability</u>. If any portion or provision of this Agreement shall to

any extent be declared illegal or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, then the remainder of this Agreement, and the application of such portion or provision in circumstances other than those as to which it is so declared illegal or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each portion or provision of this Agreement shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law.

- (e) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts without reference to the conflicts of laws provisions thereof that would require the application of the laws of another state. Each Party expressly consents that any judicial action with respect to this Agreement shall be filed exclusively in the state courts located in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, and each Party further irrevocably consents and submits to the personal jurisdiction and venue of the state courts located therein and irrevocably waives any and all claims and defenses it might have in any action or proceeding in any of such courts based upon any alleged lack of personal jurisdiction, improper venue, forum *non conveniens*, or any similar claim or defense.
- (f) Notices. All notices, requests, consents, claims, demands, waivers and other communications hereunder (each, a "Notice") shall be delivered by an authorized person of a Party in writing and addressed to the receiving Party at the address set forth herein (or to such other address that may be designated by the receiving party from time to time in accordance with this section). Notices to COMPANY shall be addressed to COMPANY, LLC,. Notices to MA DOER shall be addressed to General Counsel, Department of Energy Resources, 100 Cambridge Street, 9<sup>th</sup> Floor, Boston, MA 02114. All Notices shall be delivered by personal delivery, nationally recognized overnight courier (with all fees pre-paid), e-mail of a PDF document (with confirmation of transmission) or certified mail (return receipt requested, postage prepaid). All e- mail notices shall be promptly followed by overnight delivery (with all fees pre-paid) or certified mail (return receipt requested, postage prepaid) to the persons identified in this paragraph (f).
- (g) <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in separate counterparts, each of which will be an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement binding on each of the parties hereto. Counterparts may be delivered via electronic mail, first class mail or personal delivery and any counterpart so delivered shall be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes.
- (h) <u>Descriptive Headings; Interpretation</u>. The descriptive headings of this Agreement are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute a substantive part of this Agreement. The Parties hereto have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. In the event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the Parties hereto, and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of the authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement.
- (i) <u>Force Majeure</u>. Performance by a Party of its obligations contained in this Agreement at the time of and during an event of Force Majeure shall be excused and suspended so long as such event of Force Majeure is in effect, and for a reasonable period thereafter within which such Party shall make all commercially reasonable efforts to

resume performance, but for no longer period. A Party shall give prompt Notice to the other Party of such Force Majeure, which Notice shall provide details regarding the nature, the extent and expected duration of such Force Majeure. Each Party shall keep the other updated and advised of the effect of and remedial measures being undertaken to overcome such an event of Force Majeure. Neither Party shall be liable for any losses or damages arising out of a suspension of performance that occurs because of Force Majeure. "Force Majeure" shall have the meaning set forth in the first sentence of Section 10.1(a) of the PPAs as of the Effective Date.

#### [REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

**IN WITNESS WHEREOF**, the Parties hereto have executed this Offshore Wind Development and Reporting Agreement as of the Effective Date.

| DOER:    | COMPANY: |
|----------|----------|
|          |          |
| D        | D        |
| By:      | By:      |
| Name:    | Name:    |
| Title:   | Title:   |
|          |          |
|          |          |
|          |          |
|          |          |
| MASSCEC: |          |
| By:      |          |
| Name:    |          |
| Title:   |          |

## Appendix A – List of Wind Industry Development Initiatives

| Column<br>A:<br>Initiative | Column B: Partner Organization or Responsible Party | Column<br>C:<br>Timeline |
|----------------------------|---|--------------------------|
|                            |   |                          |
|                            |   |                          |
|                            |   |                          |
|                            |   |                          |
|                            |   |                          |
|                            |   |                          |
|                            |   |                          |
|                            |   |                          |
|                            |   |                          |
|                            |   |                          |

### Appendix B – List of Direct Economic Investment Initiatives

| Column A:<br>Initiative | Column B:<br>Amount (\$)        | Column C:<br>Partner<br>Organization | Column D:<br>Estimated<br>Funding Prior to<br>Financial Close | Column E: Funding Timeline |  |  |  |  |  |
|-------------------------|---------------------------------|--------------------------------------|---|----------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
|                         | Supplier Diversity Program Plan |                                      |   |                            |  |  |  |  |  |
|                         |                                 |                                      |   |                            |  |  |  |  |  |
|                         |                                 |                                      |   |                            |  |  |  |  |  |
|                         | Workforce Diversity Plan        |                                      |   |                            |  |  |  |  |  |
|                         |                                 |                                      |   |                            |  |  |  |  |  |
|                         |                                 |                                      |   |                            |  |  |  |  |  |
|                         |                                 |                                      |   |                            |  |  |  |  |  |
|                         |                                 |                                      |   |                            |  |  |  |  |  |
| Other Initiatives       |                                 |                                      |   |                            |  |  |  |  |  |
|                         |                                 |                                      |   |                            |  |  |  |  |  |
|                         |                                 |                                      |   |                            |  |  |  |  |  |

## Appendix C – List of Workforce & Supply Chain Initiatives

| Column A: Initiative | Column B:<br>Amount (\$) | Column C:<br>Timeline<br>of Funding |
|----------------------|--------------------------|-------------------------------------|
|                      |                          |                                     |
|                      |                          |                                     |
|                      |                          |                                     |
|                      |                          |                                     |
|                      |                          |                                     |
|                      |                          |                                     |

## Appendix D – Wildlife and Habitat Assistance Initiatives

| Column A: Initiative | Column B: Recipient / Partner Organization | Column C:<br>Amount (\$) | Column D:<br>Timeline<br>of |
|----------------------|--|--------------------------|-----------------------------|
|                      |  |                          | Funding                     |
|                      |  |                          |                             |
|                      |  |                          |                             |
|                      |  |                          |                             |
|                      |  |                          |                             |
|                      |  |                          |                             |
|                      |  |                          |                             |
|                      |  |                          |                             |
|                      |  |                          |                             |
|                      |  |                          |                             |
|                      |  |                          |                             |
|                      |  |                          |                             |
|                      |  |                          |                             |